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Company at a Glance
NG SR

AAG Energy, the Leading
Independent CBM Producer in China

DXREER PEIRERITRNELSE

Vision
To be the world’s leading, most enduring clean energy company for today
and tomorrow.

Mission
To create best value for society, optimized platform for employees and
highest return for shareholders.

About AAG Energy Holdings
Limited

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG Energy” or “the Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a leading international energy
company in the field of Coal Bed Methane (“CBM”) exploration and
production in China. It is committed to developing and optimizing the value
of unconventional gas resources to supply clean energy to support the
economic development in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). AAG
Energy’s key operating assets, Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, are
located in the southwestern part of Qinshui Basin in Shanxi Province,
boasting the largest proved CBM geological reserves among basins in the
PRC. AAG Energy’s Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with
China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (‘CUCBM”), is the first
Sino-foreign CBM cooperative project with full-scale commercial
development and production and also the most commercially advanced
Sino-foreign CBM asset in the PRC. The Overall Development Plan for the
southern area in Mabi concession, which is in partnership with China
National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”), was approved by the National
Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) of the PRC in September
2018. The designed annual production capacity for commercial
development is 1 billion cubic meters. Leveraging its successful experience
in the commercialization of CBM and high-calibre management team, with
the progress made in the commercialization of southern area in Mabi
concession, the Company will continue to produce and supply more clean
energy to the society and create higher return for investors.
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2020 Performance Highlights of AAG Energy
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Safety is always our top priority
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Ze o injury and No Lost Time Injury for 6 years and 1 1 8 days

Oszas. 24022118 xmmxresy

We always focus on increasing production capacity andmi
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Gross Production
BES

11.06%* 4

2019 [ oot
2020 AN 1034

Unit: MMCM
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Total Number of Wells Drilled
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23.02% %
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Unit: Wells
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Gross Sales
BIHE

10.06% 1
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Unit: MMCM
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Total Number of Wells Fracked
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310.34% 4

2019 [0 29
2020 NN 19

Unit: Wells
i A

Due to the difference in unit of expression and decimal places reserved of data, there may be slight deviation in the
percentage of increase or decrease; the percentage of increase or decrease is based on the calculation of the minimum
units of expression and decimal places reserved available in the report.
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Chairman’s Statement
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To create best value for society,
optimized platform for employees
and highest return for shareholders.
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Mr. Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “"Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of
AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG Energy” or the “"Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the "Group”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

OVERVIEW

2020 is a year full of challenges for AAG Energy. Novel Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (the "COVID-19 Pandemic”) that is still wreaking havoc
across the globe has contributed to a general economic downturn,
once a standstill in economic activities at home and the enormous
headwind against the Group's production operations. Further, the
performance of the natural gas market was not as good as expected
due to the impact of multiple events such as the sharp drop in
international oil prices for the first quarter and the early
implementation of the off-season pricing mechanism for natural gas
under the domestic regulation policy. Under the strong leadership of
the Board, the Group managed to overcome the difficulties, exercised
scientific prevention and control, actively addressed the “Black Swan”
incident and implemented the “three kinds of stimulation” production
strategy of “production stimulation, sales stimulation and efficiency
stimulation”, ensuring uninterrupted production operations throughout
the year and achieving a steady increase in overall production capacity.
Financial performance of the Group in 2020 was as follows:
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

OVERVIEW (Continued)

Gross production in 2020 increased by 11.06% to 1,034 million cubic
meters ("MMCM") (or 36.6 billion cubic feet ("bef”)) as compared to
that of 2019, and sales utilization rate remained relatively high. The
annual production-to-sales ratio of Panzhuang concession was 97.52%,
while that of Mabi concession was 91.49%. The Group's revenue and
other income for the year (including government subsidies and VAT
refunds) was RMB1.279 billion, a decrease compared to the same
period last year, mainly due to the severe setback in the market price
of natural gas under the impact of the pandemic, with a realized
average selling price (“ASP") in Panzhuang concession of RMB1.42 per
cubic meter in 2020, lower than that of RMB1.69 per cubic meter in
2019, the realized ASP in Mabi concession for 2020 decrease by 0.72%
to RMB1.38 per cubic meter compared to that of RMB1.39 per cubic
meter for 2019. The Group effectively reduced costs of production and
management through organizational reform and upgrade, continuous
scientific innovation and strict cost control measures. It realized
operating profit of RMB724 million, profit for the year of RMB510
million, EBITDA of RMB995 million and earnings per share of RMBO.15.

Through the year’s complex and volatile market environment and the
enormous pressure brought by the pandemic, the Group has strictly
followed the strategic development policy of its controlling shareholder,
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (¥Ti@& R XA RKMND BR A7)
("XTRQ"), (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock
Code: 603393), i.e. "full industry chain of natural gas energy”, "high-
tech”, "internationalization” and “financialization” as Four
Transformations. In 2020, the Group made relentless efforts to realize
the “Four Transformations”: strengthening investment in the upstream,
finding access in the midstream, and expanding markets in the
downstream. Against the backdrop of the establishment of Natural
Petroleum and Natural Gas Pipeline Network Group Co., Ltd. (the
"PipeChina”), the Group strived to seize the opportunities arising from
industry changes, explored valuable assets deep in the industry chain,
identified specific partners, and gradually built a small ecosystem
covering the entire industry chain under the guidance of an integrated
investment and management strategy encompassing upstream,
midstream and downstream natural gas operations. At the same time,
on the basis of strengthening the existing business in the concessions,
the Group continued to seek breakthroughs in technological
innovation, and intended to effect industry extension, planned and
deployed deep coal and CBM thermal mining projects, and actively
explored the synergistic development of natural gas, hydrogen energy
and carbon dioxide sealing and utilization by leveraging on its
advantages in the CBM exploration and development industry, laying
the foundation for AAG Energy to become a developer of multi-gas
resources.
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Chairman’s Statement
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MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW FOR 2020

— Health, Safety and Environment ("HSE"): Target Zero on
HSE Performance Indicators

AAG Energy placed great value on HSE and makes efforts on assuming
its social responsibilities, further perfecting a standardized
management system for safe production, persistently strengthening
the HSE awareness of its employees and enhancing HSE performance.
In 2020, AAG Energy has maintained zero for lost time injury rate
(“LTIR") and total recordable incident rate (“TRIR") in respect of its
safety and environmental protection performance.

— Panzhuang Concession: Efficient Operation and Activation
of Capacity in Thin Coal Seams

Through scientific and effective cost control management and
upgrading of the entire production process, Panzhuang concession
continued to operate efficiently, with gross production from Panzhuang
concession reaching 967 MMCM (34.2 bcf) in 2020, exceeding the
original target of 945 MMCM (33.4 bcf) and increasing by 12.57%
compared to that of 2019. 90 wells were drilled in 2020, a record high
in terms of total number of wells drilled. The successful drilling of a SLH
test well in the 9# coal seam for the first time of the Panzhuang
concession provided favorable technical support and development
basis for activating the potential capacity of thin coal seams.

— Mabi Concession: Accurate Identification of Sweet Spot,
and Consolidation of Main Development Technology

Mabi concession has reinforced the main development technology and
optimized the Overall Development Plan (“ODP") of the CBM Foreign
Cooperation Project in the Southern Area of Mabi concession. The
exploration and development practice has proved that the Mabi sweet
spot was accurately identified, the engineering process was highly
adaptable, the technical targets were well accomplished and the
production results met expectations. The new wells drilled in 2020 will
make good contribution to production in 2021.
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Chairman’s Statement
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MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW FOR 2020 (Continued)

— Corporate Management: Combating the Pandemic,
Reinforcing Foundation, Seeking High Quality Sustainable
Development

The outbreak of COVID-19 since the beginning of the year posed a
continuous impact on the domestic economy and the natural gas
market. Through the most stringent pandemic prevention and control
measures, the Group achieved the “three zeros” goal of “zero
confirmed, zero suspected and zero infections”, effectively enhancing
its capabilities to address and control major public health emergencies
and fundamentally ensuring the Group's production and operation.

In the first half of 2020, the Group strived to accomplish the deepening
reform of the organization, simplifying the hierarchy and further
emphasizing the management concept of functional departments
under the headquarters serving the project department. The Group
integrated the technical department with the project department,
gathered professional technical strengths, and continuously pursued
innovation in technology and equipment. There were a total of 27
micro-innovations completed throughout the year. The whole process
operation reached its optimal level in history, investments in the
existing business achieved high efficiency and the gas cost per cubic
meter in mature concessions was reduced to a historic low. On the
other hand, the Group took proactive measures in response to the
severe market environment by integrating the advantageous resources
of AAG Energy and XTRQ, making early deployment of investment in
the integrated operation from Shanxi to Henan, stepping up the
construction of strong transmission and distribution capacity of CBM,
continuously optimizing and improving the customer structure in the
downstream market, so as to accumulate positive elements for further
enhancement of the products’ bargaining power, and gradually
transform itself into a primary gas resources provider from a secondary
one.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW FOR 2020 (Continued)

— Corporate Management: Combating the Pandemic,
Reinforcing Foundation, Seeking Quality Sustainable
Development (Continued)

Based on the outcome of the “2019-2021 Three-Year Strategic
Development Plan”, the Group had taken advantage of the combined
effects of the upgrading of an advanced standardized internal control
system and the construction of a merit-based performance
management system to accomplish the “2020-2024 Five-Year Strategic
Development Plan”, establish the strategic goal of transforming and
upgrading AAG Energy as a new resource developer and decide the
direction for the Company’s sustainable development. In terms of
corporate governance, the Board has also established an
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") working group ("ESG
Working Group”) ,

independent non-executive director serving as the head of the

which consists of five members, including an

Working Group, an executive Director, a member of the senior
management, the head of the Department of HSE and a staff member
from the Risk Control and Compliance Department, to review the
Company's corporate governance. Internally, the Group has put
together an ESG Execution Team responsible for such functions as
execution and administration, data analysis and management,
community relations and report review, for the purpose of ensuring the
fulfillment of environment-friendly practice and social responsibility
through a well-regulated and high standard corporate governance
practice, and promoting the speed and quality of the Group’s
sustainable development.

PROPOSED DIVIDEND

The Board recommended a final dividend of RMBO0.1031 per share
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.1228 per share) for the year ended
31 December 2020 subject to the approval by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM").
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Chairman’s Statement
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Although the impact of COVID-19 Pandemic still remains, the approach
of measures taken by the Chinese authorities has been shifted from
extremely stringent control to precise control, and the macro economy
is expected to recover gradually in 2021. As China’s carbon neutrality
target has been further specified, and both the demand for “a shift
from coal to gas” in urban industrial zones and “guaranteed supply of
gas in winter” for civilian use keep rising, there is huge potential in the
consumer market of natural gas. AAG Energy will ensure the normal
production and operation of the Group by continuing the most
stringent preventive and control measures, further strengthen the
foundation of the existing business, invest in an efficient manner and
maintain effective cost control. We will materialize breakthroughs in
overall capacity by promoting a full-scale commercialization in the
Southern Area of Mabi concession and stepping up investments. We
will also continue to promote the development of a full industry chain,
lengthen the industry chain, seize market opportunities and further
explore advantages in the industry based on our own advantages of
CBM resources, insist on making innovations and breakthroughs on a
scientific foundation and achieving competitive technology in the field
of deep CBM thermal mining and multi-gas co-production.

Looking ahead, based on the Group's "2020-2024 Five-Year Strategic
Development Plan”, AAG Energy will construct and build a full industry
chain, gradually transform itself into a new type of resource developer,
continuously improve its position in the industry and competitiveness
in the international markets, promote the healthy and sustainable
development of its energy business, provide green protection for the
economic development of the nation, and strive to create the best
value for society, the best platform for employees and the greatest
benefits for shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Company, | would like to express my heartfelt
thanks to the shareholders and investors for their years of trust and
support. | would also like to express my sincere gratitude to all the
employees. The Company will continue to make unremitting efforts in
ensuring stable development for bringing a better return to the
shareholders.

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman of the Board
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2020, we experienced dramatic changes in the external environment
and market challenges.

Firstly, the outbreak of COVID-19 Pandemic since early 2020 has
spread rapidly around the world. As of 31 December 2020, the
COVID-19 Pandemic has taken a toll of over 80 million confirmed cases
and over 1.7 million lives around the globe, and continues to hit the
global economy and financial system. In its World Economic Outlook
released in January 2021, the International Monetary Fund (the “IMF")
estimated that the global economy might shrink by 3.5% in 2020.
International energy prices plummeted in the first four months of 2020
as a result of COVID-19 Pandemic. Towards the end of 2020, price of
U.S. light crude oil rebounded to the level of US$50 but has not yet
recovered to the level seen at the beginning of the year.

Secondly, in China, the outbreak of COVID-19 Pandemic and the
corresponding preventive and control measures caused greater impact
on the nation’s economy. In particular, all economic activities have
come to a standstill in the first quarter of the year. While the market
demand for natural gas was shrinking, domestic production and
imports of natural gas still maintained a relatively rapid growth.
Upstream enterprises were compelled to dump their products at lower
prices amid the oversupply of natural gas in the market during the first
half of the year. On 22 February 2020, the NDRC issued a policy
requiring earlier implementation of the off-season pricing mechanism
by non-residential gas gateway stations. The combined effects of these
negative factors have resulted in a significant decrease in the selling
price of natural gas throughout the year compared to that of 2019,
presenting significant challenges and impact on the production, sales
and investment plan of our CBM operations.

As estimated, in 2020, the Group’s production was cut in phases by
approximately 50 MMCM in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. The
impact of reduced production on revenue (including government
subsidies and VAT refunds) is estimated to be approximately RMB&0
million. The Group's realized ASP in 2020 was not as high as expected
due to the impact of COVID-19 Pandemic and the sluggish demand for
natural gas in the domestic market. The impact on revenue (including
VAT refunds) is expected to be approximately RMB&0 million, and the
impact on profit from operations is expected to drop by approximately
RMB90 million to RMB110 million, taking into account the expected
increase in operating expenses and depreciation and other operating
costs associated with the reduction in gas production.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In terms of production, braving the aforementioned drastic changes in
the environment and market challenges, the Group managed to
achieve a gross production of 1,034 MMCM (or 36.6 bcf), of which 967
MMCM (or 34.2 bcf) from Panzhuang concession and 67 MMCM (or 2.4
bcf) from Mabi concession, representing an 11.06% growth in 2020 by
high-quality investment control, refined market research and a balance
between production and sales, as well as continuous technological
innovation.

In terms of investment in drilling and fracturing activities, in order to
ensure the Group’s quality and rapid development in the future,
notwithstanding the delay in commencement of the Group’s drilling
and fracturing activities for 1 to 2 months later than as originally
intended due to the prevention and control of COVID-19 Pandemic in
early 2020, the Group's investment in drilling and fracturing activities in
2020 still increased by 23.02% and 310.34% to 155 wells and 119 wells
respectively compared to that of 2019 through the Group's excellent
management and meticulous organization. While stepping up
investment efforts, the Company continued to optimize cost control
and outperformed the industry average. Compared with the budgeted
capital expenditure of RMB714 million for the full year, the actual
capital expenditure this year was RMB526 million. The average drilling
cost of a single lateral horizontal well (“SLH") in 15# coal seam of
Panzhuang concession was RMB2.85 million, representing a decrease
of 3.72% from RMB2.96 million in 2019, while the average drilling cost
of a pad drilling well (“PDW") in Panzhuang concession was RMB0.87
million, representing a decrease of 3.33% from RMBO0.9 million in 2019.
We are committed to lowering costs in order to enhance profitability.

In terms of sales price, the realized ASP of the Group in 2020 was
RMB1.42 per cubic meter, of which the realized ASP of Panzhuang
concession was RMB1.42 per cubic meter (a decrease of 15.98% from
RMB1.69 per cubic meter in 2019) and the realized ASP of Mabi
concession was RMB1.38 per cubic meter (a decrease of 0.72% from
RMB1.39 per cubic meter in 2019).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) EKERE @

Mainly due to the impact of CBM sales prices, as compared to 2019, FEREEREEBRTE  KAEE20204F
the Group's revenue and other income (including government U A K £ b Uz A (82 45 BT 5 B 012 (E 7 iR
subsidies and VAT refunds) in 2020 decreased by 15.20% to RMB1.279 ) #HtL 20194 N8 T 15.20% & AR #12.79
billion, profit from operations decreased by 19.77% to RMB724 million, {&7T @ L& FBE T T19.77% 2 ARET7.24
profit for the year decreased by 27.86% to RMB510 million and EBITDA  {&7T » FEFE & 7 27.86% E AR ¥5.10
decreased by 15.30% to RMB995 million and earnings per share  {&7¢ ' EBITDA & 7 15.30% = AR ¥ 9.951%

decreased by 28.23% to RMBO.15. T BRI E T T 28.23% E ARKE0.157T ©
Key financial indicators for the last 5 years are as follows: SO0 T F MR ERSIRNT -

Current assets TmENEE 2,871,068 2,260,490 2,537,341 2,699,512
Non-current assets IEREEE 3,877,092 3,746,617 3,595,348 3,238,962
Total assets BEE 6,748,160 6,007,107 6,132,689 5,938,474
Current liabilities nBEaE 462,958 306,191 422,062 443,775
Non-current liabilities EMEBIAE 441,560 324,063 760,282 657,765
Total liabilities waE 904,518 630,254 1,182,344 1,101,540
Revenue WA 1,161,246 978,671 541,598 411,278
Other income E A 346,805 279,169 193,913 149,276
Profit before income tax KR PT1E %4 i1 FI ) 940,765 596,260 310,941 178,980
Profit for the year FEAE 707,368 412,937 183,198 106,635
Net cash generated from & &/EB TSRS /FEE

operating activities 948,210 404,933 438,301 257,418
Net cash used in KEEBFAREFE

investing activities (272,421) (419,593) (455,556) (337,742)
Net cash (used in)/ mMEES (FTA),/

generated from financing  FT{SIR& /558

activities (263,492)  (635,140) 26,392 12,874

We have achieved significant progress towards certain principal ARBMEMBARKEENMEERNEE (E
operational objectives for the two key assets operated by the ~FREIRA R A A ([SAELL) & & /& it 12 12 &
Company'’s two subsidiaries, namely Panzhuang concession operated ~ GE X ABERER AR R ([AAGI) B EHF
by Sino-American Energy, Inc. (“SAEI”) and Mabi concession operated @) VA TEAKLE B IRIUSEZLER -
by Asian American Gas, Inc. ("AAGI").
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) EKERE @
Panzhuang Concession BHER

Our Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with CUCBM,  F P IEESIERERERBDASTE RS
continued to be the CBM project with the highest output in China, and EMEERIEE @ FHEXRERERFITE - BIXR
was listed as China’s key CBM project in production under the “13th 2N E R HHEBR(ER R AT ) FHA2F A
Five-Year Plan” for the development and utilization of CBM (coal mine [+ =FA|#HEF %I ABEREEEBERE
gas) prepared by the National Energy Administration (the “NEA”) and  2ZHIEE -

issued by the NDRC of the PRC.

—  Production Update —

In 2020, the gross production of Panzhuang concession reached
967 MMCM (34.2 bcf), which was 2.35% higher than the original
target of 945 MMCM (33.4 bcf), with a 12.57% year—on-year
("YoY") increase compared to that of 859 MMCM (30.3 bcf) in
2019. The average daily gas production was 2.64 MMCM,
representing an increase of 12.34% compared to that of 2.35
MMCM in 2019. By the end of 2020, there were a total of 424
wells in production, including 120 PDWs, 49 multi-lateral drilling
wells ("MLD") and 255 SLHs in Panzhuang concession. There were
119 new wells commencing operation in 2020, representing a
91.94% growth over 62 new wells commencing operation in 2019.
Further details on production and well count are set out below in
Table 1.

—  Dirilling and Surface Facilities Update —

In 2020, a total of 90 wells were drilled (including 65 SLHs and 25
PDWs) in Panzhuang concession, average drilling time for each SLH
was just 15.18 days. At the beginning of the year, due to the
preventive and control measures combating the COVID-19
Pandemic, the drilling work in Panzhuang concession took place 1
to 2 months later than planned. By rationalizing the drilling rigs and
strengthening the construction progress management, we
achieved not only the annual investment target for 88 wells, but
also outfulfilled the annual drilling task. With the addition of more
new wells and the improvement of operational efficiency, a solid
foundation has been laid for the increase of production in 2020
and the years to come.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) ES - E]-EE))

Panzhuang Concession (Continued) ﬁ;&'Eiﬁ(i‘”
—  Drilling and Surface Facilities Update (Continued) EHRGERBER (&)

A test well for SLH drilling in the 9# coal seam was successfully
implemented for the first time in Panzhuang concession. As an
innovative test well for the exploration and development of thin
coal seams, the analysis and study of applicable well types and
drilling and completion methods provided favorable technical
support and development basis for activating the production
potential of thin coal seams in Panzhuang concession, while new
fracturing process was successfully applied in the fracturing of the
PDWs in Panzhuang concession, which improved the fracturing
effect and reduced the probability of pump inspection during the
drainage process.

Currently, the surface facilities of our Panzhuang concession
include 6 gas gathering stations, 32 wellhead compressors, 66 km
of trunk lines and 116 km of single well pipelines. The central gas
gathering station has a secondary processing capacity of 1.20
MMCM per day, and compressors at remaining stations and
wellheads have a processing capacity of 4.30 MMCM per day. A
double circuited 35 kilovolt power line has been constructed and
commenced operation, satisfying the electricity demand of
Panzhuang concession and favourably securing the increase in
our production and sales.

BHEBRAEREALKNERT —O
OHPLE SLHE AR - ERERE /)
REZNAFEERT DT ER
MHWRETIH TN REFREREUE
SBIREERBNRM T AN FF
KRB KR - &R SR PDW RSB
RAKDHEETHOERTE  £RG

BRER R R XK T R AEER A
R -

Bl BHEBHERIEBEEESR
U 22 HOERGEE - 66 T REHE IR
MUM6TREHELR - FRERM X
MEEREEHABI20ELHK /X &
BB R HOBRGERERRE N A4308
SRS K —EFEEERNISTIRES
SBROCERTRINE  me 7 &H
BRMEEE R ARSEFHERNE
ERE@icse ) IRAESME=RMET
B FNREE -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Mabi Concession

Our Mabi concession, which is in partnership with CNPC, was listed as
China’s key CBM project under construction under the “13th Five-Year
Plan” for the development and utilization of CBM (coal mine gas)
prepared by the NEA and issued by the NDRC, and was also one of the
key CBM construction projects in Shanxi Province in 2020.

—  Production Update
In 2020, the gross production of Mabi concession was 67 MMCM
(2.4 bcf) with an average daily gas production of 0.1827 MMCM.
By the end of 2020, there were a total of 220 wells in production,
including 194 PDWs, 1 MLD and 25 SLHs in Mabi concession.
Further details on production and well count are set out below in
Table 1.

In 2020, a total of 65 wells were drilled (including 31 SLHs and 34
PDWs) in Mabi concession, making it a year boasting the largest
drilling investment in the Mabi concession'’s history. Due to the
introduction of the advanced two-section well type and near-
bore directional technology to SLHs, the average drilling time
was only 14 days, a decrease of 30% compared with the 20 days
in 2019.

In 2020, a total of 81 wells were fractured in Mabi concession. The
introduction of fracturing technology of common tubing with
bottom seal dragging greatly reduced the fracturing cost.

We adopted a continuous, stable and reasonable concept and
guantified intelligent drainage technology in high coal rank and
low permeability coal reservoirs so as to achieve long-term,
stable and high production per CBM well.

Due to the lower permeability of the coal seams in Mabi
concession, newly drilled CBM wells must be fractured in order to
effectively increase production per well. Therefore, all newly
drilled CBM wells on the same well site must be fractured before
being put into production. As a result, commencement of
operation for new wells in Mabi concession is generally 3 to 6
months later than those in Panzhuang concession, and the 65
wells completed in 2020 will not commence production until
2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Mabi Concession (Continued)

Implementation Progress of the ODP of Southern Area of
Mabi Concession

In light of the dramatic changes in the external environment and
uncertainties in 2020, many oil and gas companies significantly
downsized their annual investment expansion plans and strived
to reduce expenses one way or the other. Nevertheless, there
were oil and gas companies around the world declaring
bankruptcy under the adverse environment of persistently low
energy prices and sluggish demand in the global market.

In spite of the various negative external factors, the Group clearly
defined the key areas for the development of Mabi concession in
the next five years through continuous improvement of the
resource evaluation method, engineering and technology
innovation in 2018 and 2019, and will follow the principle of step-
by-step implementation and rolling development to push forward
the development of Mabi concession through strong
organizational leadership, high quality investment control and
high standard quality requirements. In 2020, the drilling of 63
wells and fracturing of 73 wells were completed in the southern
area of Mabi concession.

In 2020, we also initiated the construction of the No. 2 gas
gathering station, outbound transmission pipeline, 35 kilovolt
electricity and other major surface facilities to lay a solid
foundation for increasing the volume of natural gas output and
improving the production and sales ratio.

In 2020, Mabi concession has established the main drilling
technology with SLHs as the primary and PDWs as the secondary,
the low-cost and high-efficiency fracturing technology with
common tubing and bottom seal, and the quantitative and
intelligent pumping technology. During the implementation
course of Mabi concession, we have continuously innovated and
improved the subject technology and optimized the ODP, and
will deepen our understanding, continue to optimize the
technologies and promote efficiency in the subsequent project
development process.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) *ﬁ@ﬁ(%)
Mabi Concession (Continued) BEMXER (&)
Table 1 — Operation Update* of Panzhuang (“PZ") and Mabi "1 —BHER(BHEDANELER(EHL])
("MB") Concessions HEZER*
Gross production (MMCM) RES (BB HK) 931.09 11.06%
Total average daily production RITHBPES
(MMCMD) (BB KREX) 2.55 10.98%
Gross production of PZ (MMCM) & #E= (& 5 K) 859.17 12.57%
PZ MLD & MLD 205.46 -23.61%
PZ SLH A SLH 559.88 24.64%
PZ PDW & PDW 93.83 19.82%
Total producing wells of PZ** B R EH 305 39.02%
PZ MLD & HEMLD 49 0.00%
PZ SLH &I SLH 175 45.71%
PZ PDW & PDW 81 48.15%
PZ wells drilled B FEHE H TR 99 -9.09%
PZ wells fracked R RIS E R PR B 16 137.50%
Gross production of MB (MMCM) B4 ES (BB HK) 71.92 -7.04%
MB MLD B MLD 0.07 142.86%
MB SLH B SLH 17.93 -2.96%
MB PDW B PDW 53.92 -8.59%
Total producing wells of Mabi** 55 A48 4 = H 8+ 183 20.22%
MB MLD BYMLD 1 0.00%
MB SLH B SLH 10 150.00%
MB PDW B PDW 172 12.79%
MB wells drilled BB TE 27 140.74%
MB wells fracked 5 WA ER 338 B 45 e 20 13 523.08%
Notes: B3
* Operations update as of 31 December 2020, 08:00 CST. * BEEERIBNEE2020F12A31H 1L 08: 00
RIZAERFR o
*x Well count is calculated from pumping start date. *x FERET BB 2 BEFTHE -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Reserve Upgrade

Based on reports issued by Netherland Sewell & Associates Inc.
(“NSAI"), an independent reserve certification company, the Group's
1P and 2P natural gas reserves as at the end of 2020 (“2020YE") were
179.9 bcf and 640.6 bcef respectively, representing a 9% decrease from
the 1P reserve of 197.7 bcf as at the end of 2019 (“2019YE") and a 2%
decrease from the 2P reserve of 654.6 bcf as at 2019YE. After deducting
net gas production of 27.8 bcf for 2020, the 1P and 2P reserves
increased by 6% and 2% respectively.

The 1P reserve and 2P reserve of Panzhuang concession were 150.2 bcf
and 179.4 bcf as at 2020YE, representing a decrease of 6% and 9%
respectively from the 1P reserve of 160.3 bcf and the 2P reserve of 196.3
bcf as at 2019YE. After deducting net gas production of 26.3 bcf for
2020, 1P and 2P reserves increased by 12% and 6% respectively. Both
the 1P and 2P reserves increased significantly after deducting net gas
production for 2020 due to the good performance of existing wells and
the improved efficiency of drilling program in 2020. The increased 1P
and 2P reserves will keep contributing to the production of Panzhuang
concession in the future.

The 1P reserve and 2P reserve of Mabi concession were 29.7 bcf and
461.2 bef as at 2020YE, representing a decrease of 21% and an increase
of 1% respectively from the 1P reserve of 37.4 bcf and the 2P reserve of
458.3 bcf as at 2019YE. After deducting net gas production of 1.5 bcf
for 2020, the 1P reserve decreased by 17% and the 2P reserve
increased by 1%. Since there was a delay in commencement of
operation and, in turn, capacity contribution from new wells in Mabi
concession in 2020 due to COVID-19 Pandemic, the 1P reserve
therefore decreased. However, due to the technical innovation
implemented by the Group, the production decline in old wells was
significantly suppressed and meanwhile, the long-range plan (“LRP")
was optimized to increase the estimated 2P reserves.

EKEIRE )

BEHR

1R 4% 78 3 7 2 72 7% A 7] Netherland Sewell &
Associates Inc. ([NSAI]) #Hm R & - H =
2020F K - ANEER IPFI2P XARMHEED
HWB1799ME HERM6406 B FHRR + &
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9% E2019F K H) 2P = 6,546 183/ R
FEIE T 2% » f1BR 2020 F FE R 227818 7
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SE R IR 2020 FEHY 1P A1 2P 6 E 5 Bl A& 1,502
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B 1PHE 21,6038 3 77 H R FE K T6% 8
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9% ° KR 2020 F FER B 263BL FHRIE
IPRHEERET12%  PREELRE T 6% HR
2020 F M B HMRFRRMEHBEHIRS -
1P 2P R E R 2020 ) F E B 12 # A K IR1E
o EINEIP . 2PREENMSEERETELR
EESMER -

BRI 2020 F K A 1P FI2P 6 & 9 Bl 4 297
BYFERIMA612ENFER  K2019F K
B IPREE 374 B A R R T 21% » 82019
FRA2PHEA583EBEYL THRRERE T 1%
HIBR 2020 FEREI15ET T ERE - 1P
EERET17% 2PHEERET1% - ANEH
FEEBREE WIE 2020 F 0 H H IR E #
B SEMHAERERMEE  REIPRET
(% BARSEEENEMAFEEFHESRR
EPABEFINIE - AEELET KRR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Reserve Upgrade (Continued)
Table 2 — Reserve Data**

Total

Proved (1P)

Proved + probable (2P)

Proved + probable + possible (3P)

Panzhuang concession

Proved (1P)

Proved + probable (2P)

Proved + probable + possible (3P)

Mabi concession
Proved (1P)

£(1P)
+ﬁ i [# 2 (2P)

§ o mf 2
=i

[ =

s

BHER

EFERE(IP)
FE+HMERECP
FE+HE + e

BUER
ng EJ:%E“ P)

E+E + WJREREE (3P)

f%E (3P)

Proved + probable (2P)
Proved + probable + possible (3P)

HJ-L,\ *E}% 1‘—%2 (ZP)
FE+HE + = (3P)

Notes:

*

*k

20

Net gas reserves are the Company’s share of the gas reserves according to the
terms of each production sharing contract and after adjustment for fuel and
shrinkage.

Our reserve estimates and the future net revenue have been prepared by NSAI in
accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and evaluation
principles set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil
and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.
NSAI applied standard engineering and geosciences methods or a combination of
both methods, including performance analysis, volumetric analysis, and analogy,
which are considered to be appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and
estimate reserves, according to the definitions and guidelines of the 2018 PRMS (the
Petroleum Resources Management System published by the Society of Petroleum
Engineers (the "SPE"), the World Petroleum Council (the “"WPC"), the American
Association of Petroleum Geologists (the “AAPG"), the Society of Petroleum
Evaluation Engineers (the “SPEE"), the Society of Exploration Geophysicists (the
"SEG"), the Society of Petrophysicists and Well Log Analysts (the “SPWLA") and the
European Association of Geoscientists and Engineers (the "EAGE") in June 2018).
Our reserve is an estimate only and should not be construed as exact quantities.
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EREEE ()
HEARE)
F2— BERE

*k

179.9 197.7
640.6 654.6
860.4 952.5
150.2 160.3
179.4 196.3
2247 2277

29.7 37.4
461.2 458.3
635.7 724.8
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MARKET OPERATION REVIEW

In light of the drastic changes in the external environment and market
challenges, the Group maintained close communication with its
partners, adjusted sales prices under a flexible sales strategy, uploaded
gas onto the PipeChina throughout the year without interruption,
continued to identify new customers, effectively secured gas sales and
achieved record high ratio in production and sales. However, negative
factors such as the market contraction as a result of the pandemic, the
impact of early implementation of off-season pricing mechanism and
the dumping sales by the peers in the industry at low prices prompted
a fall in the Group's realized ASP in 2020 compared to the same period
last year. Specific performance is set out as follows:

The annual gross sales volume of Panzhuang concession reached 943
MMCM (33.3 bcf) in 2020, representing a YoY increase of 11.82%,
including 312 MMCM (11.0 bcf) from LNG customers, 623 MMCM (22.0
bcf) from pipeline gas customers and 8 MMCM (0.3 bcf) from CNG
customers. The annual realized ASP of Panzhuang concession was
RMB1.42 per cubic meter, representing a YoY decrease of 15.98%. The
annual production-to-sale ratio of Panzhuang concession was 97.52%.

The annual gross sales volume of Mabi concession reached 61 MMCM
(2.2 bef) in 2020, representing a YoY decrease of 11.45%, including 57
MMCM (2.0 bcf) from pipeline gas customers and 4 MMCM (0.2 bcf)
from CNG customers. The annual realized ASP of Mabi concession was
RMB1.38 per cubic meter, representing a slight decrease over 2019.
The annual production-to-sale ratio of Mabi concession was 91.49%.

Three new downstream customers were added during the year.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

1.

22

Outstanding Management of Health, Safety and
Environment (“HSE")

AAG Energy placed great value on HSE and made efforts on
assuming its social responsibilities. In 2020, AAG Energy
maintained zero on LTIR and TRIR in respect of its safety and
environmental protection performance. As of 31 December 2020,
the excellent safety performance record of zero lost time injury of
AAG Energy has accumulated 6 years and 118 days. AAG Energy
disclosed the ESG report as scheduled in June 2020. The report
showed the Company’s outstanding performance in terms of
environmental protection and community relations, and also
provided a strong guarantee for AAG Energy’s sustainability.

Adopting Stringent Pandemic Prevention and Control
Measures and Enhancing the Capabilities to Address
and Control Major Public Health Emergencies

Through strict closed prevention and control in the early stage
and differentiated prevention and control after returning to work,
the Company strictly complied with the prevention and control
requirements laid down by the local governments and the
relevant administrative departments in the areas where its
operations are located, made full use of various platforms of the
Company to vigorously promote the knowledge of pandemic
prevention and took effective measures to achieve the “three
zeros” goal of “zero confirmed, zero suspected and zero
infected” in the pandemic prevention and control without the
occurrence of any safety production accident or the pandemic
going out of control. The Company has accumulated valuable
experience in emergency management, information support,
production adjustment, external liaison and protection services,
and further enhanced its capability to address and control major
public health emergencies.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

3.

Focus on Promotion and Application of Technological
Innovation

Based on a number of technological innovations in 2019, we
focused on promoting the application of new technologies in
2020 and achieved good economic benefits.

The scientific research on geotectonic evolution and lithosphere
characteristics of the Earth has provided theoretical guidance for
the technological innovation aspects of efficient and cost-
effective development of CBM. In the area of geological reservoir
research, we have established a multi-parameter production
prediction model and an evaluation preference system, and
processed and calculated a large amount of data on geological
characteristics, reservoir description, engineering technologies
and production dynamics, providing important theoretical and
practical guidance for the selection of favorable zones and the
deployment of development wells. In terms of drilling, we further
improved and promoted the drilling technology for horizontal
wells with two-section structures, which not only saved drilling
time and cost, but also provided a favorable well structure for
reservoir transformation and CBM production. In terms of
fracturing, multi-stage fracturing technology with common tubing
and bottom seal dragging was adopted, which has not only
further improved the effect of reservoir transformation, but also
significantly reduced operating costs. In the area of drainage, we
have improved the dynamic discrimination model and established
a "one-well-one-policy” differential drainage system, resulting in
more refined and efficient drainage control; extended the
pumping inspection cycle with non-stop well washing and tubing
column optimization technologies; and upgraded the drainage
automation monitoring system. In terms of production
enhancement technology, we have tested a new process of
backwashing wells and successfully solved the problem of
borehole clogging. A number of new drainage technologies
designed for special geological conditions or special well types
and conditions of wells have produced significant results in
production enhancement.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

3.

24

Focus on Promotion and Application of Technological
Innovation (Continued)

Meanwhile, the Group is actively conducting the underground
coal-to-gas (CBM thermal mining) related work and identifying
opportunity for pilot work on site to study deep coal seam
gasification (CBM thermal mining) technology.

Sustainable Development

AAG Energy always adheres to the core value of its sustainable
development by perfecting the management system for
sustainable development. In 2020, AAG Energy established an
ESG Working Group under the Board responsible for such
functions as execution and administration, data analysis and
management, community relations and report reviewing.
Through optimization of ESG management, support for and
procurement of active participation from the stakeholders, an
environment for sustainable development featuring safe
production, co-creation of green environment, win-win
cooperation with partners, common growth with employees and
good interaction with the community was gradually created over
time, and the management foundation for ESG reporting was
strengthened.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

— Panzhuang
— Mabi

Subsidy income
— Panzhuang
— Mabi

VAT refund
— Panzhuang
— Mabi

Other gains, net

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets

Others

Panzhuang
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets
Others

Mabi
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics

Others

Headquarters
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Others
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1,161,246
1,064,012
97,234

219,430
204,181
15,249

127,375
118,004
9,371

822

(606,965)
(272,867)
(105,821)
(209,692)

(18,585)

(466,202)
(226,464)

(66,993)
(158,173)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) MOl R ()

EBITDA EBITDA 1,174,775

— Panzhuang — &R 1,146,550

— Mabi — B 47,548
Profit from operations KERHE 901,908
Finance income B s U e 37,065
Finance costs B % E B (4,287)
Exchange (losses)/gains &, (185k), e 6,079
Finance income — net BgWE — BE 38,857
Profit before income tax R B 8% A1 A 940,765
Income tax expense Fristi & A (233,397)
Profit for the year FEFE 707,368
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Production, sales, realized ASP and revenue are set out below:

Gross production volume (bcf)'
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross production volume (MMCM)'
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross sales volume (bcf)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross sales volume (MMCM)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Net sales volume (bcf)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Net sales volume (MMCM)3
Panzhuang
Mabi

Realized ASP
(RMB per cubic meter)*

Panzhuang
Mabi

Revenue (RMB’000)
Panzhuang
Mabi

BEE(HEZHTRR)!
AR

mEE(AELK)
AR

#IHE (HEL T RR)?
B

BIHE (BB ITK)?
AR

FHE (TR AIER)?
AR

FIHE(BELTTK)®
B

FHERHEER
(AR®L/SL77K)
B

WA ARETT)

A

Bt ¥ E1EE ()
EE e FHEREEESRKASIM
—|T :

32.88
30.34
2.54

931.09
859.17
71.92

32.23
29.79
244

912.56
843.48
69.08

23.36
21.35
2.01

661.41
604.55
56.86

1.67
1.69
1.39

1,161,246
1,064,012
97,234
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Notes:

1. Gross production volume is the total amount of CBM produced.

2. Gross sales volume is gross production volume less utilization loss.

3. Net sales volume is the portion of gross sales volume allocated to us under the

production sharing contract, after the deduction of amount sold to pay applicable
VAT and local taxes.

4. Realized ASP excludes the directly attributable pass through cost, thus reflecting
the realized wellhead price.

Revenue. Our revenue decreased from RMB1.161 billion in 2019 to
RMB1.038 billion in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB123 million
or 10.57%. The decrease was mainly attributable to the increase in
gross sales volume as a result of the increase in gross production
volume in Panzhuang concession, offset by the decrease in realized
ASP. Panzhuang concession’s gross production increased by 12.57%
from 859 MMCM in 2019 to 967 MMCM in 2020. Realized ASP for 2020
decreased to RMB1.42 per cubic meter compared to RMB1.69 per
cubic meter for 2019.

Subsidy income. Our subsidy income decreased from RMB219 million
in 2019 to RMB155 million in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB64
million or 29.35%, mainly due to the lower criteria set by the subsidizing
authorities.

VAT refund. Our VAT refund decreased from RMB127 million in 2019 to
RMB85 million in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB42 million or
33.00%, mainly due to the decrease in the realized ASP.

Other gains, net. Our other gains increased from RMB0.82 million in
2019 to RMB2.09 million in 2020, representing an increase of RMB1.27
million or 154.87%, mainly due to the overhead for income of other
businesses.

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses decreased from RMB607
million in 2019 to RMB557 million in 2020, representing a decrease of
RMB50 million or 8.17%, mainly due to the strict cost-control measures,
the optimization of organizational structure and position settings and
the decrease in termination benefits for staff.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) jﬁlﬁlﬁﬁ(g)

Depreciation and amortization. Our depreciation and
amortization in 2019 and 2020 were RMB273 million and RMB271
million respectively.

Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses
decreased from RMB106 million in 2019 to RMB73 million in 2020,
representing a decrease of RMB33 million or 30.66%, mainly due
to the optimization of organizational structure and position
settings, and the decrease in termination benefits for staff.

Materials, services and logistics. Our materials, services and
logistics expenses decreased from RMB210 million in 2019 to
RMB191 million in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB19
million or 8.99%, mainly due to the strict cost-control measures as
well as the decrease in pipeline transportation costs and
coordination services costs.

Net impairment losses on financial assets. Our net impairment
losses on financial assets of RMB7.6 million was primarily
attributable to an increase in expected credit losses on trade
receivables.

Others. Our other expenses were RMB18.59 million and
RMB14.19 million in 2019 and 2020 respectively. The decrease
was mainly due to the saving in office rentals and expenses for
day-to-day administration.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

EBITDA. Our EBITDA decreased from RMB1.175 billion in 2019 to
RMB995 million in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB180 million or
15.30%. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
realized ASP of Panzhuang concession, as well as the decrease in
subsidy income and VAT refund, partly offset by the decrease in
employee benefit expenses due to the optimization of organizational
structure and position settings and the decrease in materials, services
and logistics expenses due to strict cost-control measures. In
conclusion, lower realized ASP led to a decrease in EBITDA, the
magnitude of which could be even greater than that of income. The
EBITDA for 2019 amounted to RMB1.175 billion, including termination
benefits for staff of RMB20.57 million and non-operation related
business development and legal consulting service expenses of
RMB3.22 million. The EBITDA for 2020 amounted to RMB995 million,
including non-operation related business development and legal
consulting service expenses of RMB1.07 million. Panzhuang
concession’s EBITDA decreased from RMB1.147 billion in 2019 to
RMB993 million in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB154 million or
13.36%. The decrease in EBITDA of Panzhuang concession in 2020 was
mainly due to the decrease in realized ASP and the decrease in subsidy
income and VAT refund, partly offset by the adoption of strict cost-
control measures and the decrease in pipeline transportation costs and
coordination service costs. Mabi concession’s EBITDA decreased from
RMB47.55 million in 2019 to RMB14.16 million in 2020, representing a
decrease of RMB33.39 million or 70.22%. The decrease in Mabi
concession’s EBITDA in 2020 was mainly attributable to the decrease in
production volume and realized ASP, partly offset by the adoption of
strict cost-control measures and the decrease in employee benefit
expenses due to the optimization of organizational structure and
position settings.

Profit from operations. As a result of the foregoing, our profit from
operations decreased from RMB902 million in 2019 to RMB724 million
in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB178 million or 19.77%.

Finance income. Our finance income decreased from RMB37.07 million
in 2019 to RMB33.24 million in 2020, representing a decrease of
RMB3.83 million or 10.33%, mainly due to the decrease in cash and
bank balances.

Finance costs. Our finance costs for 2019 and 2020 were RMB4.29
million and RMB4.83 million respectively.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Exchange (losses)/gains. Our exchange (losses)/gains switched from
exchange gains of RMB6.08 million in 2019 to exchange losses of
RMB9.46 million in 2020. It is mainly attributable to the foreign
exchange losses of monetary items in foreign currency arising from the
exchange rate fluctuation for foreign currency against RMB.

Profit before income tax. Our profit before income tax decreased from
RMB941 million in 2019 to RMB743 million in 2020, representing a
decrease of RMB198 million or 21.07%, mainly due to the factors
affecting EBITDA stated above as well as the decrease in finance
income, the increase in finance costs and exchange losses incurred.

Income tax expense. Our income tax expense decreased from RMB233
million in 2019 to RMB232 million in 2020, representing a decrease of
RMB1.12 million or 0.48%, mainly due to the decrease in profit before
income tax of Panzhuang concession in 2020, partly offset by the
increase in deferred taxation expense of Mabi concession.

Profit for the year. Our profit for the year decreased from RMB707
million in 2019 to RMB510 million in 2020, representing a decrease of
RMB197 million or 27.86%, mainly due to the factors affecting profit
before income tax stated above.

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to profit
for the year, which is the most directly comparable financial
performance calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS.
EBITDA refers to earnings before finance income, finance costs,
exchange gains/losses, income tax and depreciation and amortization.
Adjusted EBITDA refers to EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-cash
expenses, non-recurring items or non-operation-related expenses to
demonstrate the EBITDA of the Group's core operations.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe they are
financial measures commonly used in the oil and gas industry. We
consider that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used as supplemental
financial measures by our management, investors, research analysts,
bankers and others to assess our operating performance, cash flow and
return on capital as compared to those of other companies in our
industry, and our financing ability. However, EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as
alternatives to operating profit or any other measure of performance or
as indicators of our operating performance or profitability. EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA are unable to account for income tax, exchange
gains/losses, finance income, finance costs and depreciation and
amortization.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA to profit for the year.

Reconciliation of profit for the year to
EBITDA:

FEFBHEEBITDANEER :

EBITDA K & EBITDA (4)

A E 5 AEBITDA K £ # ¥ EBITDA * & H
REMRABTMEHRTETANMISE -
MR BEBITDA X 4 8 2 EBITDA F F 11 /9
BRE - 1REE  AROWE - RITREEAM
ATRERETT ST E - AFFERIFAERRE
AEMARMNKEERE - BeRE REALRR
KRARBPIEERMEMNEE S - &1 - EBITDA
K 4G BE EBITDA A 0] 3 58 T 98 32 A 48 & 1)
SEMEMRIBTE - T T REBEALERH
SEMEMRBEAFENERER R AN
EEFRIBH WAL B IE1E © EBITDA K48 3
FEBITDARBEE ISR - [ H amskigx
s - IS B R E MBS AR -

T # Y/ EBITDA & 48 #§ 2 EBITDA £ 7
R SIRR o

Profit for the year FERHE 707,368
Income tax expense FTiSHiE A 233,397
Finance income e dlgas (37,065)
Finance costs B 7% & 4,287
Exchange losses/(gains) [E 5 1Bk (Uzs) (6,079)
Depreciation and amortization e R 272,867

EBITDA EBITDA 1,174,775
Non-operation-related business ELEREAMESEREM

development and legal consulting ERERREERX
service expenses
Termination benefits for staff B TR E
Adjusted EBITDA KR IAE EBITDA 1,198,564
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

Our EBITDA decreased from RMB1.175 billion in 2019 to RMB995
million in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB180 million or 15.30%.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in realized ASP of
Panzhuang concession as well as the decrease in subsidy income and
VAT refund, partly offset by the decrease in employee benefit
expenses due to the optimization of organizational structure and
position settings and the decrease in materials, services and logistics
expenses due to strict cost-control measures. In conclusion, lower
realized ASP led to a decrease in EBITDA, the magnitude of which
even greater than that of income.

Our adjusted EBITDA decreased from RMB1.198 billion in 2019 to
RMB996 million in 2020, representing a decrease of RMB202 million or
16.90%. In addition to the factors described above, the decrease was
also due to the absence of termination benefits for staff and the
decrease in non-operation-related business development and legal
consulting service expenses in 2020.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group's financial management department is responsible for the
financing and fund management policies related to the overall
operations of the Group. Our primary sources of funding for investment
include cash generated from operating activities and proceeds from
the Company's initial public offering (“IPO") in 2015.

As at 31 December 2020, we had cash and bank balances of RMB1.846
billion (31 December 2019: RMB2.184 billion ).

Save for the information disclosed above or otherwise in this report,
the Group had no outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures or other
loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, borrowings,
liabilities under acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire purchase
and finance lease commitments, or any guarantee or other material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

EBITDA K & EBITDA (4)
MM EBITDAH 2019F M) AR 11,7518 T
BT AR 1.8018 T8k 15.30% = 2020 F #Y
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J‘g o
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Due to the impact of COVID-19 Pandemic, the sales price of CBM was
lower than expected, which had a negative impact on the Group's
revenue in 2020. However, given the good performance in cash flow
from the Group's operating activities in 2020 and the relatively
sufficient retained surplus in previous years, the Group has sufficient
funds to realize the investment plan in the “Outlook and Guidance for
2021" and the Company’s operation plan in the coming years.

Cash Flow
The table below sets forth our cash flow for each of the years indicated.

RBEEREFER @)

SHBRELE  REANEEREAES
YA EE00FERANER —FAEFE -
{BRERAEE020FERFHEEEDHR
SHRERH  URUNFEBRARNEFAR
% AEEEAMNESRER01FRE
RAESDPRA T B R A AR L -

RERhE
TERIJINZRFERMNRERE

2020 2019
2020 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARKETET
Net cash generated from operating activities & & /EB)FT5IR & F 58 534,266 948,210
Net cash used in investing activities KEEETAR ¢ 75 (431,034) (272,421)
Net cash used in financing activities RE EEFTRIR & R (367,656) (263,492)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and B RIREEEWORD), I IFEE (264,424) 412,297
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FURERESEED 2,083,931 1,656,523
the year
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and RekReSEWER (BX), W (29,002) 15,111
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRIE&KIREEEY 1,790,505 2,083,931

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities in 2020 was RMB534
million, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB743 million and
depreciation and amortization of RMB271 million. These items were
offset by income tax paid of RMB124 million, the increase in trade and
other receivables of RMB375 million.

Net cash generated from operating activities in 2019 was RMB948
million, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB941 million and
depreciation and amortization of RMB272 million. These items were
offset by income tax paid of RMB167 million, the increase in trade and
other receivables of RMB66.98 million, finance income of RMB24.27
million and the decrease in trade and other payables of RMB5.39
million.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities in 2020 was RMB431 million, mainly
comprised of purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB504
million, offset by the decrease in term deposits with maturity over 3
months of RMB47.31 million and the interest received of RMB29.27
million. The purchase of property, plant and equipment mainly
comprised of payment for more wells drilled, additional well head
compressors and construction of gas gathering stations and power
facilities.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2019 was RMB272 million, mainly
comprised of purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB242
million, increase in term deposits with maturity over 3 months of
RMB50.00 million, offset by interest received of RMB25.22 million. The
purchase of property, plant and equipment mainly comprised of
payment for more wells drilled, additional well head compressors and
construction of gas gathering stations and power facilities.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities in 2020 was RMB368 million, mainly
due to the payment of dividend of RMB359 million for 2019YE and the
repayment of lease liabilities of RMB8.90 million.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2019 was RMB263 million, mainly
due to the payment of dividend of RMB256 million for 2018YE.

Cash and Bank Balances

We had cash and bank balances of RMB2.184 billion and RMB1.846
billion as at 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively. Our cash and
bank balances consist of cash on hand, cash at banks and restricted
bank deposits. The decrease in our cash is mainly due to inadequate
sales return. As at 31 December 2019 and 2020, approximately 39.52%
and 30.30% of our cash and bank balances were held in Hong Kong
dollar or US dollar.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The operating activities of the Group expose to a variety of financial
risks: credit risk, market risk (includes foreign exchange risk), liquidity
risk and concentration risk. The overall risk management program of
the Group focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on our financial
performance.

Credit Risk

As the majority of cash at banks are placed with state-owned and
international banks and financial institutions in the PRC and Hong
Kong, and there has been no recent history of default in relation to
these banks and financial institutions, the corresponding credit risk is
relatively low. Therefore, our credit risk arises mainly from trade and
other receivables.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, particularly with respect to US dollar. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognized assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency other
than the entity’s functional currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, we were exposed to non-cash foreign exchange
risks arising from retranslation of inter-company loans denominated in
US dollar. To manage the foreign exchange risk, the management
decided to execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by converting
the inter-company loans into perpetual loans through entering into
perpetual loan agreements between respective group companies such
that the perpetual loans do not bear interest and the lenders cannot
request repayment. Upon completion of this debt restructuring, any
foreign exchange difference arising from the retranslation of these US
dollar denominated perpetual loans was recognized in equity in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring

the movement of the foreign exchange rates and companies’ internal
accounts denominated in US dollar.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
against US dollar, with all other variables being held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have been RMB1,649,000 (31
December 2019: RMB3,954,000) higher/lower, respectively, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US$
denominated receivables and payables held by our entities with their
functional currency as RMB.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended
31 December 2020.

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies for the year ended 31 December 2020.

IMPACT OF 2020 POLICY

On 27 February, 2020, the People’s Government of Shanxi Province
issued the “Three-Year Action Plan for Increasing Reserves and
Production of Coal-Formed Gas in Shanxi Province (2020-2022)" ( €L
PaE B RIS L E = F 1785 81(2020-20224F)) |, requiring the
province's CBM production to reach 20,000 MMCM by 2022. It is clearly
stipulated in the plan that the government will promote the
development of concessions jointly explored with the foreign parties,
and focus on ensuring the stable increase in production of developed
concessions, such as Panzhuang concession. The policy will drive the
Group's rapid development in the natural gas energy sector. The
Group will take advantage of the favourable policy to identify new
development opportunities while fully exploiting the maximum value
of the existing concessions.
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IMPACT OF 2020 POLICY (Continued)

On 1 May 2020, the People’s Government of Shanxi Province issued
the “Shanxi Coalbed Methane Exploration and Exploitation
Management Measures”, which is an objective requirement for Shanxi
Province to implement the country’s “four revolutions, one
cooperation” new energy security strategy. The so-called “four
revolutions, one cooperation” aims at promoting revolutions in energy
consumption, energy supply, energy technology, energy system, and
to strengthen international cooperation in energy in all aspects. These
measures aim to encourage enterprises to increase investment in CBM
exploration and exploitation, to strengthen the protection of mining
areas, to specify policies and measures in respect of joint approval of
projects , occupation of land and forest land, interconnection and
interoperability of pipeline networks, gas storage and peak-shaving, to
encourage the integrated evaluation and utilization of CBM, tight gas
and shale gas, to materialize multi-gas co-exploitation and common
transmission, to deepen reform in mechanism and system prior to
carrying and trying these measures, and to promote quality and rapid
development of CBM exploration and exploitation in Shanxi Province.
These measures have provided policy support for “three-gas co-
exploitation”, which will boost the Group's efforts in the pursuit of
“three-gas co-exploitation” mechanism, co-exploitation technology
and development mode, so as to further enrich the upstream gas
sources of the entire natural gas energy industry chain.

OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2021

With the approval of several COVID-19 vaccines and the vaccinated
population growing steadily, the public has high expectations for the
pandemic to subside in 2021. In addition, the economic data released
by various countries suggested a better-than-expected performance of
the global economy in the second half of 2020. Based on the above,
the IMF forecasted in its World Economic Outlook released in January
2021 that the global economy will grow by 5.5% in 2021, a significant
growth from the estimated 3.5% contraction in 2020. Looking back at
China, as the Chinese government further clarifies its goal of achieving
carbon neutrality by 2060, natural gas, a clean, low-carbon energy
source, will play an increasingly important role in China’s energy mix,
and demand for natural gas will continue to grow.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2021 (Continued)

While consolidating its existing foundation on CBM as its principal
operation, the Group will actively pursue expansion in the upstream of
the natural gas energy industry chain, further enriching the gas
resources, and intends to leverage its advantages in the industry of
CBM exploration and development for industrial extension, actively
planning and deploying the thermal mining of deep coal and CBM, a
brand new technological innovation project, which can be co-
developed with natural gas, hydrogen energy and carbon capture,
storage and utilization, in line with the national direction for
development of low-carbon energy. In order to study and master the
key technologies for thermal mining of deep coal and CBM, the
Company plans to conduct a pilot test project and is now actively
pursuing the related preparatory work. Furthermore, the Group has
strengthened the establishment of strong CBM transmission and
distribution capabilities and the materialization of market channels
interconnection. After the year ended 31 December 20120, Xinhe
Investment Holding Company Limited (“Xinhe"”), the Company’s
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, paid RMB80 million deposit (the
"Deposit”) to an administrator appointed by the PRC court in relation
to the reorganisation and acquisition of the entire equity interests in a
company in liquidation (the “Target Company”). The Deposit will be
fully refunded if Xinhe had not been selected by the PRC court to be
the investor of the Target Company . The Target Company owns CBM
long-distance transmission pipe projects in China and such projects
would contribute to the business development of the Group.

Obviously, it takes time to effectively control the COVID-19 Pandemic,
and 2021 will still be a challenging year for the world, for China, and for
AAG Energy. The Group will continue to fully capitalize on the valuable
experience accumulated in the fight against the pandemic and to set
the “three zeros” record of “zero confirmed, zero suspected and zero
infections”, while focusing on strengthening investment and
development of traditional CBM projects led by technological
innovation, building competitive technological achievements in
thermal mining of deep coal and CBM and multi-gas co-exploitation
fields, continuing to strengthen the construction of the entire natural
gas industry chain, and making relentless efforts to promote cost
reduction and efficiency improvement, thus laying a solid foundation
for the continuous growth of production volume and net profit.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2021 (Continued)

For 2021, we are pleased to present the latest goals as follows:

Panzhuang Concession
The Group will continue to invest in Panzhuang concession in 2021.

Details are as follows:

The Group will implement the full year plan upon the related
government approvals on Panzhuang concession, including the
plans of completing pre-drilling construction of 20 well sites, the
drilling and pumping equipment purchase of 65 new wells,
commencing production of 88 new wells, as well as implementing
related ancillary surface facilities engineering.

With the scheduled project implementation and related
government approvals, the anticipated gross production of
Panzhuang concession is 1,080 MMCM (38.1 bcf).

Due to the frequent coal mining activities in the surrounding coal
mines adjoin Panzhuang concession, the Company will continue
to strengthen communication and cooperation with these coal
mines in 2021, to optimize mutual guarantee agreements and
continue to identify new development opportunities and
cooperation channels.

Mabi Concession

The Group will continue to invest in Mabi concession in 2021,
details are as follows:

In Mabi concession, the Group will continue to enhance and
optimize the investment and construction of the ODP in southern
area of Mabi concession. In 2021, we plan to implement drilling
of 134 CBM wells in southern area of Mabi concession, and will
also focus on the development and construction in the area
around No. 2 gas gathering station.

With the scheduled project implementation and related
government approvals, the gross production of Mabi concession
is expected to be 120 MMCM (4.2 bcf).

According to the development plan of Panzhuang concession and

Mabi concession mentioned above, the Group estimates to incur

capital expenditures of approximately RMB817 million in 2021, which

will be financed by its own cash flow. The Group will assess the capital

investment plan for 2021 from time to time, and will make necessary

disclosure in the interim results for 2021 for any change.

40

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

2021 ERER S| ()
2021 4 - BFTRASBEFHEZWT -

BHER
2021 AEEREEEEREEREDT

EEERBERAERAEL R E - FE
B2 FatE - 5T EIST20EH SR E
AT TH2 - 65 A HHYEHAIESE - BHRR
BIRIE K88 AT HAKE - ARERAE
M EREERETIE -

ERBEHNBERATNREBNBRETE
It BHEERREESNTEEA108E
FAK(BI381 B FHER) o

A P A T 3 3R Y B8 BR IR R RUE B 4E
0 2021 F X AR HEAE Dok BLIE B R TR
MBREE TEERBHBELEESLK
M EREENAIERKE -

BHEHR

2021 67 - AREEASE S LB REE K
®E - ARBWT

ESFVERRE  AEESEERTE TS
&b M &1L 5 4 B ODP R & 2 &%
2021V FEHEESFVEEMER14OK
BRfA RESHEZ2RERERE
HEITHERE -

ENFEHNEBATMEBNORTE
#t - BRI 2021 FRESNTEHN/12
B H R (BI42BILHER) o

RiE EE RN T BRI EGTE - K
SEEFBE202NFRABRAMIHOAR
BRI  ELESHHEFHNREIRIKE
R o R BB AP 2021 F OB AMERE
8 WE-BAMERE2021 FH XS
PR AR



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2021 (Continued)
Mabi Concession (Continued)

The Group is highly confident in focusing on and dealing with
uncertainties, as well as continuously committed to cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement to deliver promising operating results.
Meanwhile, we will continue to enhance technological innovation,
thereby laying a solid foundation for the stable production and
development of Panzhuang concession and the large-scale
development of Mabi concession. Besides, the Group will base on its
groundbreaking technological advantages to identify new
development opportunities mainly in China’s market as planned to
expand our business, so as to provide clean energy for more clients
and relevant communities and create higher return for our
shareholders.
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Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (BAFE), aged 57, is an executive Director of the
Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ming is primarily responsible for the
Group's overall development and growth strategies, investor and
public relations, board governance and supervision of key
management issues. Mr. Ming was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Mr. Ming has been the chairman of the board of Xinjiang Xintai Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. FTEEERARARKMNHBR A7), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393), since January 2013.
From June 2010 to December 2012, Mr. Ming was a director of Xinjiang
Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Xinjiang Xintai
Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (FIB&FHILE(EE)ER A F]). From
March 1985 to May 1998, Mr. Ming served as the head of the
supervision and audit department, the head of the personnel
department, the chief audit officer and the deputy governor of the
Agricultural Bank of China Limited (Deyang Central District Branch) (2
Bl 22 IR1T(EBB AR $17)), and as the director and the secretary of
the Party committee of the credit cooperative union, respectively.

Mr. Ming graduated from the correspondence college of Party College

of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of China ({1 &
M)l L EREIRERT) in 1987, majoring in law.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yan Danhua (&3 %), aged 53, is an executive Director and the
president of the Company. Mr. Yan is primarily responsible for the
Group's overall operation management. Mr. Yan was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2018, the President of
the Company on 7 September 2018, a member of the ESG Working
Group of the Company on 27 March 2020 and a member of the
Strategic Development Committee of the Company on 26 March 2021.

Mr. Yan has more than 10 years of strategic investment and operation
management experience in the energy industry. He was responsible
for managing the energy investment projects of China AVIC Trust Co.,
Ltd. (PHEFER D AR F]) from 2016 to 2018. In 2015, Mr. Yan was
the deputy general manager of Guangzheng Group Co., Ltd. (Jt IE&E
f&h B A E]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002524), and was responsible for the business of natural
gas and new energy development. From 2007 to 2013, he worked as
the office director of balanced scorecard department for Xinjiang
Guanghui Industry Investment Group Co., Ltd. (¥R EE % & (K EH)
BREMAF]) and as the deputy general manager for Guanghui
Energy Co., Ltd. (BEFRIRHNBRAF]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600256), respectively. In
Guanghui Energy Co., Ltd., he was responsible for strategic planning,
operation management, natural gas project management and the
development of conventional gas and oil. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Yan
worked as the general manager at the department of fruit business of
Xinjiang Tunhe Co., Ltd. GFEH AN BRAR) (currently known as
Cofco Tunhe Sugar Co., Ltd. (Pl A EEDERAF]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600737)).

Mr. Yan obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from Shaanxi
Institute of Finance and Economics (BRFEES£EEFR), currently known as
Xi'an Jiao Tong University of China (1 BIFa 223258 AE8), in 1990.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (5R#% L), aged 57, is an executive Director, authorized
representative, vice president and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the
Company’s market operations and human resources matters. Mr. Zhang
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2018
and an authorized representative of the Company on 25 August 2018,
respectively. He was appointed as the vice president of the Company on 7
September 2018 and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company on 21 March 2019, respectively.

Mr. Zhang has worked in various government departments and
enterprises for over 35 years. Mr. Zhang has management experience
in industrial economy, finance, safety production management and
other aspects. Since April 2015, Mr. Zhang has worked as a director of
the general manager’s office of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd.,
the general manager of Fukang Xintai Gas Co., Ltd. (EETWE&RMRE
R & {E7AF]), the head of investment management department and an
assistant to the general manager of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co.,
Ltd., respectively. From 2010 to 2015, Mr. Zhang served as a deputy
director of Deyang Municipal Committee of Economic and Information
Technology (fEFFMAEEZ). From 2006 to 2010, he was a director of
Deyang Information & Technology Office ({25 {5 B{L P A E). From
1999 to 2006, Mr. Zhang worked in Deyang Municipal Government
Office (2[5 MBUN#%) as a deputy chief of the administrative
department and the deputy director of the supervision and inspection
office. From 1990 to 1999, Mr. Zhang served as a deputy chief of the
industrial transport department in Deyang Economic Restructuring
Committee (BT B RBHINEEZEE).

Mr. Zhang graduated from the correspondence college of Party
College of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of
China (P #£09) 1148 Z E R KEZPT) in 2000, majoring in law. Mr. Zhang
obtained the Certificate of Secretary from the Shanghai Stock
Exchange in 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGSREERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Huang Min (E8)), aged 57, is a non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang is primarily responsible
for advising on accounting, internal control and financial matters. Mr. Huang
joined the Company and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 27 March 2020. He was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company on 27 August 2020.

Mr. Huang has been focusing on the natural gas sector for over 20
years with extensive experience in the industry. He is currently the
chairman of the supervisory committee of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas
Co., Ltd. (FiBERRARRMBRA7A), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393). Prior to that, he served
as an accountant, teller, credit and subsequently deposits officer and
credit card business officer of the Agricultural Bank of China Limited
(Deyang City Jingyang District Branch) (fF Bl 2 2 R1T(EE T R R
77)) from December 1979 to March 2000. He served as a manager in
Miquan LPG Co., Ltd., CRE&{LRAF]) from March 2000 to March
2002, a chief officer of the Planning and Construction Office of the
Urban Natural Gas Transmission Project in Yangi County from March
2002 to February 2003, and a manager of Business Operations
Department in Xinjiang Xintai Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (#1528 Z=i%
& (&E)BRAF]) from March 2004 to December 2012. He has been
the chairman of the supervisory committee of Xinjiang Xintai Natural

Gas Co., Ltd. (fTiE&E TR ARM B R 2 7)) since January 2013.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (8B R), aged 63, is an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Strategic Development
Committee of the Company and the chairman of the Audit Committee
of the Company. Mr. Tai is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Tai joined the Company on 24
August 2018, and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was appointed as the
chairman of Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 7 September 2018.

Mr. Tai is currently a partner and officer in charge of corporate finance
department of VMS Securities Limited. Mr. Tai currently also serves as
an independent non-executive director for each of Jiayuan
International Group Limited (Stock Code: 2768), G&M Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 6038) and Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 2066), all
being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
was appointed as an independent director of Qingdao Eoroom Smart
Home Technology Company Limited (E 5B EZERERIERD BIR
A \]) on 29 June 2020 and ceased to be an independent non-executive
director of Anhui Conch Cement Company Limited (Stock Code: 914)
and Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (Stock Code: 0590), both
being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on
30 May 2019 and 20 August 2020, respectively. Mr. Tai was elected as a
member of the 12th session of Shandong Committee of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2018.

Mr. Tai is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, CPA Australia and New Zealand Institute of Chartered
Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting, corporate
finance and investment in Hong Kong and overseas.

Mr. Tai obtained a bachelor’'s degree in commerce and administration
from Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand in 1982.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (ZI#i£), aged 58, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee of the Company and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Dr. Liu is primarily responsible for
independently overseeing the management. Dr. Liu joined the
Company on 24 August 2018 and was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and the Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 7 September 2018. He ceased to be the chairman of the
Strategic Development Committee of the Company on 9 November
2018.

Dr. Liu has been an independent non-executive director of Kunlun
Energy Company Limited (Stock Code: 0135) since 2004, Honghua
Group Limited (Stock Code: 0196) since 2008, Cinda International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0111) since 2016, and Sunfonda Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1771) since 2017, all being companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Liu is also the
independent director of the board of UBS Securities Company Limited,
an unlisted company. Dr. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in
corporate finance. He has served in a number of international financial
institutions since 1993, including N.M. Rothschild & Sons Limited, J.P.
Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited, N.M. Rothschild & Sons (HK)
Limited, DBS Asia Capital Limited and China Resources Capital
Holdings Company Limited.

Dr. Liu obtained a master’s degree and a PhD from the Faculty of
Economics, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom in 1988 and
1994, respectively. He obtained a master’s degree in development
studies from the University of Bath, United Kingdom in 1987, and a
bachelor’s degree in political economics from the Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics (P 348 K 22) (formerly known as
Sichuan Economic College (PUJIIEf &£ Z2Ft)) in the PRC in 1983,
respectively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (¥ 8), aged 55, is an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee of
the Company. Dr. Yang is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Dr. Yang was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Strategic
Development Committee of the Company on 9 November 2018. He
was appointed as the head of the ESG Working Group of the Company
on 27 March 2020.

Dr. Yang worked as a geological engineer in the Institute of Petroleum
Geology at the Department of Geology and Minerals (H2HE S04 HHE
TFEFT) from July 1986 to April 1995. Dr. Yang then served as a senior
geological engineer in the Institute of Petroleum at China New Star
Petroleum Co. (FT24 R A BITFZERL) from April 1995 to July 1996.
From May 2000 to July 2002, Dr. Yang joined the post-doctoral
program and conducted research work in areas of geological resources
and geological engineering at the China University of Mining and
Technology (Beijing branch). In December 2002, Dr. Yang started
working as a senior geological engineer and an associate professor at
the China University of Mining and Technology (Beijing branch) and
was later promoted as a professor in July 2017. He has been working as
a senior geological engineer and a professor at the China University of
Mining and Technology (Beijing branch) since then. Dr. Yang has
received several awards including a special award from the China Coal
Industry Association (BRI E) and a second prize award
from the State Council of the PRC. Dr. Yang was also appointed as a
member of the Mine Geophysical Committee of the Chinese
Geophysical Society (FEIMIRYIZESEILMIKYIBEEXZEE)
for a term of 4 years from 2013 to 2017.

Dr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree of petroleum geology from the
Chengdu College of Geology (A EHE £F5%) in the PRC in July 1986
and a doctoral degree in earth exploration and information technology
from the China University of Geosciences (B K2 in December
1999, respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGSREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wei Jiangtao (f#I8), aged 53, vice president and financial
controller of the Company.

Mr. Wei has served as the vice president and financial controller of the
Company since September 2018 and is primarily responsible for the
Group's financial compliance management and corporate financing
activities. He has over 20 years of experience in auditing, corporate
finance, corporate governance and financial management.

From 2016 to 2018, Mr. Wei served as a post-investment manager for
energy projects of China AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. (Ff{SFER D BRAR)).
From 2008 to 2015, he was a financial controller of each of Jiangsu
YangKou Port Development and Investment Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu
Yangtong Investment and Development Co., Ltd., both are the
subsidiaries of PY| Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 0498), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From 2006 to 2007, he
was a founding partner and general manager of Xi'an Junchung
Finance Consulting Limited (Fa% & Bl 81 1554 0B R 22 Bl). From 1999 to
2005, he successively served as a project manager, department
manager and business director in Shaanxi Yiyou Accounting Firm

Limited Liability Company (BREiz= K € 5TRN ST AR A 7).

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor’'s degree in industrial economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (BREGES4EE2ET), currently
known as Xi'an Jiaotong University of China (fEIFAZ B A, in
1990 and was admitted as a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 1999.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)
Mr. Wang Bing (£7K), aged 51, vice president of the Company.

Mr. Wang has been the vice president of the Company since
November 2013 and is primarily responsible for the Group's
government relations, executive management and information
management matters. Mr. Wang was appointed as a member of the
ESG Working Group of the Company on 27 March 2020.

Mr. Wang has over 14 years of experience in project management,
public relations, sales and marketing in the CBM business. Mr. Wang
has held various positions in the Group since joining the Group in June
2005. Mr. Wang served as a director of operation from February 2012
to November 2013 and as a general manager of Panzhuang Project
from September 2008 to February 2012. He was a business
development and sales manager of Mabi Project from 2005 to 2007.

Before joining the Company, he was the deputy general manager of
Shanxi Kotel Micro Technique Co., Ltd. (LU FARIZRIKFEiTA R A F]) from
September 2001 to May 2005 and the marketing manager of the
Beijing branch of American ATMEL Company from July 1997 to
September 2001.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in metallic material
engineering from Northeast Heavy Machinery Institute (S1tE2 74
EP5t), currently known as Yanshan University (F&HIKE), in the PRC in
September 1992 and his master’s degree in business administration
from the Open University of Hong Kong in December 2000.
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Directors and Senior Management
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)
Mr. Li Jun (3 E), aged 56, vice president of the Company.

Mr. Li has been a vice president of the Company since December 2020
and is primarily responsible for the Group's safety, production,
technical, engineering and project management matters.

Mr. Li has over 25 years of experience in project management, supply
chain management, public relations and crisis management in the oil
and gas industry. He has held various positions since joining the Group
in September 2014. From April 2020 to December 2020, he was an
assistant to the President and the Head of Investment Development
Department. From September 2014 to September 2020, he was the
general manager of each of Panzhuang Project and Mabi Project
respectively.

Prior to joining the Company, he was the Panyu asset manager of
ConocoPhillips China Inc. from January 2013 to June 2014. From
November 2009 to December 2012, he was the general manager of
supply chain in the PRC for ConocoPhillips China Inc., During his
tenure, Mr. Li, as a representative of ConocoPhillips China Inc.,
coordinated the crisis management and communication with the
authorities in respect of the Bohai Bay oil spill from July 2011 to
January 2012. From October 1995 to October 2009, he was the chief
operation officer of logistics, liaison officer in charge of communication
with government authorities and joint venturers, and the head of
procurement and logistics management for ConocoPhillips China Inc.,
overseeing the operations in Bohai Rim Region. Prior to that, he was a
diplomatic, political and press attaché at the embassy of the People's
Republic of China in Yemen from February 1991 to April 1994, when he
was stationed in Sana'a, the capital of the Republic of Yemen.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in English Language and Literature
from Tianjin Foreign Studies University in 1986 and an MBA degree
from the State University of New York, USA in June 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)
Mr. Wei Jinmin (B{3& ), aged 53, vice president of the Company.

Mr. Wei has served as a vice president of the Company since
September 2018 and is primarily responsible for the Group's legal and
audit monitoring issues.

Mr. Wei has over 20 years of experience in providing legal advice.
Before joining the Company, Mr. Wei served as an assistant to general
manager and a director of legal department in Xinjiang Xintai Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. GNESEHRRARKMHBRRAF), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393) from May 2014 to
August 2018. From 2006 to 2014, Mr. Wei was a partner of Sichuan
Huanfeng Law Firm (P9)I13RI&ZRMHEFFT) and Sichuan Liankun Law
Firm (79) | B3R AM =75 FT), respectively.

Mr. Fan Mingzhu (B B3¥), aged 62, chief engineer of the Company.

Mr. Fan has served as the chief engineer of the Company since
September 2018. He is primarily responsible for the finalization of the
Group's technical projects, research and development of new
technology and technical assessment of new projects.

Mr. Fan has over 38 years of experience in CBM well drilling,
exploration and development. He was a chief geologist of the
Company from June 2008 to June 2017. From May 2002 to May 2008,
Mr. Fan was a senior engineer in Petroleum Exploration and
Development Research Institute of Sinopec and engaged in geological
evaluation and exploration deployment of CBM concessions. From
December 1989 to April 2002, Mr. Fan was a senior engineer in
Planning and Design Institute of North China Petroleum Bureau of
Sinopec. From February 1982 to November 1989, Mr. Fan worked as an
engineer in the Ninth and Fifth Brigade of Petroleum Prospecting and
Exploration of North China Petroleum Bureau and participated in on-
site geological logging work at various CBM wells.

Mr. Fan obtained a bachelor’'s degree in petroleum and natural gas

geology from Northwest University (FiERE2) in the PRC in January
1982.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGSREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)
Ms. Su Xiaohang (EkE:fiil), aged 34, joint company secretary of the
Company.

Ms. Su has served as the manager of the board of Directors’ office (&
EEMWAZEEM) of the Company since September 2018 and was
appointed as a joint company secretary and the Board secretary of the
Company in April 2019. She is primarily responsible for implementing
good corporate governance and the Group’s compliance matters,
investors’ and public relations management.

Ms. Su has over seven years of experience in the financial services and
investment industry. Before joining the Company, she worked as an
investment manager in the investment department at Chinastone
Capital Management Limited from November 2016 to August 2018.
She served as a branch finance manager in the finance department at
the Beijing Branch of the Standard Chartered Bank (China) Limited
from February 2014 to November 2016. From January 2011 to January
2014, she worked as a senior auditor at the Beijing office of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. under the audit group of global financial
service industry.

Ms. Su obtained a master’'s degree of science in International
Accounting and Finance at the University of Birmingham, United
Kingdom, in 2010. She obtained the Securities Qualification Certificate
(EEEMEEE) from the Asset Management Association of China (F
FEEHREESEWE) in June 2017. She is a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is a leading independent CBM producer in China. It
focuses on developing and optimizing value of unconventional gas
resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese economy. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set
out in note 1 and note 29 to the section headed “Consolidated
Financial Statements” of this annual report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2020 and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report. Description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found in the section
headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be
found in note 3 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year ended 31 December 2020 using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section headed
"Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further,
discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships with
its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Report of the Directors”,
and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report,
respectively. Discussions and information therein form part of this
Report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set
out in the section headed "Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.
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DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.1031 per share (equivalent to approximately HK$0.1228 per
share) for the year ended 31 December 2020, subject to the approval
of the Shareholders of the Company at the AGM to be held on 13 May
2021. The proposed dividends is expected to be paid on 3 June 2021
to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
on 24 May 2021. The dividends payable to the Shareholders will be
distributed in HK Dollar at an average exchange rate of the central
parity of RMB against HK Dollar as announced by The People’s Bank of
China for the five business days prior to the dividend declaration date.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING OF THE
COMPANY

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 23 June 2015 with net proceeds from the IPO of
approximately RMB1.5069 billion, after deduction of the underwriting
commission and other expenses. The Company intends to apply the
proceeds from the Listing in accordance with the proposed
applications as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds — Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company
dated 11 June 2015.

As at 31 December 2020, the following table sets out the breakdown of
the use of proceeds from the IPO:

RE
EEeCRESRNEE2020F12831HILEF
EZREREBRARE01031 T - HERE
f& 8% 0.1228 7T - MEZBAFAR R4 20215 A 13
ARREEAFARG L - EBZREFEER
2021 F 6 A3HMAEZER2021F5 A24 AR E
H AT FI IR FIRST o FES FRREE A AR B g LAE
TLIREE - AREREMFEANERASMIEE
ARfAELERTRARBITAEMARE N
BB TTIE R 7 RREERNFHE

AN EHAERERR

AR B R R 20155 6 A 23 H EBE X AT 1R
i &R BEAS REMMAEZE - IPORT
BRIEHAANREE15.069187T « XA FEEE
AABINR2015F6 11 BEENHBRER &
KRB RIS HIERS: — FTBERS] —
EFrE R 2R AR A EMAERIE

A2020F12 A318 ' IPOFFE A% A
TR

Net proceeds

Net proceeds utilized during

utilized as at  the year ended
Percentage of ~ Net proceeds 31 December 31 December Remaining
net proceeds allocated 2019 2020 amount
R2019% HZ2020%F
& 12A318  12A31BL
REFH PEHFRE EEA FECRA
Use of net proceeds FEREFERE BAt HERE  MERERE  MENERE HereHE
(RMB hundred  (RMB hundred  (RMB hundred  (RMB hundred
million) million) million) million)
(AR¥ET) (AR®ET) (AR%ET) (ARBER)
For the exploration and developmentof ~ AREEERFVERHER 60% 9.041 7790 1.251 -
CBM in Panzhuang and REEER
Mabi concessions
For the expansion of operations by WEEMEERSAMERR 35% 5.274 3172 0.035 2.067
acquiring interests in other CBM or AAREBNERI 2 EaER
other unconventional gas concessions BREE  EURERMNOER
or participating in cooperation or
joint venture projects
For working capital and general REeEEe R—ROEERR 5% 0.754 0538 0113 0.103
corporate purposes
Total Foh 100% 15.069 11.500 1.399 2170
TERERERERAR/ —T_TFFR 55




Report of the Directors

EEERE

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The remaining portion of the net proceeds is expected to be used on
or before 31 December 2021. Depending on the identification progress
of possible acquisition targets or opportunities to participate in
cooperation or joint venture projects, the Company will disclose the
information in its annual reports and interim reports and in accordance
with the relevant Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
REVENUE GENERATING ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
revenue generating assets of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out in note 6 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
incentive schemes are set out in note 12 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report and the
paragraph headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the "Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 13 May 2021. The AGM
circular will be published and issued to the Shareholders in due course.
For the purposes of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company (the
"Register of Members”) will be closed from 10 May 2021 to 13 May
2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with the
Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. on 7 May 2021 (being the business day prior to the first day of
closure of the register of members).

The record date for determining the entitlements to the proposed
dividend is 24 May 2021. In order to determine the Shareholders’
entitlements to the proposed final dividend, which is subject to the
approval by the Shareholders at the AGM to be convened, the Register
of Members of the Company will be closed from 20 May 2021 to 24
May 2021, both days inclusive, during which period the registration of
transfer of shares will be suspended. All properly completed transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on 18 May 2021.

RESERVES

Details of reserve movement of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2020 are set out in note 28 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As of 31 December 2020, the distributable reserves of the Company
was approximately RMB4,194 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made charitable
contributions of RMB550 thousand.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 61.12% of the total sales for the year,
with the sales to the largest customer representing 17.65%. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's five largest customers
were principally engaged in the exploration and exploitation of CBM,
liquefaction and processing of CBM, and sales of town gas. The Group
and its five largest customers have maintained a relationship for 1 to 2
years and even longer. The credit term granted to the Group's major
customers for trade receivables is generally 30 to 90 days, which is
consistent with that granted to other customers. The Group has
mitigated its risk of relying on major customers in peak-shaving of
natural gas by adding other customers for peak-shaving and
establishing a long-term and stable relationship with its customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 29.88% of the total purchases for
the year in which the purchases from the largest supplier represented
7.95%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any substantial shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Yan Danhua (President)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Vice President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Huang Min (appointed on 27 March 2020)
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021)
Ms. Gu Ren (resigned on 27 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Huang Min was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 27 March 2020 and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company with effect from 27 August 2020. Ms. Gu Ren resigned as a non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company with effect from 27 August 2020 due to her other personal and
work commitments. Dr. Cui Guiyong resigned as a non-executive Director
and a member of the Strategic Development Committee of the Company
with effect from 26 March 2021 due to his other personal and business
commitments. Mr. Yan Danhua, an executive Director and the President of
the Company, was appointed as a member of the Strategic Development
Committee of the Company with effect from 26 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2020 and up to the date
of this annual report, there have been no changes to the composition
of each of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategic
Development Committee of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed "Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
therein, there was no other matter with respect to the appointment of
the Directors that needs to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and there was no information relating to the Directors
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of
the Listing Rules as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of
appointment subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance
with the Articles. Each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors), Mr. Huang Min, Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Dr. Yang Ruizhao, have signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the date of appointment/renewal subject to the
relevant provisions of retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGMs of the Company in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Ming Zaiyuan, Mr. Yan Danhua and
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts, transactions and
arrangements of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during the year ended 31 December 2020 or at any time of this period.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 30 and note 19 to the
section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual
report. The remunerations of the Directors are determined based on
the market price and contribution made by such Directors to the
Company. There has been no arrangement under which any Director
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
them to be independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her officer or
otherwise in relation thereto. Provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of such directors or officers. In addition, the Company has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of

Gl
Zx

MR2020%F12A31H ARRIEEREBITH
ABEALTSEBH AR (TERLES M
B ((EBERBEERD ) FEXVE) D -
HERNDEEFTHEQBEZESRAEK
BIZEXVEBE 7 R 8E 7 - AHMEAR T REER
FimERMAR (BEREBEESMNAEKRIE

BRI EFRBIERANBRNAR) 2L
(b) IR IEE N BB 5B 352 RARC BN AR
AEEERMANEREMNAR  H(QREL
MR RIS 10T E T AERETES
R ([REFR ) BHEARF R
B Pre g s AR RIS

Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

Approximate

Company/Name of Number of  percentage of
associated shares held  shareholding
Name Position corporation Capacity (Note 1) (Note 2)
v N FERAEE HREAEI L
e Bz HEEE AR 514 (B=E1) (P5E2)
Ming Zaiyuan (Note 3) Chairman and Executive Company Interest in a controlled  1,752,871,886 (L) 51.65% (L)
AR (HE3) Director ZAYNG] corporation
IRFNTES ZEEEER
Interest in spouse 2,024,000 (L) 0.060% (L)
iRk
Cui Guiyong Non-executive Director Company Beneficial owner 106,360 (L) 0.003% (L)
(resigned on 26 March 2021)  3EHIITES VNG| ERBEA
ERE
(PR 202145 3 B 26 HEHE)
Huang Min Non-executive Director Xinjiang Xintai Beneficial owner 4,288,880 (L) 1.37% (L)
B FTES Natural Gas Co.,  BmB A
Ltd.
HEERRAAR
R BRAF]
Interest in spouse 82,733 (L) 0.026% (L)
iR
Notes: BFE -
1. The letter “L" denotes long position in such shares. 1. FH (LI EZATEE LR T NITE -

A E20205 12 A31 B IEEVR LA 2 L © R 20205
12 A31H - BETRMHEES3,393,582,395 % -

EANAIZERER AR E & EA A AT,752,871,886
MR AR o BB BRIZE AR B PR 2 7] i 29 )| ) 88 BE IR 77
BRRBEEARZEES 1) RIS ERMAEAR
EEARARIESERAARBRMN ER AR BRI o
PELBBESANMBERAARBRNARAH
112,209,124 & B > BB R RARBHER A
AR BT AN 35.78% » HEH AN @] 1,752,871,886
BRRSD o wboh - SEH REEERPIT S - FHEER
782,024,000 AR 19 R A R - s SR M BBA L
ENRBERER ©

2. Approximate percentage of shareholding as at 31 December 2020. As at 31 2.
December 2020, the total number of issued Shares was 3,393,582,395.

3. Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned 1,752,871,886 Shares of the Company. 3.
Liming Holding Limited is entirely controlled by Sichuan Liming Energy
Development Co., Ltd., which in turn is entirely controlled by Xinjiang Xintai Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. Mr. Ming beneficially owned 1,752,871,886 Shares of the Company
through his holding of 112,209,124 shares in Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd,
representing 35.78% of the total issued share capital of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas
Co., Ltd. In addition, Mr. Ming is deemed to be interested in 2,024,000 Shares held
by his spouse for the purposes of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF

THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2020, the following persons (other than the

FERREADTRS - HEKRD
RESZTHEENESZNKXE

R2020F 12310 TIIAT(RRBIES
HEBITHABRIN ERRQBRIEES KB
BERPIF 336 FFEE LM AL - 18R
iy REFREREDIOARIN T

Directors or the chief executives of the Company) have interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying shares or debentures as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity (Note 1) (Note 2)
RGBSR BEREAEIL
BEEE 51 (BizE1) (BizE2)
Liming Holding Ltd. (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,752,871,886 (L) 51.65% (L)
BAFBRERERAF (FE3) EnfEAEA
Sichuan Liming Energy Development Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,752,871,886 (L) 51.65% (L)
) FeRRE R B R EE AR (FTFE3) XEEBEER
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,752,871,886 (L) 51.65% (L)
MEEZRARRNARRA (H3FE3) SRR
Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. (Note 4) (¥ 4) Beneficial owner 601,628,379 (L) 17.73% (L)
EnEAA
Weng Ming (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 601,628,379 (L) 17.73% (L)
S8 (M3E4) XEEEES
Beneficial owner 3,361,000 (L) 0.10% (L)
EnEAA
Shenzhen Tongyu Energy Investment Co. Ltd. (Note 5)  Beneficial owner 180,833,000 (L) 5.33% (L)
RIBREERITEBR AR (FIEES) EnlEBA
Avic Trust Co., Ltd. (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.33% (L)
HAEFERO AR AT (HEES) XEEBEER
Avic Investment Co., Ltd. (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.33% (L)
PR EERBR AR (HFES) SRR
Avic Capital Co., Ltd. (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.33% (L)

RRERERR D BRA A (FFES)

REEE R
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes long position in such shares.
2. Approximate percentage of shareholding as at 31 December 2020.

3. Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned 1,752,871,886 Shares (long position) of
the Company. Liming Holding Limited is entirely controlled by Sichuan Liming
Energy Development Co., Ltd., which in turn is entirely controlled by Xinjiang Xintai
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.

4. Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. beneficially owned 601,628,379 Shares (long
position). Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. is entirely controlled by Mr. Weng Ming,
who beneficially owned 3,361,000 Shares (long position).

5. Shenzhen Tong Yu Energy Investment Co., Ltd. beneficially owned 180,833,000
Shares (long position). Shenzhen Tong Yu Energy Investment Co., Ltd. is entirely
controlled by China AVIC Trust Co.,Ltd.; Avic Trust Co., Ltd. is 82.73% controlled by
AVIC Investment Holding Co., Ltd.; AVIC Investment Holding Co., Ltd. is 73.56%
controlled by Avic Capital Co., Ltd..

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company are aware of any other
person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

In order to incentivize the Directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group and to
attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, the Company
adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme (as defined below).

FERREADRRD - HEKRD
RESHHEENEZNAR @

=
ay

1. FEHILEEELEERTNTR -
2. HZE20205F 12 A31 HIEW#EERBA DL -

3. BEFBZERER AR E=AES 1,752,871,886 A%
B (FE) - BBEFIREIERAGR A RS M F AR
MEERETARZEES : W) FIBHERAER
REAARHFNBERTAKAZRMNER AR 2EE
il o

4. Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. Bz ## 5 601,628,379
f& A% 15 (#F & ) ° Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. &
PEEERELRS RRBEEEREAARA
3,361,000 & 15 (45 &)

5. EYBREERIEE AR AR E A 180,833,000 I%
Bt (47 2&) - FYBBREREERR AR BFRME
FERMDBRA R LR AMETRHER AR
AR EIER AR ARIER8273% 5 « FK
BERRARARBETFMERERBROERARES
73.56% #E 25

Br EXCRTIEEAE SN - R20208 12 A31H » &
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# R EEIRDIE 3B AR BB FE L MATE
R D SRR (D R B R SR B ©

IR BT &)
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) on 31 March 2015, the principal terms (such
as the purpose, participants and consideration for accepting any
options) of which are set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V
to the prospectus of the Company dated 11 June 2015 (the
“Prospectus”).

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is valid from its effective date to the
earlier of the Listing Date or the date of completion of the Pre-IPO
Change of Control and no further options will be granted under it
thereafter. Options granted during the term of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme may be terminated in accordance with any of the
provisions described in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Each option
will lapse on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, but in any event the exercise period of the options shall not
exceed five years from the date of vesting of the relevant options.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to any
person (including exercised and outstanding options) pursuant to the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share compensation
arrangements adopted by the Company shall not exceed 3.0% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

Outstanding Options

For the year ended 31 December 2020, three options were cancelled
and no option was lapsed or exercised. There was no change in the
share options of the Directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates during the
year. As at 31 December 2020, there were 1,734,437 options
outstanding. None of the Directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates held
outstanding options.

As at the date of this annual report, total outstanding options under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were 1,734,437, representing
approximately 0.051% of the issued shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no further options have been or would be

granted by the Company after the Listing Date pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BRAREBENBRESTE @

For the year ended 31 December 2020, movements of the share & ZE2020F 12831 BILFE » X AMHBE

options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are as follows: AIEBIERERT BB TR E S B BB T -

Number
Number of Shares
of Shares represented  Approximate
represented by options  percentage of
Exercise by Options Exercised Lapsed Cancelled asat issued shares
Name of Price  at 1 January during the during the during the 31 December of the Vesting Exercise
Share Option Grantees! Date of Grant (Us$) 2020 period® period period 2020 Company* Period? Period®
BRER BRER
20205 20205 [T
1818 12B31A ERfT
TE i ARES  RONES
BREARAZRY RiHAH (%) BROEE HREFES  BREAN  HREEH RAB#E BatY HEA Ese
Other employees of 31 March 2015 and 0151 1,734,440 - - 3 1734431 0.051% Please see Please see
the Company 5 June 2015 note 2below  note 3 below
FRFEMER 1563A318K 0.151 F2HTX EEHTX
015%6A58 EY) M3
Total 1,734,440 - - 3 1,734,437 0.051%
ast

Notes: FiEE -

1. Prior to the Listing, certain of the grantees have transferred their options to 1. REWA —LEREARADRBEAAFES
companies wholly-owned by them, in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option AIfE IR 2RI 2 B A B A R 8 R LB ARE -
Scheme. During 2020, there were 2 employees (not being a director, chief executive 20206 - RBEHALHEEABRIEASIFESR
or substantial shareholder of the Company or their respective associates) holding BREAHARMEEE IFEARRES - HETBA
share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and as at 31 December B TERRNSHEZTENBHEA) - RHZE2020
2020, one of them ceased to be an employee. F12A3NHEP—ZEECEHE -
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

BRAHBEANERESTE @

B (48)

Unvested options granted to the grantees pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme vested as follows:

(a) 50% of the Share Options shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate of (i)
one half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if
the relevant date on which the employment relationship between the
Company (the "Employment Date") is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i)
one third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant
Employment Date if such date is after 1 January 2014; and

(b) 50% of the Share Options shall be KPI-linked (the “KPI-linked Options”) and
shall be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of the three KPIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of
one (i) half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015
if the relevant Employment Date is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) one
third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant
Employment Date if such date is after 1 January 2014 pursuant to the
following payout schedule:

(1) 100% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI
Target is met; or

2) if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked
Options shall vest if 80% of the Relevant KPI Target is met and an
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest for each 1%
further improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the
performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of
the improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished.

For the purposes of above, “KPIs" refer to (i) EBITDA, (ii) Reserves; and (iii) All-in
Unit Cost. "KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and Reserves) or
105% (in the case of All-in-Unit Cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by
the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year,
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for
any unvested KPI-linked Options shall be determined by the Board or the
Committee as delegated by the Board.

RIBERAFEEENBAE 8 R TBEEAR
ARREBBREEAEZIA T A 5RE

(a) 50% # i A HE (1) B 2015451 B 1 B (AN SR EE AR
AREERERENEBEA S (EEAH)
A2014F 1 A1B R Z A1) BT S 12E A H
ERESEIR =S 2 — (1/2) DI © 5
(i) B FE R E % A 23 (R 5% B H57£ 20141
B1BZ#) B E128 A BERERSEE
=92z—(R)MLLHIFEE UKk

(b)  50%HIEE AR /A B R GR R AE R IR N ([ B 88
EBEEEHNBRED T EESR=50"
BHE-(ABRRESEER(EER T2 —
B WARBA T F#EE () 2015F 14
18 (B RE B B Hi1E2014491 B1H 2 A1)
BEREASBE =S 2—(1/2) WPl
B k(i) HARIE 1 B B (AR 1% B e
20144F 1 A1 B2 t&) Est 81218 A BfZR=
H2— /3PS -

M wEEEREEEREEEEEE
AU R R A R 2 S
LR

@  WAREEREKARERERXEREZER
1B3EK80% » BIRISE X AR IR R EMARE
iR — R E - MaRRERARE
FEHEERE 1% AEFRENEGEB
2.5% M RAB IR IR IR R AR ANAE < (B
INRAERI RIS AR 1R 1R B R EI R
WRREEBI100% - Q&% H 10%H
ZEMREEERERREAFAR
STREKNEMAREEEREED
RERE ©

BEXTE - BABEE BT IEOEBITDA : (N E
VAR (Giii) B A B A AR [ AR RZ B ()&
EESHERBTENTE LEFSIRBE i)
BEFELETFELET 8 RFEE R AT RIER
BEFERZHAHEMS% (W AEBITDAKEE)
5 105% (MR AR EBAKAR) - WHEEZEEESH
A o ATARERBRRR EE BT AR RIE -
EHEFENEFEETNEEGRE -

Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in the Pre-IPO Share Option 3, MR B RN B B B B AR 5T B ATl 0 (E T 42 AT 4%
Scheme, each option shall expire on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share IF BPEREBNE R ARBEERBERETSIE
Option, provided that in no event, shall the Exercise Period of an Option exceed THRENBHER  BEBOABRENTTFERY
five years from the date upon which the relevant option has vested. TEBBHRBIREREE HREDFIUAA -

Approximate percentage of issued Shares of the Company is calculated by dividing 4. HARAREBEITROBOARLE DL - IEAEERRE

the options held by the relevant grantees by the issued and outstanding Shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2020.

ERABBRNERERIL2020F12 A31AE %17
MARBITHRMDETE -

BRAMBEABRE SN MR A
REiE -

Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.
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POST-IPO RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted a post-IPO restricted share unit scheme (the
"Post-IPO RSU Scheme”) on 5 June 2015, which took effect on the
Listing Date, a summary of the principal terms (such as the purpose,
participants) of which is set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Post-IPO RSU Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.

The Post-IPO RSU Scheme is valid and effective for a term of 10 years
from 5 June 2015 (the “Scheme Period”), after which period no further
RSUs shall be granted or accepted, but the provisions of such scheme
shall remain in full force and effect in order to give effect to the vesting
of RSUs granted and accepted prior to the expiration of the Scheme
Period.

The Post-IPO RSU Scheme Limit may be refreshed from time to time
subject to prior Shareholders’ approval, but in any event, the total
number of Shares that may underlie the RSUs granted following the
date of approval of the refreshed limit (the “New Approval Date")
under the limit as refreshed from time to time must not exceed 2% of
the number of Shares in issue as at the New Approval Date.

On 18 December 2015, the Company granted an aggregate of
41,234,696 restricted share units (“RSUs"”) to certain connected
grantees and non-connected grantees of the Group pursuant to the
Post-IPO RSU Scheme. Subsequently the grant of RSUs to three
connected grantees was approved by the independent shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 22 January 2016. On 31
January 2016, an aggregate of 19,865,199 RSUs were accepted by the
connected grantees and an aggregate of 21,199,297 RSUs were
accepted by the non-connected grantees, respectively.

On 24 March 2017, the Board granted an aggregate of 26,333,182
RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected grantees of
the Group pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. Subsequently the
grant of RSUs to six connected grantees was approved by the
independent shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 9 May 2017. On 31 May 2017, an aggregate of 26,333,182 RSUs were
accepted by the relevant grantees.
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POST-IPO RSU SCHEME (Continued)

At the 2019 AGM, a specific mandate was granted to the Directors to
exercise all the powers of the Company to grant RSUs pursuant to the
Post-IPO RSU Scheme in respect of the underlying Shares not
exceeding 2% (i.e. the Directors were authorized to exercise the
powers of the Company to grant the RSUs involving a maximum
number of 67,871,647 underlying Shares) of the Shares in issue as at
the date of the 2019 AGM (without taking into account any Shares to
be allotted and issued upon exercise of the share options granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme) during the period from the
date of approving the Mandate at that meeting up to the conclusion of
the next AGM.

OUTSTANDING RSUs AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2020, no RSUs have been granted,
vested, lapsed or cancelled. As at 31 December 2020, there were no
outstanding RSUs.

As at the date of this annual report, pursuant to the specific mandate
obtained by the Board, the total number of securities available for
issue under the Scheme were 67,871,647, representing approximately
2.0% of the issued shares. However, this specific mandate will expire at
the conclusion of the 2020 AGM.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted
at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules),
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules),
to acquire such rights in acquisition of any other body corporate for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had entered into connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions which are exempt from the relevant disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2020. The transactions were entered into in the
ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms. Details
are set out in note 26 to the Section headed "“Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out in note 26 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

The related party transactions as set out in note 26 to the section head
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report is fall under
the definition of fully exempt “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained the sufficiency of public float as required
under the Listing Rules at all times for the year ended 31 December
2020 and as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or likely to compete with the business of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND

COMPLIANCE MATTERS
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company was not engaged

in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatened against the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company obtained all the
material licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the development
stage of Panzhuang concession; and for the Southern area of Mabi
concession (131 sg km), except for the mining license which is still
pending, all material licenses have been obtained. Application for
material licenses in respect of the Northern area of Mabi concession,
such as the submission of “3 in 1" proposal and environmental
assessment report, has commenced in 2020 and has been progressing
well.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this
report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with applicable laws and regulations in all material respects.

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The management believes that talent is the basis for corporate
development. Through the echelon building of talents and the
development of employee training system, the Group provides a
platform and assistance for the development of employees’ personal
potential and career path. In addition, the Group provides its
employees with competitive remuneration packages and various
benefits in line with industry practice. At the same time, the Group
creates a good working environment, and establishes teamwork spirit
among employees. The Group regularly reviews human resources
policies to ensure that the policies align with market practice and
comply with regulatory requirements. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group employed 487 employees (including five disabled persons), with
one of them based in Hong Kong. The total employee benefit
expenses (excluding termination compensation) for 2020 was
approximately RMB73 million. Details are set out in note 19 to the
section headed “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”of this
annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2020

Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report, there were no subsequent events
between the end of the reporting period and the date of this annual
report that would have a material impact on the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Information on the environmental, social and governance aspects of
the Company will be prepared based on the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules. The environmental, social and governance report of the
Group will be published no later than 5 months after the financial year
ended 31 December 2020. The Group has established an ESG working
group under the Board. The working group consists of five members,
of which the leader (or person in charge) is served by an independent
non-executive director. The working group reports to the Board and is
accountable to the Board, it is mainly responsible for formulating ESG
strategies for the Company and monitoring the enforcement; reviewing
the progress of ESG objectives; implementing quarterly examinations;
supervising the operating system to ensure its continued effectiveness;
and reviewing and auditing the ESG report, etc.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group's risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters with the
management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Policy”) aims to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Principles and Guidelines

The Board adopts the policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well as
its shareholder value.

ERER
ANARTRACEDARROENRRAEF

HIEEEARSE] —#f-

RIE HERER

ARRBRRE @ MEATEHNER KR
IE EmRAIMT SR 27 RECRE - e RER
WERIDEH - AEEMRE LB RER
MEBHTEREZ2020F12 A31 HIEW B F
BRERKSEAATE AEESEMKIR
BRAREEEMESG TIEHE - TIFEABAS
B - ERARSBAEEAR —RBULIFE
WITESEL - TFARTRESSERIL Y
EFERRE  TEARFITERRESG A RE
REMITIEN - MATESG BIREE  BigFE
Ziz BREBETBRUEREFERN &M
KMIZEESGHRES -

BEREZEENER
ENEZE SO EMASEMRANS TR R
BE - VHRERENW I ASENERBRERE -
NN ERESH - BEREEEHEE
FAEEHE2020F12 831 B IEFENKE
A IS HRE

EXPBERER
MERELME - HA - BEREERHRT
R A RN B B AR - 2
HANER -

N

ARBZBRBBER (BE]) & E&8FIA QA H
AARBBERE IR &N D KA R RIS
AT e eV R A R 3E 5l -

FRI R4S

EEZRERBEE  EERMZER/AN
NARER MR CREEATEREEEESE
KEARRIERAMEBREE -

DEEREBRERLAR/ 225 FR 71




Report of the Directors
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

Principles and Guidelines (Continued)

The Company intends to distribute no less than 25% of its annual net
profits as dividends to its shareholders, subject to the conditions and
factors as set out below.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company, subject to the articles of association of
the Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors
set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

financial results;
o cash flow situation;
° business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of Shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

J any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions
and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board for a financial year or period:

J interim dividend;

° final dividend;

o special dividend; and

J any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

Principles and Guidelines (Continued)

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders'’
approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Review of the Policy
The Board will review the Policy as appropriate from time to time.

AUDITORS

There have been no changes of auditors in the past three years.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for their
outstanding contribution towards the Group’s development. The
Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their dedication
and diligence, and they are the key factors for the Group to continue
its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for
the continued support from its Shareholders, customers, and business
partners. The Group will continue to deliver sustainable business
development, so as to meet its business objectives for 2021 and realize
higher values for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
26 March 2021

REBUER (&)

ERIREE (&)

(] B T 4 A< 0 o R AR S S B A AR Bt
o

RRAFANEFERREEN T AT IR MR
BB RS AR B AT -

ERIR RIS 0L I N AR IR AN 1 =) AR
AESRART -

B BER
EESHEEEBN T IR R EBER -

3 ¢l
EBEZFF  REABES -

Bt
AEBRORIAAEETHAEEBERAIED
MEHER - EFSHEEBENERIBRR
HEOHE  EERERARE B REEERK
DHBEREAE - ARBHIFFRHBR  BP
KSR — B RIS R - AR A EE
TARBEBRRE  EHEER2021FNER
BiR RREREGESSBEAEESE
(& o

RERERE

FERBITEF
HEER

BB
202143 A 26 H

DEEREBRERLAR/ 225 FR 73




Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Review Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance our corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code") contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) as its own code of corporate governance. The
Company has complied with all applicable provisions under the CG
Code during the year ended 31 December 2020. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to

ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company's affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
and a working group under the Board, namely the Audit Committee
(the "Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”), the Nomination Committee (the
“Nomination Committee"”) and the strategic development committee
(the “Strategic Development Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”) and the ESG Working Group. The Board has delegated
to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective

terms of reference.

The Board's composition is in compliance with the requirements under
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-
executive directors must represent at least one-third of the Board. The
Board believes that the balance between executive Directors and the
non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including one executive director and chairman of the Board, two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan

Executive Directors
Mr. Yan Danhua (President)
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Vice President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Huang Min (appointed on 27 March 2020)
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021)
Ms. Gu Ren (resigned on 27 August 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

The biographies of the current Directors are set out under the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Saved as disclosed in this annual report (if any), to the knowledge of
the Directors, the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material relationship with each other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Strategic Development Committee and
the ESG Working Group.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company's performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to perform
their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company and the lawyers engaged by the
Company have from time to time updated and provided written
training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
Director.
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EREB®E

THE BOARD (Continued)

Induction and Continuous Professional Development for

Directors (Continued)

During the Review Period, all Directors have participated in continuous

professional development by attending training courses and/or

referring materials on the topics related to the Group's business,

corporate governance and regulations on the roles, functions and

duties of a Director of a listed company:

BEEE ()

ESHRBNSEERRRE ()

EOESA  2REFTRB2MM LEE
BEAAKEES - LHAREFEAG ik
BEMEBNCEERMEENEIIREM X
Mk N2ESEEERER

Attending
expert briefings/
seminars/
conferences/
on-line courses

relevant to
Reading the business of
regulatory the Group or
Name of Director update  directors’ duties
2mEEAER
EBREEHE
ZERERE
TNV V4
EENE HEBRNEEER R ERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) ABEREE(FE) v v
Mr. Yan Danhua BFHEE SR L v v
Mr. Zhang Jianbing SR A v v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Huang Min =HEL v v
(appointed on 27 March 2020) (PR 20205F 3 A 27 HEZRE)
Dr. Cui Guiyong EEBET v v
(resigned on 26 March 2021) (P2 20214 3 A 26 BEHE)
Ms. Gu Ren BRIt v -
(resigned on 27 August 2020) (P2 20204F 8 A 27 BB {E)
Independent non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander R A v v
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng =31 v v
Dr. Yang Ruizhao B AE L v v
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement or a letter of appointment with the Company. There are
currently seven members in the Board, the term of service for each of
them is three years from the date of appointment or re-appointment.
Such term is subject to re-election by the Company at an annual
general meeting upon retirement. The Articles provide that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board
shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
Besides, any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election. In accordance with the Articles, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one third of the Directors for the time being
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

The Board's composition is in compliance with the requirements under
Rule 3.10 A of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-
executive Directors must represent at least one-third of the Board. The
Board believes that the balance between the executive Directors and
the non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient checks and balance that safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the Group.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Ming Zaiyuan, Mr. Yan Danhua and

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng shall retire by rotation and being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

General Meetings

During the Review Period, a general meeting, being the 2019 AGM,

BEEE ()
BEASYE

EREHA - 8177 —RBRRAS SR

2019

was held and the attendance of the individual Directors at the meeting EERBEFFAE  SESFHFEIASHDNE
is set out in the table below: MR
Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EENR BREE T HERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) PERSE(FE) 1”7
Mr. Yan Danhua B SHEE S A 11
Mr. Zhang Jianbing by itas 1”1
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Huang Min (appointed on 27 March 2020) R A (FR 20204 3 A 27 HEZ ) 171
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021) EREBSA (R2021F3 A26 HEHE) 11
Ms. Gu Ren (resigned on 27 August 2020) EF) 2+ (72020498 A 27 BET) 0/1

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

BYFHTES
FERLE
BB
o=
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or committee members three days before
the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the
papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When directors
or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman of the Board prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.
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THE BOARD (Continued) 3 {C))
Board Meetings (Continued) Exsgem(E)

During the Review Period, four board meetings were held and the
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in

the table below:

EOEHAN EFERTTORER BEF
HEELEZRNBERL TR

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BEHRE W HERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) PERSE(FE) a/4
Mr. Yan Danhua BRFESELE 4/4
Mr. Zhang Jianbing by itas 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Huang Min (appointed on 27 March 2020) R A (FR 20204 3 A 27 HEZ ) 3/3
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021) EREBSA (R2021F3 A26 HEHE) 4/4
Ms. Gu Ren (resigned on 27 August 2020) EEF 1 (72020498 A 27 BET) 3/3
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HER AL 4/4
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng Eilli= S 4/4
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BinAEL 4/4

ARAEETELSLMARAMETEEA2T
RzHE  DEARNEHRTESTSTFEET
FRTEFSE  UWRILTREREHNE
EZe LK ERE AR REITIER

Our Company held a meeting attended by the chairman of the Board
and independent non-executive Directors during the Review Period in
compliance with requirements under Rule A.2.7 of Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules to discuss and consider duties and roles of the Board and

its relevant members as well as their performance during the Reporting

Period.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the president of the Company are
currently two separate positions held by Mr. Ming Zaiyuan as the
chairman of the Board and Mr. Yan Danhua as the president, with clear
distinction in responsibilities. The chairman of the Board is responsible
for providing strategic advice and guidance on the business
development of the Group, while the president is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Group.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings
in the Company's securities. No incident of non-compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was noted
by the Company during the Review Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision-making authorities on all major
matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’'s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

82 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

BEExgm

EFRRITHEAR
BECEEATABRRBA2IERT 5
SITHARMBESEHH W nTRATE
o

RAFEFETFERAREER AW EB LB
i DRRPABEELEEEESESTE A&
FELELRERREE > D TEHARE -EF
R AEMAREEBRREHRBE AN
BE MARRRREEEEATES -

EFHERZHZEESFA
RABERER T AR E 2 [ =W
BOIANEFETEFRHIRETH]] ([ZEESF
A DEAEESRETESF R HRTTE &M
TRESHEBTEEAR  IBESERES
REZE2020F12 A31 HIFFEE DB TIZEST
BIFTER A IR EAZ2E o

ARFEREEARAESFBAEFEARTR
NEBEENEBE TETHESRRS  HlET
—EMERFRETRNERES (BT EEE
511) - EEEMARRBREREBREREER
BTEMEEIMNEMEE -

ExeRE
EEeREUARAMAEZRTHARTER
BRIEMEEMERRER BRRB LA
B ANEZEMEAREERS  BEARH (L
HEPEMNGER)  BBER ZREEFER
HthEAMBMELEE - EFAHEBETRE
REKBYEXER - HEAER B AR A
o ARAHBEEEBORAABTSNE
B ABIWREEITEG



Corporate Governance Report

EREB®E

THE BOARD (Continued)
Delegation by the Board (Continued)
The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are

delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and

responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to

be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions

entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance

duties include:

(a)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the
Company and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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TEERRE
THE BOARD (Continued) EEE 0
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EEREREBAESTMH

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for  ARAR AT AEEBEEZL SR EIE A BH
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior HHBEEY T —ETLHEMAAFHENREK -
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the &R BEEARFFE#H E 2020412 A 31 BBl
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 30  EHFHNARFR [ S FIEHRRN T — &M=
to the section headed “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” 30 °

of this annual report.

The remuneration of the senior management who were senior W2020F 12 A3 BEAREBSREEED
management of the Group as at 31 December 2020 is within the SREEABNGHEENT
following bands:

Number of Individuals

A
Emolument bands HoEE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 # 7T % 1,500,000 % 7T 6
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T & 2,000,000 % 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 % 7T Z 2,500,000 45 7T 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7T & 4,000,000 % 7T 1
9
Directors’ Liability Insurance EEEER
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of AR BIEREE A EEEAERFABETEH
legal action against its Directors. BH R ©
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises
three members, namely Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander and Dr. Liu
Xiaofeng, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Huang
Min, the non-executive Director. The chairman is Mr. Tai Kwok Leung
Alexander, who confirmed that he possesses appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board,;

2. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

3. to review the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
Company'’s financial reporting system, internal control system
and risk management system and associated procedures,
including the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company'’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, reports to the Board on any material
issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EEZEE®)

Audit Committee (Continued) EREEE(H)

During the Review Period, six meetings of the Audit Committee were  ERIFEEHAN - BREEGHRIT T /NN EE © &

held to discuss and consider the following matters: SmWEHE T — =1\

. reviewed audit plan of the Company and its subsidiaries for the o HEH AR REMB AT 2019FEE
year of 2019; sHEl

e reviewed annual results, internal audit report, auditors’ e  EEAQATREMEDFEZE2019F 12

remuneration, engagement conditions, independence and terms
of reference of the Audit Committee of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the period ended 31 December 2019,

J reviewed the unaudited financial information of the Company e

and its subsidiaries for the three months ended 31 March 2020;

o reviewed interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for e

the period ended 30 June 2020, execution of their risk
management and internal control system for the first half of 2020
and considered “Risk Management Procedures” etc,;

J reviewed the unaudited financial information of the Company e

and its subsidiaries for the nine months ended 30 September
2020; and

° reviewed the 2020 audit plan, 2020 internal review and the e

remedy for deficiencies in internal control of the Company and its
subsidiaries in 2019.
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& ZHEE - BRAGE B
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ERARNB REN B R REZE 202059
A30BIENEARMKRETHEE A
5

EMARNR REKME AR 2020F EEL
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The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set out in S E/IEZEZESKEMHELEERE TE -

the table below:

Attended/
Members of the Audit Committee Eligible to attend
EREEERE BRI ERE
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (Chairman) BEREE(EE) 6/6
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng Elli=T: S 6/6
Mr. Huang Min (appointed on 27 August 2020) EHUE A (R 202058 A 27 BEZ () 2/2
Ms. Gu Ren (resigned on 27 August 2020) AR 221 (7 2020 4F 8 A 27 HET) 4/4

Pursuant to the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, the Audit IRIBDHEEATAKKECIIKRT - B
Committee should meet with the Company’s auditors at least twice a ZE®EBFELEARAZEENSHEANX
year. During the Review Period, the Company had met the auditors ~ fEEIEEHAA - RAGIE A Z BRI S E X o

twice.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, namely Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Zhang Jianbing, the executive Director. Dr. Liu Xiaofeng is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
determined by the Board,;

3. to adopt the code provision B.1.2(ii) by making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. These include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions of
the Group;

6. to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8. to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed and discussed the performance evaluation and an
analysis of bonus distribution and staff cost for the year 2019;

o reviewed remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and
senior management;

o reviewed and discussed the suspension of granting of share
option incentive; and

. reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee.
The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is

set out in the table below:

Members of the Remuneration Committee

BEEZEE W

FHESS (®)

WIS B & 1 TR 4 E AR R AR A A
BT A 2 o

E@EEHHP\? FMZEERITT —REFH N
u I%ﬁ%»(T%IE\

o  EREFAW2019FERRAMER L
SRR AIRADHT

s EREREZLSATEAENHHK
R

o  ERNMWEEETHOBMENE &

Attended/
Eligible to attend

FMESERE ERHETTHERE
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (Chairman) RlEigtE L (EE) 1/1
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERSE 1/
Mr. Zhang Jianbing B v 11
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members, being Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Ming Zaiyuan, the executive Director and chairman of the Board. Mr.
Ming Zaiyuan is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer; and

5. toreview the Board diversity policy and the Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to assume the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) BEEZEEW

Nomination Committee (Continued) REZEE(H)

During the Review Period, a meeting of the Nomination Committee  fERIEEEAAN @ B REE@RITT —REH - U
was held to discuss and consider the following matters: Mk EaE A NEIE

o reviewed the structure, size, composition and the Board diversity o EZEETOMNERE - /\§5( A% T
policy and its implementation; bR REBMITIENR

. reviewed and considered election, retirement and re-election of e EZWEEEEAER  REMER
Directors;

o reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee; . EZIRELEEeNEZmMBESE

° reviewed the independence of independent non-executive e EBT IEMITEENB L AL
Directors; and

*  reviewed the resignation and appointment of Directors. s BREFHINEFEME-

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are 12RZ%E B2/ E mE B S B /LB T R AN T
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. B A HER] -

The attendance record of the Nomination Committee members is set RIEZLEZEEKENHELLHERE TEK
out in the table below:

Attended/
Members of the Nomination Committee Eligible to attend
REZEEERE BERHE W ERE
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) REELEE(FE) 1”7
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng B iEiE+ 171
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERTE 11
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Strategic Development Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Strategic Development
Committee consists of three members, being Dr. Yang Ruizhao and
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Yan Danhua, the executive Director. Dr. Yang
Ruizhao is the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee.

The principal duties of the Strategic Development Committee include
the following:

1. to review and evaluate the investment strategies, annual
investment plan(s) and the relevant risk management policy of
the Company and make recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and evaluate the investment opportunities of the
Company and issue opinion for long-term development plan
(including mergers and acquisition, joint venture and equity
investments) and make recommendations to the Board;

3. to review and evaluate significant investment projects pursued
under the Company’s investment strategy and annual investment
plan, review and approve the issue of non-binding indicative
offers or letter of intent, and make recommendations to the
Board on final proposals of significant investment projects;

4. to review and assess, in addition to new opportunities, the
ongoing investment strategy, technical merits and risks
associated with existing development and exploration projects,
including the annual reserve and resource assessments and make
recommendations to the Board;

5. tosupervise the implementation of the above-mentioned matters
duly approved by the Board and assess periodically the
Company’s capacity to conduct technical work and the
Company's approach in managing technical risk associated with
above matters;

6. to advise management from time to time on the engagement of
appropriate external financial and technical advisors in
connection with material acquisitions or divestitures, including a
review of the terms of their proposed compensation; and

7. other matters as delegated by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Strategic Development Committee (Continued)

The written terms of reference of the Strategic Development
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

During the Review Period, a meeting of Strategic Development
Committee was held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed the reports relating to reserve estimation, technical
challenges and development direction of the Company;

o reviewed the reports relating to strategic consideration and
development; and

J reviewed the terms of reference of the Strategic Development
Committee.

The attendance record of the Strategic Development Committee
members is set out in the table below:
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Attended/
Members of the Strategic Development Committee Eligible to attend
BRERZEERE BERLE ATHERE
Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Chairman) B AIEL (EE) 1/1
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021) EHEBEL (12021443 A26 BEHT) 1/1
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BER L 1/
Mr. Yan Danhua (appointed on 26 March 2021) B EE S (FR20214F3 26 B IERT) 0/0

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

The composition of the Board (includes gender, age, cultural and
educational background, profession, experience, skills and knowledge),
which is characterized by significant diversity, is disclosed in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management”.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect
of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The Board is also
aware of the fact that such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management form the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
the risk management function, comprised of Legal, HSE departments
etc., aiming to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective
risk management practices by operational management throughout
the Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company’s risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken
into account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these
risks. The risk assessment results are reported to senior management
and the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been
appropriately managed and decide on our priorities in risk
management, based on the Company’s risk appetite, and in particular
how much risks the Company is willing to take for the achievement of
its strategy and business objectives, the availability of resources for risk
mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(Continued)

The Company’s internal control system is based on Internal Control —
Integrated Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission, and has five components, namely
Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Information
and Communication, and Monitoring Activities. The system intends to
facilitate the design and functioning of good control practices and
reduce the likelihood and impact of risks to an acceptably low level, in
order for us to achieve our objectives in operations, reporting, and
compliance.

Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statuses are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

During the Review Period, the Company upgraded its internal control
system starting from corporate governance, organisation structure and
business process through risk identification and assessment, thereby
reducing operational risk while further enhancing operational efficiency
of the Company at the same time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Internal Audit Function

In order to enhance the Company’s adaptability to the business
environment, The Company established the Risk Control and
Compliance Department, which is responsible for providing effective
legal professional support for various legal matters of the Company,
handling corporate information disclosure and legal compliance
management, as well as providing value-added internal audit and
consulting services for independent review, in January 2021 by merging
the functions of the former Legal Affairs Department, the Board of
Directors’ Office and the Audit and Supervision Department. The
internal audit function reports to the Company Secretary in respect of
administration and directly to the Board and the Audit Committee in
respect of operation. The internal audit function still has the
independence required to conduct audit business.

The Company’s internal audit function plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes, i.e., to
provide independent assurance that the Company’s risk management,
governance and internal control processes are operating effectively.
The major tasks of this function include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company'’s governance, risk management and
internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of the
Company and its subsidiaries on a regular basis with recommended
action plans to audit findings. This function also provides consulting
services in risk management and internal control related issues within
the Company.

During the review period, The Company’s internal audit function
conducted annual independent full scope risk assessment update and
internal audit for selected areas, and reported to the management and
the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Our Systems
The Company prepares and submits reports to the Board in relation to
risk and control at least annually, detailing how risks have been
managed and internal controls been designed and implemented in
accordance with the established risk and control frameworks, to keep
our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and achieve our business
objectives. The Board reviews the reasonableness of these reports and
representations from management and makes sufficient enquiries
whenever they feel necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

During the Review Period, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Company's risk management and internal control
systems with the application of the above review process, and
considered our risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate in both design and operations.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), for audit and other services totaled RMB3,150,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to PwC is set out
below:
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

2020
2020
RMB’'000
AR® T

Auditors’ remunerations ZEENE A
— Audit Service — B IR 3,150
— The Company — KA F] 2,900
— Subsidiaries — WBAF 250
— Non-audit services — B RTE -
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ming King from Vistra Hong Kong, an external service
provider, has been engaged by the Company as its company secretary.
The primary corporate contact persons at the Company are Mr. Zhang
Jianbing, an executive Director and Ms. Su Xiaohang, a joint company
secretary. Please refer to the section headed "Directors and Senior
Management” for details of both Mr. Zhang and Ms. Su.

During the Review Period, Mr. Chiu and Ms. Su undertook at least 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and
nonselective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to
answer Shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company
will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
Shareholders and maintains a website at http://www.aagenergy.com/,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM") by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. An EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The Directors shall within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene such meeting. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders of
the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles and the Cayman Islands Law (2016
Revision). Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meeting may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are published on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board and Contact Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send their
enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit 2506, 25/F

Cosco Tower

183 Queen'’s Road Central, Sheung Wan
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

xiaohang.su@aagenergy.com

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has not made any other significant changes to its
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Email:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of AAG Energy Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
110 to 181, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,;

and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the

Code.

-

i o Rk, Kk 18

B AR E
BEXERERERAITKRR (E)
(RESBBIMAK LR L A])

RRNER
HMERBEEEGHASRMHAKEBE
BRDEITERE - RAIEZFENTAENE
EEEARE [ZBENLER & M mET A
EWEE] B EE— Mt -

BAEME - RPIMESERE LR T LB
B RERAINEA BRI MEE -

Bt
REEEGHMASRMAKEESAER
SAD(ATEEISFRAD  ZMABLRES
 WEETSTRIFMEMERBRAL -

DEEREBRERLAR/ 225 FR 101




Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BAT R

_a

pwec

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to:
J Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets and gas

properties, gas gathering stations and relating facilities and
constructions in progress.

-
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRBEITER MBS NAEERARENSE

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets ("E&E Assets”) and gas properties, gas gathering stations and
relating facilities and constructions in progress (collectively the “Relevant Gas Assets")

BRERFMEEENAARREE  SRUREBRENEEZIR (EB [ XRRAREFEE ) WRE

Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. In addressing this matter, we have performed the
A2HA I BERERMTTS - following procedures:

FREEBESAFET  RAMITTUATRERSF

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of E&E

Assets and Relevant Gas Assets of the Group amounted to  ® Understood and assessed the design,
683.0 million and 3,305.0 million (31 December 2019: 646.3 implementation effectiveness of key process and
million and 3,070.4 million), respectively. controls relating to the identification of impairment
R2020F 12 A31 B AEBEOHRLFHEEMRAR indicator, determination of cash generating units
HEEEREEES R A683088 ARKEM3305.088 and the assessment of the recoverable amount.

AR (2019F12A31H : 6463 B & ARKER3 07048 o TR HEBIELRETR HTHeELE
BARE) - 7T R 5T A AT YR [ & 58 A6 8 oY 4 i A2 R AR 8 2 4l 9

RETRIITHI AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
ARETEE

B AR E
BEXERERERAITKRR (E)
(REIESHBFME L BRAE])

BEEETEE W)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNNEERARETSE

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets ("E&E Assets”) and gas properties, gas gathering stations and
relating facilities and constructions in progress (collectively the “Relevant Gas Assets"”) (Continued)

BRERFLEEENAARREE  SRUREBRENEZIRE (GB [ XRRAREFEE ) WRER ()

Management assessed E&E Assets and Relevant Gas
Assets for impairment whenever there are events or
changes in circumstance which indicate that the carrying
amounts of these assets may exceed their recoverable
amounts.
ERESEHRREZ(CRRYRNMFHEEEMRARERM
BEMNEHEEVEBEET KON  BEESHE
REFHEEEMRARBEEEETRERN S -

When indicators of impairment of E&E Assets or Relevant
Gas Assets were identified, management assessed the
recoverable amounts of the cash generating units based
on their value in use as estimated using discounted cash
flow models. In performing such assessment, management
adopted key assumptions, including:
IR MR EEMRAREAEERRETRE#RE -
ERBUERTRRRENEESENAEREERE
RUBCESETH AT WO ERETE - EEEZIERT
b BRERATUTERERE

—  Forecast gas prices;

—  FBRHRARER

Evaluated management’s assessment of whether
events or circumstances existed at 31 December
2020, which would indicate that E&E Assets or
Relevant Gas Assets are impaired.

AR EIREH N 2020F 12 A31 B R B FE Al e R
TEREFEEEMRAREEEERENFIAR
RIBEC TR ©

Where an impairment indicator was identified by
management, procedures were performed on their
impairment assessment, as below:
EERERSILFEEERENRE  AIEHEER
T ERERHEIZ -

—  Compared the forecast gas prices used in the
determination of the recoverable amount of
respective cash generating unit against
historical actual gas prices;

— HEEBAENEEENESEESETM KD
SRS RANTRANRAREBREEE L ERX
RREBIREITHE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT BIAZEEN®RE
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HEXGERERERATRR(E)
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued) (REEHREFMATHBERAA)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) HRETEE G
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HRETEE BN ETNNEEFARETSE

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets ("E&E Assets”) and gas properties, gas gathering stations and
relating facilities and constructions in progress (collectively the “Relevant Gas Assets"”) (Continued)

BRERFEEENARAREE  SRUREBRENEZIRE (GB [ XRRAREFEE ) WRE ()

—  Forecast production volumes; — Assessed the forecast production volume by
— FEAMEES: comparing it against (i) the approved production
plan for the year ending 31 December 2021; (ii)
—  Forecast operating costs and capital expenditures; forecast production volume for the remaining
and concession period prepared by the management,
—  TERMAEMSZHEAMEARMESE & which is consistent to the information set out in the
reserve report; and (iii) historical actual production
—  Discount rates. volume. We also performed procedures to evaluate
—  PEE- the competence, capability and objectivity of
external reserve experts engaged by management
Because of the significant balance of E&E Assets and for preparing the reserve report;
Relevant Gas Assets as at 31 December 2020, together — #FEAIMNE S M) ENEZE2021F12A31H
with the use of significant management judgements over IEFEMEES : (VBB EEENRGBRERHR
various assumptions in estimating the recoverable amount, NWFBRES ZESHITHRH#EEREPHNER
we have identified this matter as a key audit matter. —B R(NELERESETLR - LHETEAR
ERHREFEEEMRAREEEEN2020F 12 A 31 EE- i RMEEMRETFHEREERNRE
HRBEEEBEHESEXN  UREHZEEEEN KL S REMENINBERNEEL - BE I RFTEHLE
HEITHER SRR ARRFTREREENEIREHE - 1T

BRI RS RRERESFE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT BIAZEEN®RE
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HEXGERERERATRR(E)
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued) (REEHREFMATHBERAA)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) HRETEE G
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREGTER BN ETNNEEFARETSE

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets ("E&E Assets”) and gas properties, gas gathering stations and
relating facilities and constructions in progress (collectively the “Relevant Gas Assets") (Continued)

BRERFLEENARREE  SRUREBERENEZIRE (GB [ XRRAREFEE ) WRE ()

—  Assessed the forecast operating costs against (i) the
approved budget; and (ii) the historical actual costs;

— BEANKEM RS ENTEE  RG)ESL
BRI HEITHEE

—  Compared the forecast capital expenditures against
(i) the approved budget; and (ii) the historical actual

costs;
— BEAMERMSZ HEGSHIENTEE - R()EL
BB HEITRE

—  Compared the discount rate with external market
data and published information of comparable
companies;

—  BIEREIINEETHIHERMA LR R QFRESE
1TEL®

—  Tested mathematical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow projections.

—  AEFRIRERETERFTE R EREE -

Based on our work, no significant exception has been
noticed.

ERBMNITHE  RERERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

B B S Ot MR AR

&30

STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

HEEEMERA SRR EERIE
SRR REN SR -

HEERARELESTERNREN
TR AR o IRIBPIENMEERE
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HEN  EtMA SR ERENRE
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HMEREZRIGFEREERL - HMNE
WEERNZBERE A LRGN ER
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EEETRERLE -
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REBTERMRIHIER -

REEEAERIEXBETHNTBKES
EERGE  @EENELRE  UEHA
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BT M - BEEMBMIT - HAIAES
BERAERFAE-

BREMEBIEN  RPIEERZESER TTE
METBE  BREZH  EAEAERE B
ERAIERET BRI LA ES B E I ERER
that we identify during our audit. (2

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chong Heng Hon.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021

(If these is any inconsistency between the English and Chinese version of the independent
auditor’s report, the English version shall prevail.)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 % 20194
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
B =E AR®T T AREEF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment TENE - TRARFE 6 3,994,259 3,721,688
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7 65,579 56,662
Intangible assets I EE 8 29,742 35,077
Restricted bank deposits SREIERITIER 11 55,048 49 895
Other non-current assets HEmMIERESEE 142 13,770
4,144,770 3,877,092
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 9,822 11,201
Other current assets Himeh&eE 21,873 10,967
Trade and other receivables J7E U BR B K Eo 4 R U =k 9 1,071,411 714,969
Term deposits with initial terms IR EARRE =" AN 11 - 50,000
of over three months TFEAFER
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEeEEY 11 1,790,505 2,083,931
2,893,611 2,871,068
Total assets BMEE 7,038,381 6,748,160
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners BEALLRREENER
of the Company
Share capital R 12 2,079 2,079
Share premium IR A= (B 3,869,806 4,231,210
Other reserves E b 13 279,392 311,084
Retained earnings Bz 1,809,565 1,299,269
Total equity R 5,960,842 5,843,642
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E ARET T AREFIT
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Asset retirement obligations BEREERB 14 20,120 18,361
Non-current lease liabilities ERBHEHEAR 7 40,357 43,395
Deferred income tax liabilities FEIEFTSHaE 15 437,612 379,804
498,089 441,560
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FEBR RN B b BN RR 16 468,169 404,190
Current income tax liabilities EHREHAaE 94,572 44,206
Current lease liabilities mEHEEAaE 7 16,709 14,562
579,450 462,958
Total liabilities e F 1,077,539 904,518
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 7,038,381 6,748,160

The notes on pages 115 to 181 are an integral part of these 51
%gﬂ

S5EE181ANMEEAA M BRI

P A

0

consolidated financial statements.

F10EE 181 EMI BRI HESFTZMN 2021
FIF[26HUE  WHERKRES -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 181 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2021 and were signed
on its behalf.

Director Director
EE EF
Yan Danhua Zhang Jianbing
BAE RES
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

B mERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2020 2019
2020 20194
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
iz ARBT T ARETT
Revenue A 17 1,038,524 1,161,246
Other income H A 18 240,368 346,805
Other gains, net HA AT — FEE 2,095 822
Operating expenses BERX
Depreciation and amortisation e L EY (271,368) (272,867)
Employee benefit expenses EERAFAX 19 (73,372) (105,821)
Materials, services and logistics R IR R WR (190,831) (209,692)
Net impairment losses on CRIEEREFELX
financial assets (7,600) -
Others Hth (14,187) (18,585)
Total operating expenses e (557,358) (606,965)
Profit from operations ReEFHE 723,629 901,908
Finance income g alEay 20 33,237 37,065
Finance costs M%ER 20 (4,834) (4,287)
Exchange (losses)/gains X (BX), W 20 (9,459) 6,079
Finance income, net Mgl s — B8 18,944 38,857
Profit before income tax BR AT B H A RS 21 742,573 940,765
Income tax expense Fris & A 22 (232,277) (233,397)
Profit attributable to owners BERERQBFMEEN
of the Company for the year FERNHE 510,296 707,368
Other comprehensive income: Hitme e
ltems that may be reclassified Hig gt E 7 Z B i) E H
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences INEE ST = RE (31,692) 6,315
Total comprehensive income BEERAATREEN
attributable to owners FEFANEAR
of the Company for the year 478,604 713,683
Earnings per share (RMB) BFRlE(ARET)
— Basic —HXK 23 0.150 0.209
— Diluted — e 23 0.150 0.209
The notes on pages 115 to 181 are an integral part of these HF 115852181 HEMH TR A HUBHREN
consolidated financial statements. B -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOREEEE XK

Attributable to owners of the Company

BEREDANAEE
Share Share Other Retained Total
capital premium reserves earnings equity

BA BRARE  HttRE Bk Y $:3
Note ~ RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'O0 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000

ME ARBTE ARRTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR

As at 1 January 2019 M2019F1 818 2,077 4,475,667 307,208 591,901 5,376,853

Comprehensive income FehE

Profit for the year EFEFNE - - - 707,368 707,368

Currency translation differences  JM&ITH =58 - - 6,315 - 6,315
- - 6,315 707,368 713,683

Transactions with owners HTEENRS

Exercise of options B RS NRAE 12 2 5,498 (2,439) - 3,061

Dividends BRF 5 B 24 - (249,955) - - (249,955)
2 (244,457 (2,439) - (246,894)

As at 31 December 2019 M2019F12A31H 2,079 4,231,210 311,084 1,299,269 5,843,642

As at 1 January 2020 M2020F1 818 2,079 4,231,210 311,084 1,299,269 5,843,642

Comprehensive income FEWE

Profit for the year FEFIE - - - 510,296 510,296

Currency translation differences  SMNEHrE =58 - = (31,692) = (31,692)

- - (31,692) 510,296 478,604

Transactions with owners HFTEENRS

Dividends P& F 5 e 24 - (361,404) - - (361,404)
- (361,404) - - (361,404)
As at 31 December 2020 ®2020%512A31H 2,079 3,869,806 279,392 1,809,565 5,960,842

HE 181 BENMERAA G B REN

The notes on pages 115 to 181 are an integral part of these 21158
consolidated financial statements. BEgES o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12H31BLEE

2020 2019
2020 20194F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
BiteE ARBT T ARBF T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHESRE
Cash generated from operations KETEIE S 25 662,466 1,114,826
Interest paid EARFE (4,096) -
Income tax paid EFTEH (124,104) (166,616)
Net cash generated from operating KEEHMEREFE
activities 534,266 948,210
Cash flows from investing activities REZHRERE
Purchases of property, plant and BETHE - TMMERE
equipment and intangible assets NEEEEE (504,085) (242,318)
Increase in restricted bank deposits PR G RITF FIE N (5,153) (6,128)
Decrease/(increase) in term deposits with {2 HAR 8@ =18 A &Y
initial terms of over three months FEIEFCR A (1) 47,308 (50,000)
Payments for financial assets at fairvalue ~ BBENARBEFEHBEEZS
through profit or loss STABRGHSREE (155,900) (51,800)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HEUAAABEFELHE
at fair value through profit or loss AERNEREE 157,523 52,270
Proceeds from disposal of property, HETEE - THMEEE
plant and equipment PiSRIE 1 334
Interest received BAE 29,272 25,221
Net cash used in investing activities REEEAR S F58 (431,034) (272,421)
Cash flows from financing activities MEIBHRESRE
Proceeds from exercise of options TEBRESE - 3,061
Payments of lease liabilities EBEHEAR (8,901) (11,032
Dividends paid to the Company's B F
shareholders (358,755) (255,521)
Net cash used in financing activities B EEAR S F5E (367,656) (263,492
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BERBEEEY
cash equivalents (R2), B mEE (264,424) 412,297
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FMRERREEED
of the year 1 2,083,931 1,656,523
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and BE MRS EBYER
cash equivalents (%), Wz (29,002) 15,111
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRESRRESEEY
of the year 11 1,790,505 2,083,931
The notes on pages 115 to 181 are an integral part of these HF 11582181 HEMMERAAHUBHREN
consolidated financial statements. B o
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GENERAL INFORMATION

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in
exploration, development and production of coalbed methane
("CBM") in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 23 December 2014. The address of
the Company's registered office is P.O. Box 31119, Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1205, Cayman Islands.

The Group conducts its business through two Production Sharing
Contracts ("PSC") entered into with China United Coalbed
Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") and China National
Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC") (authorizing its subsidiary
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”)) for Panzhuang and
Mabi concessions respectively in Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province
of the PRC.

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP") of Panzhuang concession
was approved by the National Development and Reform
Commission (“NDRC") of the PRC on 28 November 2011, which
allowed Panzhuang concession to enter into commercial
development phase. On 1 November 2016, Panzhuang
concession entered into production phase after the Joint
Management Committee (“JMC") approved and announced
based on the terms of Panzhuang PSC. On 8 October 2018,
NDRC formally announced the Approval Regarding the ODP in
respect of the Foreign Cooperation Project within the Southern
Area in Mabi concession. According to the announcement, the
approval was officially issued in September 2018. With this
approval, the Southern Area of Mabi concession is eligible for
commercial development. On 1 January 2020, the Southern Area
of Mabi concession entered into production phase after the JMC
approved and announced based on the terms of Mabi PSC. As at
31 December 2020, the Northern Area of Mabi concession was
still in exploration phase.

The Company's initial public offering (“IPO") of its shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was
completed on 23 June 2015.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

In 2018, Liming Holding Limited (“Liming”), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, controlled through Sichuan Liming Energy
Development Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Liming”), of Xinjiang Xintai
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (“"XTRQ"), a company incorporated in the
PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603393), acquired approximately 50.5% of issued shares of the
Company.

The Directors regard Liming, Sichuan Liming and XTRQ as its
immediate parent entity, intermediate parent entity and the
ultimate parent entity of the Company respectively subsequent
to the completion of the takeover (“Change of Control”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”) and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance
Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2020:

. Definition of Material — amendments to HKAS

1 and HKAS 8

° Definition of a Business — amendments to
HKFRS 3

o Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the current
or future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2020 reporting periods and have not been
early adopted by the Group.

o Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
intended use — Amendments to HKAS 16

o Reference to the Conceptual Framework —
Amendments to HKFRS 3

e Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

These standards and interpretations are not expected
to have a material impact on the entity in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHERBE®

118

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries 22 WEAFE
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over b B N B A2 35 AN E5 (B 5 A 1 ) 4
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity MER(BEABIEEE) - 2488
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable BE2EZEEMES N E A A&
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the E¥HiER - WA NBBHEEN
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the BEEEEE M EZ LR - B
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from AEBEHZEREGIEGHE - (B
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They NEEEHEEREAREE 2B
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. SOARR - FRBMEZEGIERIEZ

HEFIEEHAR -

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on EFRNIRT S ERATBRXSE
transactions between group companies are eliminated. EWMEBRRERERKNRSHEER
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction §H o REIREEL Y« BRI
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred RBIEETEREEREBENTE -
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries RO EBERSHHEARIFT2Re5
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's ERRABUFEAEBEN ST
accounting policies. & o

2.3 Production Sharing Contract 23 EmoHKER
The Group's exploration, development and production AEBRSE HREREESESE

activities are primarily conducted through PSCs which
establish joint control over the exploration, development
and production activities. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflects:

(i) The Group's assets used in joint operations;

(i) Any liabilities that the Group has incurred;

Any income from the sale or use the Group's share of

the output of the production, together with its share
of any expenses incurred in the production; and

(iv)

Any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect
of its interest in the production.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued) 23 EmaHNER &)

The Group's PSCs comprise of three phases: the
exploration phase, development phase and production
phase. Costs incurred with respect to exploration activities
within the PSC contract areas are solely borne by the
Group. All costs incurred subsequent to the date of the
approval of ODP are treated as development costs and
provided by the Group and the PSC partners in the
proportion of their respective participating interests.
Operating costs incurred for the production operation shall
be borne by the Group and the PSC partners in proportion
to their share of the output of the CBM productions in each
concession.

Pursuant to the Panzhuang and Mabi PSCs, the annual
gross production of CBM, after payment of value-added tax
("VAT") and royalties, is allocated into Cost Recovery CBM
and Remainder CBM.

(@) Cost Recovery CBM

Cost Recovery CBM is the CBM allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for recovery of the
operating costs, as well as the exploration costs and
development costs. 70% and 80% of annual gross
production of CBM is deemed as Cost Recovery CBM
under the Panzhuang and Mabi PSC, respectively.
Cost Recovery CBM is allocated until all costs incurred
by each party have been fully recovered. Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated as follows:

() Prior to the production phase, Cost Recovery
CBM is firstly applied to recover costs incurred
during the exploration phase of the PSC and
once such costs have been fully recovered, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated to recover costs
incurred during the development phase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

Cost Recovery CBM (Continued)

120

(a)

(i)

After the PSC enters the production phase, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated according to the
following mechanism:

Operating cost recovery: payment in kind for
the operating costs actually incurred but not yet
recovered by each party.

Exploration and development cost recovery:
after operating costs have been fully recovered,
the Cost Recovery CBM is allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for the recovery of
exploration and development costs. Exploration
costs, 100% of which are borne by the Group,
are fully recovered before development costs
can be recovered. Upon the full recovery of
exploration costs, any remaining Cost Recovery
CBM is allocated between the Group and the
PSC partners for the recovery of development
costs according to the respective participating
interests in the CBM concessions.

For the purpose of recovery, exploration costs
do not include any interest, while development
costs include a deemed interest calculated at a
fixed compound interest rate of 9% per annum.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

(b)

Remainder CBM

Remainder CBM represents the remainder annual
gross CBM production after payment of VAT, royalties
and allocation to Cost Recovery CBM.

The Remainder CBM is further divided into allocable
remainder CBM and share CBM. The allocable
remainder CBM equals to the total remainder CBM
multiplied by a factor (X) and the share CBM equals
the Remainder CBM minus the allocable remainder
CBM. The factor (X) is determined in accordance with
a set of successive incremental tiers on the basis of
the annual gross CBM production as set out in the
PSCs. The allocable remainder CBM is allocated
between the Group and the PSC partner according to
the respective participating interest in the PSC. Share
CBM is allocated 100% to the PSC partner.

2.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

2.5

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is

responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been

identified as the directors and chief executive of the
Company.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is US$, whereas the
functional currency of the production sharing projects
in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB.
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2.3

2.4

2.5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

122

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
within “exchange gains/losses”.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income

("OCI").

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

2. EESHHEXBE®H)
2.5 SEFE(E)

(b)

()

R 5 K&
SNERSERARZ S BMER
EXRBESNEER - B8
S HR AR 5 B A RO I 5L 1S A
BRIA NI F R RIBE L
SNEFTENEREERAR
EEMERNSNRERES
PR S R REER -

BRRE MRS FEMNE
REBRAEERERA
[ 5 Yas, K ] B -

SEATH
DEEBEIFEE RN
PESEER(EHhERIER
EMAREE TER) XA
R BIMRRIEA T AR E
RYNREH

() BhHEERBERTHNE
EMBEEREEAEBR
B T T R

(i) BHHEEEEROBA
RERLTFHEXRGRE
(BRIFULE R IR 5
REXRGTZENEE
AEME - BB T
WAME RSB
MEXRFE) &

(il FTERNEENEES
BEEBEEHEMEES R
RRER o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEESTHHEBEW
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment 26 THE IBRRE

Property, plant and equipment, other than exploration and
evaluation assets and construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Other than gas properties, depreciation of each asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:
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Estimated useful lives

fhat A 62 A 5 5B

Gas gathering station and
relating facilities

SR MABRE R 5

Vehicles

B

Furniture, fittings and others

FIB - FEREHAM

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Shorter of remaining PSC period or 20 years
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4-5 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

2.6 TEE  ITHRZEE)

124

2.7

Construction in progress represents development costs
occurred after the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable
and the buildings, machinery and equipment for which the
construction work has not been completed. It is carried at
cost which includes construction expenditures and other
direct costs less any impairment losses. Upon completion,
the development costs recorded in construction in progress
are transferred to gas properties. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until they are
completed and available for use.

Spare parts are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment when (a) they can be used only in connection
with an item of property, plant and equipment; or (b) the
Group expects to use them during more than one year.
Other spare parts are classified as inventory.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains/losses” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation expenditures mainly include
acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological,
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling,
sampling and activities in relation to evaluating the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a
mineral resource.

During initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on a
project after it has reached a stage at which there is a high
degree of confidence in its viability is capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets. If a project does not
prove viable, all irrecoverable expenditures associated with
the project are expensed in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

Costs of exploratory wells are capitalised and evaluated for
economic viability within one year after completion of
drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes if
it is determined that such economic viability is not attained.

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less
impairment provisions. Exploration and evaluation assets
are reclassified to gas properties when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral
resource are demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may
exceed its recoverable amount, and also tested for
impairment immediately prior to reclassification to gas
properties.

Gas properties

Gas properties include drilling costs, exploration and
evaluation costs, development costs and other direct costs
attributable to the gas production properties. Gas
properties are depreciated based on the unit of production
method. Unit of production rates are based on proved and
probable gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from
whole concessions based on the current terms of the
respective PSC and taking into account estimated future
development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software. Acquired
computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 10 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

2. EESHHEXBE®H)
210 ke RMEERE

126

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows which are largely independently of
the cash flows from other assets or group of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet date.

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are mainly spare parts and consumables with
low value and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for gas
sold in the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Other receivables are mainly government grants due from
government and PSC partners and cash call due from PSC
partners, which are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

See note 9 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade and other receivables and note 3.1(a)
for a description of the Group's impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEEEHRBEE®W
POLICIES (Continued)
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits

2Q1I3BERESEEY
RekBReEEMBRERS 7k
B ERAIR 1T s R R B EREAMR &
=B A A TR EHTFK -

held at call with banks and term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.14 Share capital 214 R
TEk o AR (M3 12)

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 12).

EEBBR BT REN

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of

new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, A AR TS A R (2 B
net of tax, from the proceeds. ) o

2.15 Trade payables 2.15 B R

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in OCI or directly in
equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in OCI or
directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the
Group companies operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

e RN BLEEHHT
% S R AR A 0 7R o S AR S T
EOER - N RHBRE-FUAR
(ARKHR EEEEELR
) ENEFINTARDE
& BRIEMEREIIRRIERD
BfE-

FE A BR SRR AR A A (BT AT
2 1A PR A R B
KitE -

EMRIELFREHR

ISR 88 8 MR AMETEH
He MBEEAFHEA WK AR
R BREMGE W BRI
S ERNIEE BRRBIERIN - £
BERT - HIEDRIEE MRS UK
S EERESAER -

(a) EHMES

BRSNS OREEER
AR EERELRRT
ANBREGEEA DR
BEECHEMOBRBE ARG
B -BEERFERAMBEER
P E OB L E B RS B 7S
R S EEAER T RIE
AR A B S T A R AR
TERAE

DEEREBRERLAR/ 225 FR 127




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

128

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2.16 EMRIELFTISHL(8)

(c) Offsetting
Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and tax liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.17 Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits, that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled.

The Group participates in defined contribution plans
operated by relevant government authorities. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan which the Group pays to
the relevant government authorities contributions
calculated according to the bases and percentage
prescribed. When employees retire, the relevant
government authorities are obliged to pay the pensions to
them. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised and allocated to related cost
of assets and expenses based on different beneficiaries.

All Chinese employees of the Group also participate in
other social security plans, including medical, housing and
other welfare benefits, organised and administered by the
government authorities. According to the relevant
regulations, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions
that should be borne by the Group are calculated based on
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a
certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare
authorities.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

217 EERH (&)

130

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer.

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts and VAT.

Sales of gas

The Group produces and sells gas. Sales of gas are
recognised when control of the gas has transferred, being
when the gas is delivered to the customers. The amount of
revenue is allocated based on the terms of the PSCs and
gas sales agreements.

2.19 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred with no future related
costs, such as refund of VAT paid and subsidies granted
according to CBM production, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Note 18
provides further information on how the Group accounts for
government grants.
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BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Share-based compensation

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates two equity-settled share-based
compensation plans, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options and restricted share unit) of the
Company. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options and
restricted share unit is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options and
restricted share unit granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity's share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the Group over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or to hold shares for a
specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of the equity instruments
that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received from the exercise
of options net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (and share
premium).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Share-based compensation (Continued)

132

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
at a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the equity instruments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at
the date of modification.

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled
during the vesting period, the Company shall account
for the cancellation or settlement as an acceleration
of vesting, and shall therefore recognise immediately
the amount that otherwise would have been
recognised for services received over the remainder
of the vesting period.

Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the
Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment
in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding
credit to equity in the parent company entity
accounts.

2.21 Interest income
Interest income is presented as finance income where it is

earned from financial assets that are held for cash

management purposes. Interest income is calculated by

applying the effective interest rate.
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BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Provision-Asset retirement obligation
Asset retirement obligation for environmental restoration is

2. EESHHEXBE®H)

222t — EEEEEK
EAEBRBEEHMELEREH

recognised when: the Group has a present constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation

EER - WAIREFEAERIMHIA
mIBEY - BeBmo & sEbEt
QAR EHRERENEERE

and the amount has been reliably estimated. E7 o
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the MBLZEEUETE  EFELE
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is BERREOAREME - B RIEE

determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Asset retirement obligation is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Asset retirement obligation are measured at the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.23 Lease

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset

BRHBEEE - MEER—EH
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AEBEGEHEEENHEFERNE
B ERR S EAEEENAR

is available for use by the Group. BEfE -

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease SRR B HE AR E DM
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the JEMHEMAK D - AEBENZAE
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on EHME  BEIETHERKE DA E
their relative stand-alone prices. BEBBHLASESREE -

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include

HEEANEEME BRBREETT
EEE - MERBERENATEE

the net present value of the following lease payments: R EER)FIRE -
e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed e BEENRE(BEEEETEN
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; FEE) R EAERNEE
B
e variable lease payment that are based on an index or . HEREHS R T a &

a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at

HEHE %FH%E = H1F

the commencement date; 16 H B Sk bt R ETHAR
=
DERRIZEBRERAR/ ZE_ZEFFH 133




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Lease (Continued) 223 E (B

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

J payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay
to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

J where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEXBE®H)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Lease (Continued) 223 E (B

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take effect.
When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or
rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and
adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease

liability;

J any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While
the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of buildings
and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Dividends
Dividends distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements

in the period in which the dividends are approved by the

Company's shareholders.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

credit risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk),

liquidity risk and concentration risk. The Group's overall risk

management program focuses on the unpredictability of

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse

effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

Credit risk

As the majority of the cash at bank balances are
placed with state-owned and international banks and
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong, and
there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these banks and financial institutions, the
corresponding credit risk is relatively low. Therefore,
the Group's credit risk arises primarily from trade and
other receivables. The Group has controls in place to
assess the credit quality of its customers. The Group's
sales were only made to the customers with good
credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.

The Group has financial assets subject to the
expected credit loss model:

—  trade receivables,

—  notes receivables, and

—  otherreceivables

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to

the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade and notes receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade and notes receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 month before 31
December 2020 or 1 January 2020 respectively and
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the consumer price index to be
the most relevant factors and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rate based on expected changes in
these factors.

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31
December reconcile to the opening loss allowances
as follows:
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12A831BLLEE

2020 2019

2020 F 2019 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AR¥ETTT

Opening loss allowance HE R EBE = -
Increase in loss allowance recognised A& RN AIBZHIE L

in profit or loss during the year =il (7,600) -

Closing loss allowance HARIBRIEBHE (7,600) -
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3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.

To measure the expected credit losses of notes
receivables, the Group calculates the expected credit
loss based on the default risk exposure and the
lifetime expected credit loss rate, with the
consideration of the historical credit loss experience,
the current situation and the forecast of future
economic conditions. Considering all of the notes
receivables are bank acceptance bills and there is no
default experience in the past, the Group does not
recognise any impairment.

For other receivables, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the other
receivables since initial recognition or the other
receivables is not determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date, in which cases the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

The other receivables of the Group are considered to
have low credit risks since the majority are due from
government and PSC partners. Based on
management assessment, no loss allowance is
recognised.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to US$. Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions or recognised assets
or liabilities are denominated in a currency other than
the entity’s functional currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, the Group was exposed to non-
cash foreign exchange risk arising from retranslation
of US$ denominated inter-company loans. To manage
the foreign exchange risk, management decided to
execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by
converting the inter-company loans into perpetual
loans through entering into perpetual loan
agreements between respective group companies
such that the perpetual loans do not bear interest and
the lenders can not request repayment. Upon
completion of this debt restructuring, any foreign
exchange differences arising from retranslation of
these US$ denominated perpetual loans are
recognised in equity in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates, and by monitoring the amount of the
US$ intracompany accounts.

As at 31 December 2020, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 1% against the US$ with all other
variables held constant, profit before income tax for
the year would have been RMB1,649,000 (31
December 2019: RMB3,954,000) higher/lower,
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
receivables and payables held by the Group entities
with their functional currency as RMB.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

(d)

3.

BEERERE @)
3.1 MEEKRREZE(E)

Liquidity risk () REBMERE
The liquidity risk of the Group is mainly controlled by AEEMRBERBREIZER
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents BRKERFRENAS R
through operations. The table below analyses the ReFEWETES - TFX
Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity BRAEENEREE &
groupings based on the remaining period at the RN R BHER - RIER
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. HERAZESREIIEB TR
R EEIT DA -
Total  Carrying
Less than Over contractual amount
Tyear 1-2years  2-5 years 5years cashflows liabilities
EERE EHEE
PR-F -EZ@F WERF IDFENLE RELH &8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
As at 31 December 2020 420206 12A31H
Trade and other payables  EREFREMENTH 448,773 - - - 448773 448773
Lease liabilities HERRE 16,709 8,509 25,368 28,176 78,762 57,066
465,482 8,509 25,368 28,176 527,535 505,839
As at 31 December 2019 #2019 12A31R
Trade and other payables B EFREMERT 375118 - - - 375118 375,118
Lease labilities BEARE 14,562 17,631 25,337 36,715 94,245 57,957
389,680 17,631 25,337 36,715 469,363 433,075
Concentration risk (d) SHEE

Revenue of the Group is mainly derived from
Panzhuang concession. Any disruption to the
operation of the concession may have a material
adverse impact to the result of operation and the
financial position of the Group.

During the year, 61.1% of the Group’s revenue was
derived from sales made to the top five customers
(2019: 62.4%). In the event that these customers
terminate their business relationship with the Group
and the Group fails to find new customers, it may
have a material adverse impact on the Group's
financial position and result of operations.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. MKEKREE@
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BEXERE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEENEAEEBEZE EREAR
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going EEEFEKE  BREIRMHED
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders WM AEMF AR EREFR S
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an AR#FRENERNEENRDE
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. RECAN o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BTHEFNABRERGERE  ~EE
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to AReRABEINERENERRE
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new 58 IR ERE B ARSI THIAY -
shares.
The Group monitors capital by using debt-to-asset ratio AREENAEEEBEESINELEE
analysis. This ratio is calculated as amount of total liabilities o ZERZEHEEABRIIR
divided by total assets as shown in the consolidated MEBEAERUNEEATTE - K
balance sheet. The debt-to-asset ratio at 31 December S£EE2020F12 A 31 H & 20194F
2020 and 2019 is 15.3% and 13.4%, respectively. PANEBMEEBGEESNA

15.3% F113.4% ©

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREEME

The measurement of fair value uses different level of inputs AABENFEEATRERBA

to valuation technique. Such inputs are categorised into BB R ERI - 258 ABBE

three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: AABEERADB=TEIX - &

TR

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for o HEEEXaBETRME
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). LHMECRAR)(FE1E) -

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level o BT ENEFRBEENREIN
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either ZEEMABENITERMNE
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived g A - B AEE (BNplnE
from prices) (level 2). %) e (BREER)(E2

&) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on e  EEMAGEINIFEEAEHR
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) MISEIEHE A (BIETTER
(level 3). BA)(EIE) -
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BOFM IR M A

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

4.1 Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
Proved gas reserves are those quantities of CBM that by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially
recoverable, from a given date forward and under defined
economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations. Probable gas reserves are those additional
reserves of CBM that analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered
than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than
possible reserves.

The Group's reserve estimates were prepared for each
concession area and include only CBM that the Group
believes can be reasonably produced within current
economic and operating conditions. Reserves cannot be
measured exactly. Reserve estimates are based on many
factors that require evaluation by the engineers interpreting
the available data, as well as price and other economic
factors. The reliability of these estimates at any point in
time depends on both the quality and quantity of the
technical and economic data, and the production
performance as well as engineering judgement.
Consequently, reserve estimates are subject to revision as
additional data become available. Well tests and
engineering studies will likely improve the reliability of the
reserve estimate. The evolution of technology may also
result in the application of improved recovery techniques
such as supplemental or enhanced recovery projects, or
both, which have the potential to increase reserves beyond
those envisioned during the early years of a reservoir’s
producing life.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
(Continued)

Proved and probable reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. A reduction
in proved and probable reserves will increase depreciation
and amortisation charges (assuming constant production)
and reduce net profit. Proved and probable reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including gas prices, contract
terms or development plans.

In general, changes in the technical maturity of gas reserves
resulting from new information becoming available from
exploration, development and production activities and
change in gas price have tended to be the most significant
cause of annual revisions.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are capitalised on a field-
by-field basis and are assessed for impairment when
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. This assessment involves
judgment as to (i) the period for which the Group has the
right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected
to be renewed; and (i) substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; and (iii)
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
and (iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale. While conducting an impairment review of its
assets, the Group makes certain judgments in making
assumptions about the future gas prices, reserves and
future development and production costs. Changes in
these estimates could require a material change on the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets.

4. BAREEEERHE @)

4.1

4.2
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

144

4.3

44

Impairment of gas properties, gas gathering
stations and relating facilities and construction in
progress

Gas properties, gas gathering stations and relating facilities
and construction in progress are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell or value in use. In estimating the
recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions,
including future cash flow to be associated with the assets
and discounted rates, are made. If future events do not
correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts
will be revised and this may have impacts on the Group's
result of operation or financial position.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will be reflected in the
income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the realisation of future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group's ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits
and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future profitability
from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and
liabilities that could have a significant effect on the income
tax expenses.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BARGTHETRHE @)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.5 Impairment of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’'s past history existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(a).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker ("CODM") has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the Company
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group's operating segments are defined by PSCs, which is
the basis by which the CODM makes decisions about resources
to be allocated and assesses their performance. The financial
information of the two PSCs has been separated to present
segment information to be reviewed by the CODM.

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the
performance of the operating segments of the PSCs based on
profit before income tax, depreciation and amortisation, finance
income, finance costs and exchange gains/(losses) (“"EBITDA").
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2HEB @
The segment information provided to the CODM for the HZE20200F12A831BIEFE tAl 2
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as MAOHIRBLETEEERRENDIE
follows: BT
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total
BHER BYESR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2020  #Z2020F12H31H

ILEE

Revenue from external customers R ESMBEFRIUA 973,540 64,984 1,038,524
EBITDA EBITDA 993,353 14,159 1,007,512
Other income Hapdg A 235,506 4,862 240,368
Operating expenses RS (444,118) (94,222) (538,340)
Depreciation and amortisation e N (228,421) (38,021) (266,442)
Net impairment losses on TRBEREFEX

financial assets (7,600) - (7,600)
Finance income B U a5 23,090 475 23,565
Finance costs BM%ER (3,872) (821) (4,693)
Exchange gains/(losses) P& Uz (1B%) (30,199) 21,820 (8,379)
Income tax expense FISHER (204,980) (27,296) (232,276)
Year ended 31 December 2019  #HZ2019%512H831H

ILEE

Revenue from external customers REINEREFE A 1,064,012 97,234 1,161,246
EBITDA EBITDA 1,146,550 47,548 1,194,098
Other income Hapdg A 322,185 24,620 346,805
Operating expenses RS (466,202) (115,591) (581,793)
Depreciation and amortisation HrE K (226,464) (41,560) (268,024)
Finance income B Es 20,910 369 21,279
Finance costs BB R (3,084) (926) (4,010)
Exchange gains/(losses) fE 5 Uiz, (18%) 9,049 (5,679) 3,370
Income tax expense Fri5fiE A (233,397) - (233,397)
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5. oEER @

Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total
BHER BXYER #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT AREET T AREFIT
As at 31 December 2020 M 2020F12H31H
Total assets BEE 3,690,541 2,661,475 6,352,016
Total liabilities mal 816,965 257,513 1,074,478
Additions to non-current assets  IEiRENE E I N
(other than deferred income (EERIEEERIN)
tax assets) 285,762 235,782 521,544
As at 31 December 2019 M2019%F12831H
Total assets WEE 3,435,509 2,446,184 5,881,693
Total liabilities weE 775,413 121,629 897,042
Additions to non-current assets  3EENE E L AN
(other than deferred income GRILEFRIBEEERIN)
tax assets) 298,121 90,125 388,246

A reconciliation of EBITDA to total profit before income tax is

provided as follows:

EBITDA EABR 1S 1 B B A28 Y SR £ 40

T

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2020 2019

2020 F 2019 4F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Total EBITDA for reportable segments A 23 % 8 #Y EBITDA #8258 1,007,512 1,194,098
Headquarter overheads BEHER X (12,515) (19,323)
Depreciation and amortisation PTE M (271,368) (272,867)

Finance income B s s 33,237 37,065
Finance costs Y% E R (4,834) (4,287)

Exchange (losses)/gains B (BK), M (9,459) 6,079

Profit before income tax bR FT15 55 B0 A1) )E 742,573 940,765
DERRIZEBRERAR/ ZE_ZEFFH 147




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as

follows:

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2020 2019
2020 2019 4%
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Total segment assets DEBELEE 6,352,016 5,881,693

Unallocated RO E

Unallocated cash and cash equivalents KPR ERIREEEBY 661,101 862,640
Others Hip 25,264 3,827
Total assets per balance sheet BERABRIREESTE 7,038,381 6,748,160

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities

as follows:

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 % 2019
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Total segment liabilities DEPAELEE 1,074,478 897,042

Unallocated P

Unallocated lease liabilities Aok EEE 518 2,587
Others HAith 2,543 4,889
Total liabilities per balance sheet BEABKRINAGBESE 1,077,539 904,518
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. FHE - IRKRZE

Gas
Exploration  gathering
and  station and Furniture,
Gas  evaluation relating Construction fittings and
properties assets facilities  in progress Vehicles others Total
HAR SRER GE £8
AAREE TEEE TRERIE EEIR BH Rt o
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2019 HZ20195128310LEE
Opening net book value FUREFE 2,186,747 630,860 509,810 315,029 1,737 7,236 3,651,419
Additions £ 306 14,960 4,523 301,277 - 1,604 322,610
Transferred in/(out) #A/(H) 112,363 - 6,498 (118,861) - - -
Disposal — cost RE— KA - - (118) - (200) 2573 2.891)
— depreciation —E - - 39 - 200 2,546 2785
Depreciation charge TEER (200,956) - (48,683) - (867) (@.741) (255,252)
Currency translation differences G =5 2,004 486 - 461 - 6 2957
Closing net book value FREAFE 2,100,464 646,306 472,064 497 906 870 4,078 3,721,688
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31R
Cost XA 2,925,849 646,306 660,351 497 906 15,271 52,083 4,797,766
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (825,385) - (188,287) - (14,401) (48,005) (1,076,078)
Net book value EEFE 2,100,464 646,306 472,064 497,906 870 4,078 3,721,688
Year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020512R31HLEE
Opening net book value FNEAFE 2,100,464 646,306 472,064 497,906 870 4,078 3,721,688
Additions B0 8,164 38,659 1,921 484,170 1,651 2,358 536,923
Transferred in/{out) #)/(i) 320,656 - 97,754 (418,410) - - -
Disposal — cost RE—HUR - - - - - (759) (759)
— depreciation —E - - - - - 759 759
Depreciation charge NEER (197,337) - (53,213) - (519) (2,202) (253,271)
Currency translation differences INEREESE (7,399) (1,941) = (1,734) = 7 (11,081)
Closing net book value FRREFE 2,224,548 683,024 518,526 561,932 2,002 4,227 3,994,259
As at 31 December 2020 R20205128318
Cost R 3,243,198 683,024 760,026 561,932 16,922 53,647 5,318,749
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (1,018,650) - (241,500) - (14,920 (49,420) (1,324,490
Net book value ERFE 2,224,548 683,024 518,526 561,932 2,002 4,227 3,994,259
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the additions of BZE2020F12A31HILFE » TEE

T8 N A% 35 00 A R 8 652,509 7T, (2019
F . AR 608,0007T) @ BEF A FERH
BEEEZERBEBA -

property, plant and equipment include RMB652,509 (2019:
RMB608,000) relating to the asset retirement obligations
recognised during the year.
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7. LEASE 7. HE
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance (a) BAHEEEEBERAEINSE
sheet
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following SHEEBERY RO TS £%EH
amounts relating to leases: HEHFR :
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
2020 & R 2019 F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Land use rights TR 60,590 51,159
Buildings Ex 4,989 5,395
Equipment B - 108
65,579 56,662
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current ED (16,709) (14,562)
Non-current ERH (40,357) (43,395)
(57,066) (57,957)
Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2020 were 2020 - ERREEEMARE
RMB8,002,000 (2019: RMB9,131,000). 8,002,000 L (2019F : A R &

9,131,0007T) °
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7. LEASE (Continued) 7. HE®)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (b) EHEGZEENBRABIANSE
of comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income SHEANERY RO TS £%EH
shows the following amounts relating to leases: HERR :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BILLEE

2020 2019
2020 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AR¥ETTT
Depreciation charge of ERAEEENITEER
right-of-use assets
Land use rights + b {5 PR A (6,015) (9,150)
Buildings BF (6,307) (2,716)
Equipment B (10) (73)
(12,332) (11,939)
Interest expense (included in FEBAGIAMBKER)
finance cost) (Note 20) (B#7%20) (4,096) (3,614)
Expense relating to short-term leases (4G HATH E+HEEAV &
(included in administrative expenses) (Gt ABIEEMH) (769) (4,248)
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. EEEE
Computer
software
EiEH
RMB'000
AREFIT
As at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 818
Cost (BN 56,837
Accumulated amortisation RET (17,248)
Net book value R FE 39,589
Year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F12A31HLEE
Opening net book value FHRREFE 39,589
Additions AN 1,205
Amortisation charge BIHER (5,717)
Closing net book value FARREFE 35,077
As at 31 December 2019 M2019%12H31H
Cost B AR 58,042
Accumulated amortisation R (22,965)
Net book value BREDFE 35,077
Year ended 31 December 2020 BZ2020F12A31HILEE
Opening net book value FHRREDFE 35,077
Additions 140 432
Amortisation charge HIHER (5,765)
Currency translation differences HNEBITE ZH )
Closing net book value FRIRE FAE 29,742
As at 31 December 2020 M 2020F12H31H
Cost AR 58,474
Accumulated amortisation Sty (28,732)
Net book value BREDFE 29,742
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

9. RURRFR R Hf UK

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 % 20194
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T AREEF T
Trade receivables (a) FEUSERE N (a)
— CUCBM — CUCBM 193,194 97,619
— PetroChina — A 71,828 51,944
— External customers — N 123,064 94,438
388,086 244,001
Loss allowance (Note 3.1(a)) BRI (E3.16) (7,600) -
380,486 244,001
Notes receivables (b) BRI (b) 1,100 46,000
Government grants receivables (c) JE U T 478 B (<)
— Government — B 405,641 176,222
— CUCBM — CUCBM - 84,692
— PetroChina — A 21,051 31,747
Due from PSC partners for cash calls EWERDKAEREER
and accrued expenses (d) ReBERLFEREM ()
— CUCBM — CUCBM 122,656 78,001
— PetroChina — A 109,294 48,699
Deposits and others HeFMEMmER 31,183 5,607
1,071,411 714,969
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

154

Trade receivables
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

9. EWERMREHMERKR @)

(a)

FEUs B R
FEW AR SR BREE D AT AN TS

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 5
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Within 3 months =@EAR 251,468 201,224
3 months to 6 months =EA=~EA 12,245 27,745
6 months to 1 year NMEAZE—F 77,038 7,150
1 year to 2 years —EWE 42,288 7,882
2 years to 3 years ME=4F 5,047 -
388,086 244,001
Loss allowance B (7,600) -
380,486 244,001

Trade receivables due from CUCBM represent the cash
collected from external customers attributable to Sino-
American Energy, Inc. (“SAEI") and deposited into
CUCBM's bank account on behalf of the Group, which is
jointly managed by CUCBM and SAEI

Trade receivables due from PetroChina represent the
amount to be collected from PetroChina relating to the sale
of the Group's share of CBM from Mabi and Panzhuang

concessions.

Trade receivables due from external customers represent
the amount to be collected from the independent
customers relating to the sale of the Group's share of CBM
from Panzhuang concession.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and detail of
loss allowance are provided in Note 3.1(a).
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 9. BRI H AU (5)

(b) Notes receivables are bank acceptance with maturity dates (b) FEWZEARNHBEEA UK
within six months. RITHEE TR -

(c) This represents the VAT refund and government subsidies () UAEENBEBCUCBM EF AH
for CBM receivable from the government directly or JFE WIER JT B9 6 B SR 38 (B B R B S IR
through CUCBM and PetroChina. fE AL o

(d) This represents CUCBM's and PetroChina’s share of the (d) I ACUCBMEH AHDEETRE
cash calls and accrued expenses for the development and RN B A R SR B N A E A AR IR
production costs of Panzhuang and Mabi concession yet to CEFRLBERER BAM
be received from CUCBM and PetroChina, respectively. CUCBM KA Al e E

(e) Asat31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of trade and (e) M2020%12A318 ' BWERK
other receivables approximated their fair values. Hin B BEEEEEAAEE

& -

(f)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other (f) AREEMERRI S E A EKEE

receivables are denominated in the following currencies: REENLTIEERHE -

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2020 2019
2020 % 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
RMB AR 1,070,652 714,279
HK$ BT 719 583
Us$ ETT 40 107
1,071,411 714,969
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 10. @R T A (REH)

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 % 2019 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFTT
Financial assets SRMEE
Trade and other receivables (Note 9) JFEE L5 B % L A MR (BT R 9) 1,071,411 714,969
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11) ReMReEEY (ME11) 1,790,505 2,083,931
Term deposits with initial terms of Ve HARR B A =18 A &Y
over three months (Note 11) FEEFERBEE11) - 50,000
Restricted bank deposits (Note 11) ZREIRITFER(FHEE11) 55,048 49,895
2,916,964 2,898,795
As at 31 December
M12B31H
2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Financial liabilities =N
Trade and other payables excluding FERTBR R SR LAt RS 3R
non-financial liabilities TEEESHEE 448,773 375,118
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEaBEEE?) 57,066 57,957

505,839 433,075
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11. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 1. RERBITERR
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 % 2019 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFSEEY
— Cash at banks — BITER 1,790,505 2,083,931
Term deposits with initial terms of Ve HARR B A =18 A &Y
over three months FETFER - 50,000
Restricted bank deposits (a) ZIR BT () 55,048 49,895
1,845,553 2,183,826
(@) Restricted bank deposits represented deposit for the (@) XERBIBITEREELRIEAS N
purpose of decommissioning of gas properties and ERAREZERARAZEERERLT
restoration of land deposits for Panzhuang and Mabi HETF I
concessions.
Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following e MIRITEBITUN T EE T = ¢
currencies:
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2020 2019
2020 4 2019 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
RMB AR 1,286,441 1,320,767
HK$ BT 504,063 624,635
uss$ e 55,049 238,424
1,845,553 2,183,826
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12. SHARE CAPITAL 12. B
Equivalent
Nominal value  nominal value
Number of of ordinary of ordinary
ordinary shares shares shares
TZEREE LEREE ETERSEEE
Thousands US$'000 RMB’000
F A& FET ARETTT
Issued and fully paid: EETRHE -
Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each #J% I {E0.0001 7T
EoR=plile
At 1 January 2019 MR2019F1H18 3,390,558 339 2,077
— Exercise of share options — (T{E AR HE 3,024 - 2
At 31 December 2019 R2019&5R
and 2020 202012 831H 3,393,582 339 2,079

AN AD B 20155 3 A31 H 201546
ASHIRME IR AR ERBRETE
(BRI M E R AR ER SR HIRD
BALRTE| (IR FIPRDELL) ©

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (share
options) on 31 March 2015 and the Post-IPO Restricted Share
Unit Scheme (RSUs) on 5 June 2015.

13.

158

As at 31 December 2020, there are 1,734,437 (31 December 2019:
1,734,440) outstanding share options with the exercise price of
US$0.151 per share. All the outstanding share options are
exercisable and have expiry dates between 2021 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2018, all RSUs have been vested or cancelled
after Change of Control (Note 1), and no RSU was outstanding.

OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves consist of share-based compensation and foreign
currency translation difference.
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14. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

15.

14. EEREST

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31MHILEE

2020 2019

2020 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARETT

Beginning of the year REH) 18,361 16,741
Provision B 816 760
Accretion expenses HINF S 943 860
End of the year RER 20,120 18,361

The asset retirement obligations represent the present value of

estimated future expenditures on decommissioning of gas

properties and restoration of land.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income

tax liabilities is as follows:

EEREZVIZRERRAREBER

ERL MM AHREFEXMNERE -

15. EEEEFIEHEE

BEFSHREERELEMSHEED

T

As at 31 December

i

M12H831H
2020 2019
2020 2019 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Deferred income tax assets: EEFRBHEE
— Deferred income tax assets to be — R 1218 B R EIH
recovered within 12 months REFSHERE 747 693
— Deferred income tax assets to be — B AR 1218 A 12 U Bl Ay
recovered after more than 12 months RIEFBHEE 244,553 176,407
245,300 177,100
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEEFFEHAR :
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — B 128 B AL R
recovered within 12 months EEFSHAE (43,611) (41,483)
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — B BE12ME BBk E
recovered after more than 12 months REIREATS I B E (639,301) (515,421)
(682,912) (556,904)
Net balance HERTFE (437,612) (379,804)

EFEHAERAELERERESE
WE SR B - 5 B R A 5 Bk
ks 8117 RN R A S AR A
BAREER - B EERDBIAFER
25 -
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to
Panzhuang and Mabi concessions. The Group has legally
enforceable right to offset the deferred tax assets and liabilities
in each concession. Accordingly, it is presented on net basis for
each of the concession.
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as

15EE% SHEB& @)
EEFFEFIE B mBBmT -

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 &
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Beginning of the year RELD (379,804) (307,322)
Charged to the consolidated statement of R A& B4R 4 Wk & 0% (i EE22)
comprehensive income (Note 22) (57,808) (72,482)
End of the year RER (437,612) (379,804)

The movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

EERTS MR B A E ST ¢

Depreciation Income not yet
and subject to
amortisation Tax losses  tax and others Total
TRMBHY
wEREH BEEE Woas & E s #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTT AR®TT AR®TT
As at 1 January 2019 M2019F181A1 (90,684) - (216,638) (307,322)
Charged to the consolidated ReHEe RaRNk
statement of comprehensive (Bt 3E 22)
income (Note 22) (183,982) 175,772 (64,272) (72,482)
As at 31 December 2019 M2019F12A31H (274,666) 175,772 (280,910 (379,804)
Charged to the consolidated ReHEe KakNk
statement of comprehensive (Biz¥22)
income (Note 22) (110,291) 66,090 (13,607) (57,808)
As at 31 December 2020 M2020F12A31H (384,957) 241,862 (294,517) (437,612)
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15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)  15. IRZEBHEE (@)

For the purpose of filing of PRC corporate income tax,
development expenditures incurred prior to commercial
production from tax perspective are tax deductible over a 8-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production; exploration expenditures incurred prior to
commercial production from tax perspective except for those
qualified as production wells are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production.

Deferred income tax assets for tax losses are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Other deferred income tax expense mainly relates to government
grants which comprise of government subsidies and VAT refunds
received by the Group, which will be taxable in specified future
periods according to relevant tax regulations and local authority
in the PRC.

RHBECEMENBENS  RAXE
E(RBHARHE) IEENFES
AERMEXEEMIG AEEN\FHER
EITHBEEN  REEEE(RRB AR
HIE) AT AR BRI H (R ERE
REEFNMERIHERIN TERREE
Fign 2 B = F B AE TR -

HRGEBERERNELHSEREERERE
AIRE B AR RERBAEL A s ERE
REZRNBRT TLARER -

H 3 ST P15 75 8 A 2 B B U 7 B AR
7 B AN SR B R A BT 4 RS AN IE (E
BRT - RBHEBBERBER MM
& R 18 TE ORI AT o

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16. PR BRI H BT RK
As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2020 2019
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARBTFT
Trade payables FEfTRRFR 428,649 361,269
Amounts due to related parties JE 1<) BB 77 SR IE
— Xintai Jinggong (Note 26(b)) — &8RRI (M7 26(0)) 576 -
— Sunshine Ji'ao (Note 26(b), 30(f)) — BB &R (M 26(b) - 30() - 443
Amounts due to PSC partners ENERDKEREIERFKEA
— CuCBM — CUCBM 7,112 3,060
— PetroChina — R AH 7,463 3,602
Tax payables JERTRR R 2,258 874
Payroll liabilities JENT& 17,138 28,198
Other payables HAh &< 3R 4,973 6,744
468,169 404,190

DEEREBRERLAR/ 225 FR 161




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice

date is as follows:

16. BERBRAREMESRK @)
(a) EREZWEBRIWHOT
HENRE A M E N RS

Mranw -

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2020 2019
2020 2019 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Within 6 months ~MEAR 371,832 270,427
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 20,331 22,892
1 to 2 years —ZEWE 12,441 36,999
2 to 3years ME=F 12,526 13,607
Over 3 years =FLE 11,519 17,344
428,649 361,269

(b) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables (b) &~ BE 2R R L 4th i < 2k 0 B T B

approximated their fair values. HAREBEHES -

7=

() The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other (c) ZNEE M BE 2 & A i 2k o
payables are denominated in the following currencies: BEEE LA T 5| &S M= HE -

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2020 2019
2020 & 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB‘000
ARET T ARETIT
RMB AR 467,393 400,363
HK$ BT 267 189
Us$ ETT 509 3,638
468,169 404,190

17. REVENUE

All the Group's revenue is derived through the sale of the

17. IRA
REBAAB WAL KA AREE A5 CBM
HPBEEFHMHEMNS - ERERITH
BoEL  RERERNTEFPE

when the gas is delivered to the customers. The amount of REBEEREBRBERA - WALKE

revenue is allocated based on the terms of the PSCs and gas BEELSKERAREBRIEERZS
sales agreements. BT LADED ©

Group's share of CBM sold to customers in the PRC. Sales of gas
are recognised when control of the gas has transferred, being
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18. OTHER INCOME

18. HfUA

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2020 2019

2020 & 20194

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T AREFIT

VAT refund (a) RETIRT (a) 85,343 127,375
Government subsidy (b) BT 48 86 (b) 155,025 219,430
240,368 346,805

VAT refund is granted by the PRC government according to
"The Notice on Tax Policy Issued by The Ministry of Finance
and The State Administration of Taxation on Speeding Up
The Drainage of Coalbed Methane” ({BF EXEBEI R 75 48 /5
BT DR KK [ R A £R 7 A T M BOR R B B9 3R 1)) CUCBM
and PetroChina apply for the VAT refund for Panzhuang
and Mabi concession, respectively. The Group recognises
its entitlement based on the Group's share of CBM sold
and when there is reasonable assurance that the amount
will be received.

Government subsidy is granted by the PRC government
according to “The Implementation Opinions of Subsidies
Granted by The Ministry of Finance on The Development
and Utilisation of Coalbed Methane” (B X 358 1K [E &,
(ELHT) FMEF AR E EE R)) published on 20 April
2007, as amended by “Interim Measures for the
Administration of Special Funds for the Development of
Clean Energy” (/B2 RERZEER BB EITIE))
issued on 12 June 2020. From 2020, the Group applies for
the subsidy for Panzhuang concession (2019: CUCBM).
PetroChina applies for the subsidy for Mabi concession.
The Group recognises its entitlement based on the Group's
share of CBM sold and when there is reasonable assurance
that the amount will be received.
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BB R T2 BB AR BB R
BP B 2R R 75 48 = B A I R B B 4 el
B B U SR R R A )
t © CUCBM K A /A i 5 Bl 74 & 5
[ 38 K 55 A I BR FR AR IS (A R AR A o
AEEBEREAEEBHGE
CBMRBABREZ B YO
REREMZENESE -

IR KT 48 B =2 H B RS AR 38 54 2007
G4 720 8 45 B9 BT B0 B A
BR (R AEMNAHENERE
BYEH - &5 2020F6 512 H %
HCE R REETIEEASERE
EAITHEMERT - B 20204 #8 + A<
SEEAETE SRR FHA (20194
CUCBM) » A A H WEIRE
e AEEBREAEEEEFT
ECBMR AR B REZSEAIR
CIREREMZENEEE -
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19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 19. EERABX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥ETTT
Wages and salaries IERF® 64,700 69,839
Retirement and other benefits (a) BIRE REMET () 8,672 15,409
Termination benefits BHREH - 20,573
73,372 105,821
(a) Retirement and other benefits (a) Bk REAMER
In the PRC, the pension plans are organized by the NP REEHFEH—ELH
municipal and provincial governments at a certain rate of (RET EBRAFR) A8 T R AE BT
the employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceilings. The ERRRAESFEERHR - K&
Group also contributes to government-sponsored housing EniEEEHEN —ELO(ZE
funds at a certain rate of the employees’ salaries, subject to F ERBR) mBEFESNEE
certain ceilings. EoEHf® -
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EUESHFMAL
Details of five highest paid individuals are set out below: FfusmEHMALTOFBAT

Number of Individuals

A
2020 2019
2020 & 2019 &
Director (Note 30) E= (M5E30) 2 3
Non-director individuals (i) IEEEKE () 3 2
5 5
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19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 19. EERAMXZ 90
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) ENEESFMAL(E)
(i) The emoluments payable to the non-director individuals during the (i) NAFERNIFEEEALTOTF SN
year are as follows: T

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Basic salaries and allowances ERF ¢ MR/ 3,045 2,024
Discretionary bonuses [ 750 1,319
Retirement and other benefits BIRE MEAEF 150 195
3,945 3,538

The emoluments fell within the following bands: HINEENT -

Number of Individuals

A
2020 2019
2020 2019%

Emolument bands HENEE

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T 2 1,500,000 7 7T 2 -
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 7 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /& 702 2,500,000 7T - 1
3 2
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20. FINANCE INCOME, NET 20. GslhE — BE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREEFIT
Interest expense of lease liabilities (Note 7) FHEBEMFIEE A (K15E7) (4,096) (3,614)
Accretion expenses of asset retirement BEEEEBHNEIZER
obligations (738) (673)
Finance costs &R (4,834) (4,287)
Finance income B s U 2 33,237 37,065
Exchange (losses)/gains P H (18%k), Wzk (9,459) 6,079
Finance income, net B s — R 5E 18,944 38,857
21. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 21. BREAFBBLATFE
Profit before income tax was determined after charging the BR TS TR BT AR D &40k T B IRRE
following: E
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31ALEE
2020 2019
2020 & 2019 %
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Power and fuel ESpaE v 54,740 53,580
Pipeline transportation cost EEEHER 37,576 65,043
Maintenance cost “HwIEBH 27,277 25,816
Auditors’ remunerations 1% 25 R 57 B
— Audit services — TR RS
— The Company e /N 2,900 2,730
— Subsidiaries — B QA 250 250
— Non-audit services — FEFF R = 124
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22. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 22. FRSHER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2020 2019
2020 & 2019 €
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBET T

Current income tax EHIATSR 174,469 160,915
Deferred income tax (Note 15) FIEFTIS R (FE15) 57,808 72,482
232,277 233,397
The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated under respective ARRREERESHS  ABERRE
jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands and SMiEE R B EE TSz S
Samoa, are exempted from payment of local income tax. NI E WIS -
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the BRAEERAFEN R BEEBIRGF
Group did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong during FAERBAE - WA\ IRBEFG
the year. B o
According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated BEABEBRAEMOFRECEMEH
by the PRC government, the tax rate applicable to the Group's o REBERBEKZAMME ARG KRR
subsidiary established in the PRC and the PRC branches of the SENBRARTNFES R EAEBRE
Group's subsidiaries is 25%. Corporate income tax in the PRC is 325% > PR EMEH IR ER T
calculated based on the taxable profit of the company or BXSLE) A BRI A R FE R T M BT & o

branches established in the PRC.
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22. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 22. FIEBLERA W@
The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the N6 B R TS B A AR a9 B 18 B AR
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as FERRAENIERBE TR FBOT
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HLFE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Profit before income tax B PSRBT F) 742,573 940,765
Tax expense calculated at applicable REAHETENTIAER
tax rates 237,151 220,313
(Utilization of previously)/current year (FEAURIEE)  RNEE
deductible temporary differences for RIERELEFRIBE ER
which no deferred tax asset AT ER
was recognised (8,406) 11,466
Expenses not deductible for R HNRRE B A
taxation purposes 3,227 2,317
Others HAth 305 (699)
Income tax expense ey E- 3= 232,277 233,397
23. EARNINGS PER SHARE 23. FRWE
(a) Basic (@) EHZR
The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the BRI G IREBR AR
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the B E BN R A B = 2020F K
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during 2019F 12 A31 B IEFEANE BT
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. B INET BT ESS -
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLFE
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Profit attributable to owners of FENARRFMBEENFE
the Company (RMB’000) (ARBFT) 510,296 707,368
Weighted average number of BT E BRI T 19 8L
ordinary shares in issue (Thousands) (Fh%) 3,393,582 3,392,293
Basic earnings per share (RMB) EXRgRKE(ARET) 0.150 0.209
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23. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 23. SR WE &)
(b) Diluted (b) T

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has share options outstanding which
are potentially dilutive. The assumed proceeds from
conversion of these options shall be regarded as having
been received from the issue of ordinary shares at average
market price of ordinary shares during the period. The
difference between the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options and
the number of shares that could have been issued at the
average market price of the ordinary shares during the
period with the same total assumed proceeds is the number
of shares issued for no consideration. The resulting number
of shares issued for no consideration is included in the
weighted average number of ordinary shares as the
denominator for calculating diluted earnings per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the average market
price of ordinary shares during the period lower than the
exercise price of share options therefore the effect of share
options was anti-dilutive and is ignored from the calculation
of diluted earnings per share.

mESRERREAE AR ENE
EEBBIREIBE  RECHETE
BB IR BEE - ARFIN
BREARBEWMBEYE - BRE
L B % 4 5 4 P ER A (B SR E # AR
RILBHNE AR FEm IS ERE
TMER - TREHTHRMNDEE
EERBRITE T BRERZET
MRMBE  BERZRANER
BEAm S ERETLESHERS
AHERWBER T AR ERITHK
MBENER - E—TREHRTH
B BB A T B AR A N F 15
ey - WIERFTERBERK
TR E

BE2020F12A31BHIEFE - &
A H) T T IS EAR RN BB AR A
TTHEERS - Bt - BRENTER
RIGEEME - Ft st EREER
Wit ey K5 L 7B o

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31HLLEE

2020 2019
2020 20196
Profit attributable to owners of BERARRIMEEHE
the Company (RMB'000) (ARBTFTT) 510,296 707,368
Weighted average number of ordinary B Z1TE @R INEFHH
shares in issue (Thousands) (FR) 3,393,582 3,392,293
Adjustments for assumed conversion of  {RE&F AR ENFE (TIR)
share options (Thousands) - 252
Weighted average number of ordinary s E#HEE RS AL @A
shares for diluted earnings per share nEF 8 (FR)
(Thousands) 3,393,582 3,392,545
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) wEeEgkkz(ARET) 0.150 0.209
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24.

25.

170

DIVIDENDS

24.

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of
RMBO0.1031 per share will be proposed at the annual general
meeting (“AGM") on 13 May 2021. These financial statements do

not reflect this dividend payable.

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 of
RMBO0.1061 per share was approved at the AGM on 13 May 2020

and was paid on 1 June 2020.

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

25.

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flow

generated from operations:

BRE

HE20200F 12 A3 B ILEFENRES
f& AR #0.1031 70 B 52 2021 5 513 B
ZhRRBFRE((RREFAE]) LI
2o WEMBRRT E XM ZEENR

B o

HE2019F12A3MBILEFENRES
A AR #0.1061 7T B R 202045 A 13 B

ZIEHEF Ke PR E - WH 2020 F
6 A1 Bk -

RETHRERE
BEEHANBREEEDAGRSR
BRI

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

2020 2019
2020 2019 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBTT
Profit before income tax R PRAS 250 A A 742,573 940,765
Adjustments for: TP EIBEL A -
Depreciation e 265,603 266,776
Amortisation (Notes 8) B sH (P 5T 8) 5,765 5,717
Net impairment losses of financial assets & Bt & ERIEIFIEXL 7,600 -
Gains on disposals of property, PETEE - THERENFE
plant and equipment (1) (306)
Finance income fA#5 U e (33,237) (24,270)
Finance costs MBER 738 4,287
Exchange losses/(gains) fE Rk (M) 9,615 (6,079)
Changes in working capital: LB R
Decrease in inventories FERL 1,379 305
Increase in trade and other receivables JE U BR 3k K L th i UKL R (374,527) (66,977)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FETBR B N EL b FE A~ R
other payables Zan, O ) 36,958 (5,392)
Cash generated from operations REEPELNERSD 662,466 1,114,826

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BEEAR 5
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, E—HARNEESHEEHS — Ak
directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant HE— TP BERESREEMRAEEK
influence over the other party in making financial and operation FEN AR ARE T o KRS
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are ERANEEBE T ANEBXZTEEEA
subject to common control. Members of key management and B RHE KRR B TG 2 B
their close family member of the Group are also considered as
related parties.
(a) The following companies are related parties of the (a) BZE2020F12A31HLEFE >
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 THRARARETEENEHS :
Names of the related parties Nature of relationship Ownership interest
s B8 BERME e &R
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i) Ultimate control shareholder 51.65%
and executive director
BR AR SEAE () BRISERIRR RITE S
XTRQ (i) Ultimate parent entity 51.65%
PN () BREER AR
Sichuan Liming (i) Intermediate parent entity 51.65%
791 A EA () Bk NS
Liming (i) Immediate parent entity 51.65%
78R (i) HEEERAR
Urumgqi Xintai Precision Construction Under the same control of N/A
Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Xintai Jinggong”) ultimate control shareholder
SERAESFBIERIREARAFR(BREL]) XA —REERARE NjE
Zhongjiu Ante Equipment Co., Ltd. Under the same control of N/A
("Zhongjiu Ante”) ultimate control shareholder
PALZFREAERRE ([PARE]) B — AT AR AR R AE i A
Beijing Sunshine Ji'ao Energy Technology Controlled by an independent N/A
Co., Ltd. (“Sunshine Ji'ao”) non-executive director
of the Company
IERGHERERRMARAF ([ ER]) AR FE Y IEMITE F 4 A3 A
(i) As at 31 December 2020, XTRQ, through its 100% controlled (i) 2020128318 T AARRB
subsidiary Sichuan Liming, holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares He2&EERA M) R BERFE A
of Liming. The directors regard Mr. Ming Zaiyuan as the ultimate 100% 2 #HTEBK - ARBHEL
control shareholder of the Company for his holdings of XTRQ's EEMAARBFENER  ARFE
shares. FAEER AREIERRR -
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 26. BB R 5 ()
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) HEBAINEARS

Year ended 31 December

BE12ANBLEE

2020 2019
2020 F 2019
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETIT
Services received EESHIRS
— Xintai Jinggong —E&ZRBT 576 -
— Zhongjiu Ante — P AL 600 1,600
— Sunshine Ji'ao (Note 30(f)) — BE &R (FIFE30() = 443
1,176 2,043
(c) Key management compensation () TEEBAEHM
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLLEE
2020 2019
2020 F 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETIT
Basic salaries and allowances HEARE € NMoEBL 12,396 11,957
Discretionary bonuses RIEEe 2,762 7,785
Retirement and other benefits BIRE REHAMEF 406 2,549
15,564 22,291
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27. COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted at the end of the year but
not yet incurred is as follows:

27. EEEIE
(a) EAREH

RAFERDATNELRBELN
BARRIT

As at 31 December

M®12H31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMT ARETT
Property, plant and equipment TEE « THARE 62,330 42,089
Operating lease commitments (b) REHEHRHE

The Group leases various offices, land and equipment from
non-related parties under non-cancellable operating leases
agreements which are typically made for fixed periods of 1
to 5 years but may have extension and termination options.
The leases have varying terms, renewal rights and extension
and termination options. On renewal, the terms of the
leases are renegotiated. The lease contracts do not impose
any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases not recognised in the financial statements are
receivable as follows:

AEBERBENAIHIENEEHER
BB IEEREHRAE
WA FRE ELEERIBE R/
ESFMETHR - BRIEET
B IE - HEEB TRAERR -
RBRT A S EA AR |38 T8 - 4B
B SEFHEEEGRSK - HES
FURBREEMAE - BELHEEE
ETSREREENEM -

IR T ARTER N T AR
HETHREHEEMNFEENT

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
No later than 1 year —F AR 264 152
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28. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 28. A TS EESBEREEST
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) ARREEEBR
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2020 2019
2020 % 2019 %
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Long-term investment RHHEE 3,422,914 3,661,616
Property, plant and equipment TEE « THARE 195 195
Right-of-use assets EREEE 8 2,307
Intangible assets mVAE 431 25
3,423,548 3,664,143
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables Hth e WX 51,723 56,390
Dividends receivables (i) FE YR F (1) 800,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents HENBEESEEY 243,742 625,074
1,095,465 681,464
Total assets HEE 4,519,013 4,345,607
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners BERERARIMEENER
of the Company
Share capital N 2,079 2,079
Share premium A= (B 3,663,640 4,025,044
Other reserves HinfHE 317,349 574,210
Retained earnings/(accumulated deficits) B 17Uz (R&HEE) 530,852 (273,7317)
4,513,920 4,327,602
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Non-current lease liabilities FERBEEERE - 469
- 469
Current liabilities REAR
Other payables HubER 4,688 15,635
Current lease liabilities mEHEARE 405 1,901
5,093 17,536
Total liabilities BERE 5,093 18,005
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 4,519,013 4,345,607

ARAEERBERHESTERN 2021
FIA26AHE - WHEAKRRE -

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on 26 March 2021 and was signed on its

behalf.
Director Director
EF EBEFE
Yan Danhua Zhang Jianbing
BE RES
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28. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 28. A A RIS EEBRARBEEET

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AATEEEE
(Accumulated
deficits)/
Share Other retained
premium reserves earnings
(B&tEE),
B (8 Hitt e ERAlE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREET T ARET T AREFT
As at 1 January 2019 R2019F181H 4,269,501 510,891 (274,912)
Profit for the year F 5 R - - 1,181
Currency translation SN E E
differences - 65,758 -
Exercise of options TR R A 5,498 (2,439) -
Dividend distributed R 5 Bid (249,955) - -
As at 31 December 2019 M2019%12H31H 4,025,044 574,210 (273,731)
Profit for the year (j) FEEZFE ) - - 804,583
Currency translation INEYTE ZEE
differences - (256,861) -
Dividend distributed & #) 5 B (361,404) = =
As at 31 December 2020 A 2020%12H31H 3,663,640 317,349 530,852
0] A dividend of RMB800,000,000 was approved by the Board of 0] DEAEEERESFEON20204F
Directors of AAGI on 25 December 2020 (2019: nil). NAXE#HAERZEREARK

800,000,000 7T (2019 4F : £E) ©
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29. SUBSIDIARIES

29. A F

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

LA RBRA20205E12 A 31 B B = Z B

2020: EOGE

Proportion of

ordinary

Place of incorporation and Issued/  Principal activities and shares held

Name type of legal entity paid-up capital  place of operation by the Group (%)

rEERE

£ EMB LG REARRER BRT/BERE TEEBREZHY EEMRLA(%)

AAGI British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), US$50,000/  CBM project development, BVI 100%
Limited liability company US$50,000

GTEAERER RBAREE((RBAREE)) 50000%71,/ KREREARE EBAREE 100%
ERR7 50,000% 7T

AAG Energy (China) Limited BV, Limited liability company US$5,000/US$5,000  CBM project development, BV 100%

ZBEREE BARLA 5000%7/5000%n KEREERE  REERES 100%

SAE Samoa, Limited liability company US$7,000,000/  CBM project development, 100%

US$7,000,000 Samoa

ek VNG BED BRAHF 7000000%7/ KERERRE  BEE 100%
7,000,000% T

Alpha Eagle Limited Cayman lslands, US$1/US$1  CBM project development, 100%

Limited liability company Cayman Islands

EEERAR FEHS  BRRA 1XT/1ET REREERE REES 100%

Xinhe Investment Holding Sichuan, PRC, US$50,000,000/  Investment, Sichuan, PRC 100%
Co., Ltd. Limited liability company US$8,000,100

HaREBREREERR W T8 BRAF 50000000%7/ & @ HE 100%
8,000,100% T

176 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

30. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 30. EEEA K A=

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEIHTENMS
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive BREENEERTENHFNOT

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2020: BHZE2020F 12 A31 AILFE -

Other emoluments

paid or receivable in

respect of director's

other services in

connection with the

Employer's management of the

contribution to affairs of the Company

Discretionary Allowances and aretirement Termination or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme benefits undertaking Total

ESRERANEY,

ANELENER

EREBNEbRE

EHER e
#e ER #e Bhxe vl b | £375 BERA HAfbEH &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBT T ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARRTR

Executive Directors #1ES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i) BERLL() - 2813 700 17 - - - 3,530
Mr. Yan Danhua BRELE 5 1513 375 - 35 o = 1923
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (i REREL() - 1,012 250 - - - - 1,262
Non-executive Directors ~ F#{TES
Dr. Cui Guiyong ERERL - - - - - - - -
Mr. Huang Min(i) BHEL() - - - - - - - -
Ms. Gu Ren (i) BHLL i) - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive  BUHTEE
Directors

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexender  &1EIR 5% 312 - - - - - - 312
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng = 312 - - - - - - 312
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BRARL 312 = = - - - - 312
Total At 936 5338 1,325 17 35 - - 7,651
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30. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 30. EEEAMR A= 5

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEITENHNE (8
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019: HE2019F 12 BIEFE :
Other emoluments paid
o receivable in respect
of director's other
services in connection
Employer's with the management of
contribution to the affairs of the
Discretionary Allowances and a retirement Termination Company orits
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme benefits  subsidiary undertaking Total
ERREEALTY
ERBAANER
ERERNALRH
RN fikfgEL
2 - B Ege EHH HEELET B HALEN ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFTL NRRTT ARETT ARBFT ARBFTL ARBFTL AREFL
Executive Directors YES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan () BEERL() - 2805 2,195 - - - - 5020
Mr. Yan Danhua BRELE - 141 1173 3 Y] - - 2649
Mr. Zhang Jianbing () REREL() - 101 866 - - - - 1877
Non-executive Directors FHiTEE
Dr. Cui Guiyong ERBRT - - - - - - - -
Ms. Gu Ren (i) BEaL (i - - - - - - - -
M. Jin Lei (i) SRR - - - - - - - -
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Saurabh Narayan
Agarwal (i) Agarwal ) - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive  BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Tai Kok Leung Alexander E{15 %245 310 - - - - - - 310
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng BpisEt 310 - - - - - - 310
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BhRAlL 30 - - - - - - 30
Total At 930 547 4234 3 8 - - 10476
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30. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 30. EEEAMR A= 5

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEITENME (&)
(Continued)
Notes: PRRE -
0} Retirement benefit costs of Mr. Ming Zaiyuan and Mr. Zhang Jianbing 0} BR R ST A Mok 8 2 A WY IR IR AR F

are borne by the Company’s ultimate holding company.

Mr. Huang Min was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 27 March 2020 and was appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company on 27 August 2020.

A A B B AR AR A B o

M2020%3F27 B EHELERT
RANBEMITESE - R202068 A
27 8 - BEREERZEARDRER

(iii) Ms. Gu Ren has resigned as a non-executive Director and a member (iii) 20208 A27 H - BE L LEHEAR
of the Audit Committee of the Company on 27 August 2020. RABFAITERRBERZEGKE -

(iv) Mr. Jin Lei has resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of (iv) R2019F 3821 H  &&AEREAR
the Audit Committee of the Company on 21 March 2019. RABFAITERRBERZEGKE -

(v) Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal has resigned as a non-executive (v) 201993 A21H ° Saurabh
Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Narayan Agarwal 5t 4 & £ 8 2 & IF
Company on 21 March 2019. PITEERFMEEGKE -

Directors’ emoluments EEHE

Aggregate emoluments paid to Aggregate emoluments paid to
or receivable by directors in or receivable by directors in
respect of their services as  respect of their other services in
directors, whether of the  connection with the management
Company or its subsidiary  of the affairs of the Company or

undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total Total
ESpHAERES ESHEEARQFRA
(FTHREALTAREMBLR) HEBLARANEKEEFRNEM
B9 BR 75 37 5 25 M LKL B 38 B A B B 5 M 32 1 20 Uk B9 357 B 48 2 Cil =k
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 £ 2020 F 2019 4 2020 £ 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR ARBTTT ARBTT ARBETIT
936 930 6,715 9,546 7,651 10,476

M DAFHeEEReRmMNGEET 2

benefits: insurance premium. o RBE -

Notes: Emoluments above include estimated money value of non-cash
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30. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

180

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group was paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries (2019: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director’s services was
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director, nor is any payable (2019: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2019: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there is no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2019: nil).
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30. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(f)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of 2020 or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2020.

Pursuant to an agreement dated 15 September 2019 (the
"Agreement”) made between the Company and Sunshine
Ji'ao, the Company agreed to pay Sunshine Ji‘ao a fee for
the provision of microseismic monitoring services in
accordance with the terms of the Agreement, amounting to
RMB443,000, for the year ended 31 December 2019. Dr.
Yang Ruizhao, an independent non-executive director of
the Company, has interest in this transaction to the extent
that Sunshine Ji'ao is controlled by him.

Save for contracts amongst group companies and the
aforementioned transaction, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of 2019 or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

31. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

As at the date on which this set of consolidated financial

statements were authorized for issue, the Group paid a deposit
amount to RMB80,000,000 to the administrator appointed by the
court of PRC for the reorganization and acquisition of a company

that is in liquidation (the “Target Company”). The Target

Company has a long-distance pipeline project for coal-bed

methane in the PRC, which will contribute to the business

development of the Group.

30. EERARAE @

(f)

EXAEXRS  ZHAEHTE
IEPAN £

A 2020 5 € R Jo 2 S AR AR By
ARRRPEA R ST EA KBRS
ERBEARRESZHEENER
(BEREERIER)NBEARS
ZHRAH

RIEA A R ERRS F FH IR 2019 F 9
A15RFTmB=(HBE]D - A
AERBREBZEGERASG L ER
MEE2019F 12 AN BILEEAT
REMBHEERRE N ER -
#9 AN R #443,0007T © ANA FIE L
FRTEEGIHEBELRIESIE
FRMAMR ZFPIEEEL -

BEBARHEZzZaRM ERR S
SN R 20194 B R I 2 S A (] By
B ARBRBFIMAERARAE
EHAE A D (BRI ERXE
BINEARS  ZHMAK -

31. IREE
BEAAHMBRR]ILERL A - K&
BT BEDER R AR EIE AR EE MK
B-REAERRBROQFA(EORF]) X
7 —%E{E A R % 80,000,000 7T #) £&
FE BORATANPEEERERES
BEAE ARER AR AKE RS
R -
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P.O. Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 2506, 25/F

Cosco Tower

183 Queen'’s Road Central, Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA

Panzhuang Management Center
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Jiafeng Town, Qinshui County
Jincheng City

Shanxi Province, 048204
People’s Republic of China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd., Offshore Banking Unit

AfMREE

P.O. Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

BERARRTEEXBE
&5

EREFAET 1835

REAE

25182506 =

FEEEE R
GEINF e

(LiPR A B 07k S 3R A
i

AEEEERH L
B4R : 048204

HEHERNBFELAR

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands
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Corporate Information

NRER

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants and
Registered PIE Auditor

22/F, Prince’s Building

Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS
As to Hong Kong law:
Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP
Suite 3203-3207
Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen'’s Road Central
Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

Beijing Broad & Bright Law Firm

Room 1508, Tower C

Office Park

No. 5 Jinghua South Road, Chaoyang District
Beijing, 100020

People’s Republic of China

Shanxi Benhe Law Office

14th Floor, Yicui Commercial Centre
Jincheng City

Shanxi Province, 048000

People’s Republic of China

STOCK CODE
2686

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.aagenergy.com
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